UNESCO Administrative Manual Item 0.1

0.1 Governance for the Administrative Manual

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial Management,
Financial Policy and Compliance Section, Administrative Manual Secretariat (BFM/FPC/AMS),
which is responsible for this Item (Original: English).

1. Overview

11

1.2

1.3

Governance and related control processes at UNESCO are set out in official documents
listed in a hierarchical order as follows:

(a) Constitution of UNESCO;
(b)  General Conference Resolutions;

(c) FEinancial Regulations and Staff Regulations;

(d)  Executive Board Decisions;

(e) Financial Rules and Staff Rules;

0 The Administrative Manual and the Human Resources Manual;

The AM and the HR Manual integrate the Organization’s policies, delegations of
authority, procedures and other administrative instructions. The two Manuals and their
related forms are available on the UNESCO intranet as well as the DG Notes and the
Administrative Circulars and Information Circulars considered as tools for the
implementation of the above texts.

This Item sets out the organizational, legal and administrative framework governing the
AM.

2. Definitions

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

A policy is a set of principles and long-term goals or strategies that form the basis of
making rules and regulations, and to give overall direction to programme planning and
development of an organization. A policy defines the parameters for decision-making and
clarifies compliance issues for staff. In UNESCO, policies are formulated by the General
Conference (including the Headquarters Committee), the Executive Board, and the
Director-General or senior officials to whom the Director-General has delegated that
authority.

A role is the prescribed or expected function associated with a particular position or
status in an organization or unit.

An authority is a power or right delegated or given. It usually means a person or a body
of persons in whom authority is vested, or to whom authority has been delegated.

A procedure is a formal description that describes steps to be performed to obtain a
specified outcome or output. A procedure normally establishes the manner by which the
activity will be carried out and who is responsible for the action. A procedure
communicates accepted practice and sets boundaries.

A guideline is a flexible framework that assists and guides people to achieve tasks using
a recommended course of action, within set policies and procedures.

A form is a standard document with spaces (fields) to write or select for a series of
documents with similar contents.

"Sectors" or "Bureaux” or “Offices" refer to the principal administrative units of the
Secretariat, which are headed by ADGs, Directors or Heads respectively.
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2.8

2.9

The acronyms by which Sectors/Bureaux are designated throughout the AM are given in
the List of Acronyms (AM Appendix 0.1B), together with a list of other acronyms in
common use.

The Primary Authoring Unit is the unit responsible for the creation and timely update of
each Item in this AM.

2.10 The Business Process Owner is used to designate the responsible for the overall (re)

engineering of a specific process and for constantly reviewing the procedures and
processes, ensuring streamlining and responding to end-users requirements while
maintaining management control, within a permanent and integrated process
improvement and maintenance governance structure.

3. Policies

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

The AM, which is promulgated by the Director-General, incorporates a consolidated
statement of applicable policies and delineates the roles, authorities, accountabilities,
operational procedures and processes followed in the implementation of the mandate of
the Organization and the execution of the functions of the Secretariat. It derives
principally from the provisions of the UNESCO Constitution, General Conference
resolutions, Financial and Staff Regulations, Executive Board decisions, the Financial and
Staff Rules, and the DG Notes. It also incorporates agreements and practices
established in the UN Network and other public or private sector standards and practices
adopted by UNESCO.

Within the above framework, all Primary Authoring Units are required to draw up and
submit drafts for additional or amended items/appendices for inclusion in the AM, in
consultation with all the other units concerned to cover gaps or shortcomings in policies,
roles, authorities, accountabilities, operational procedures and processes.

The effective date of an item, or a part of an item, or an appendix, is the date of its
publication in the AM, unless another effective date is specified.

If an item does not refer to a specific unit, it is presumed to apply to all units of the
Secretariat at the Headquarters and in the Field.

The AM is issued in the working languages of the Organization: English and French. The
original language of the Item is indicated upon its publication at the beginning of each
item. In case of any inconsistency between the two versions the text of the item in its
original language shall prevalil.

All the terms used in the AM to designate the person discharging duties or functions are
to be interpreted as implying that men and women are equally eligible to fill any post or
seat associated with the discharge of these duties and functions.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1

4.2

The Corporate Services Committee (CSC) oversees the Administrative Manual (AM)
for completeness and adequacy of its contents and supports the governance of the AM.

A multi-disciplinary working group (WG) representing each Corporate Service and
Programme Sector facilitates the prioritization, organization and elaboration of new and
updated items and agrees on the detailed processes applicable to the AM:

(a) Each WG Member or Alternate is fully empowered by the Head of the Unit he/she

represents to present a position on every issue being reviewed by the WG.

(b) The WG is called by and meets under the chairmanship of the Chief Financial
Officer and a corporate service ADG/Director as his/her alternate. The list of the WG
Members and Alternates is attached in AM Appendix 0.1A.

(c) WG recommendations are approved by a simple majority of votes present at the
meeting.

(d) The agenda and the minutes of the WG meetings are prepared and distributed to
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4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

the WG by BFM/FPC/AMS for approval.

(e) Significant unresolved issues are escalated without delay by the Chairperson of the
WG to the Deputy Director-General for resolution and, if necessary, for the final
decision of the Director-General.

) Draft items which in the Working Group’s opinion have a significant financial impact
or significant staff related issues will be referred to the CSC for final recommendation
prior to its publication.

The Chief Financial Officer ensures that all substantive additions and amendments to
the AM are agreed by the WG and significant unresolved issues are decided at an
appropriate level.

The Administrative Manual Secretariat (BFM/FPC/AMS) provides the secretariat and
central administrative function to coordinate additions, amendments and translations for
all items.

(@) BFM/FPC/AMS is under the functional and administrative supervision of the Chief
Financial Officer or delegated BFM officer and submits progress reports to the WG,
including a summary of past and planned activities, issues, risks, and any unresolved
issue(s) and itemized delayed actions by any of the units involved.

(b) BFM/FPC/AMS may issue information circulars to disseminate general information
or guidelines on the use of, or processes related to the AM.

(c) BFM/FPC/AMS ensures that the process for updating the AM takes place in a
timely manner. It reminds the Primary Authoring Unit of commitments and if
necessary, reports significant delays to the Chairperson of the WG.

The Primary Authoring Unit has primary responsibility to ensure that all AM items
under its purview reflect policies, procedures and processes in place within the
Secretariat.

(@) The Primary Authoring Unit drafts new items or amendments to existing ones
ensuring participation from other units concerned, before submission to
BFM/FPC/AMS for incorporation into the AM.

(b) The designation of the Primary Authoring Unit may be clarified by the Deputy
Director-General, if no agreement between units is reached.

(c) The Primary Authoring Unit drafts simultaneously with the issuance of the policy, or
without delay (for policies originating from the governing bodies) the related items of
the AM which are new or subject to amendment.

(d) The Head of the Primary Authoring Unit is given the delegated authority by the
Director-General to approve AM additions and amendments of an information or
presentation nature and recommend to the WG the substantive additions and
amendments to the AM.

(e) Questions and suggestions for improvement of any AM item should be addressed
directly to the Primary Authoring Unit copying BFM/FPC/AMS. For contact names, a
list of the WG members is attached in AM Appendix 0.1A.

The Office of International Standards and Legal Affairs (LA):

(@) Provides advice and clearance to Primary Authoring Units on new items or
amendments entailing a change in policy, roles, authorities and accountabilities;

(b)  Provides a definitive legal interpretation of any item in the AM when there is a
divergence of views within the Organization;

(c) Upon receipt from BFM/FPC/AMS of new or amended items, determines whether
there are legal issues that need to be addressed.

5. Procedures and Processes

51

Submissions and review of AM additions or amendments

(@) The Primary Authoring Unit drafts additions and amendments to the AM as well as
the related forms in English and French in accordance with guidelines for drafting AM
items available in AM Appendix 0.1C.

(b) The Primary Authoring Unit seeks LA advice and clearance for any AM addition or
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5.2

5.3

amendment entailing a change in policy, roles, authorities and accountabilities and

contribution from other units concerned before submission of the draft to

BFM/FPC/AMS.

(c) In order to ensure consistency across the AM, upon receipt of the draft additions
or amendments BFM/FPC/AMS conducts the following checks (with no material
change to the content):

(1) Conformity with English and French grammar;

(i) Numbering of items and paragraphs;

(i)  Use of the standard template and AM writing conventions;

(iv)  Use of appropriate terminology and acronyms;

(v)  Cross-references to other parts of the AM, the HR Manual, official documents
(such as Basic Texts, General Conference resolutions and Executive Board
decisions);

(vi)  Inclusion of LA comments in the final draft;

(vii) Inclusion of related DG Notes and ACs;

(viii) If items are subject to forthcoming known changes (e.g. Executive Board
decisions or General Conference resolutions), checks with the Primary Authoring
Unit to add the effective date in the overview section;

(d)  Any proposal for a substantive addition and amendment (such as change in policy,
roles, authorities and accountabilities, operational procedures or processes involving
other units) is transmitted by BFM/FPC/AMS to the WG and LA.

(e) WG members have five (5) working days to raise comments or objections directly
to the Primary Authoring Unit, copying BFM/FPC/AMS.

(f)  If any objection is raised by any WG member that cannot be resolved or decided
upon by the Primary Authoring Unit within five working days period, the draft item is
transferred back to the Primary Authoring Unit for consideration of all comments.

(@) Once the draft item is resubmitted to BFM/FPC/AMS by the Primary Authoring Unit,
BFM/FPC/AMS circulates the draft item to the WG members and LA for a second
cycle of three (3) working days.

(h) If further material objections are raised in the three working day period, the
BFM/FPC/AMS submits the draft to the Chairperson of the WG to decide on further
action.

Approval of AM additions and amendments

(@) Substantive AM additions or amendments of a legislative or organizational nature
as reviewed by the WG and LA are incorporated into AM by BFM/FPC/AMS upon
validation by the Chief Financial Officer or delegated BFM officer.

(b) AM additions or amendments approved by or deriving directly from the General
Conference resolutions, Executive Board decisions, Director’s-General or Deputy
Director's-General decisions are incorporated into AM by BFM/FPC/AMS on Primary
Authoring Unit’s request or BFM/FPC/AMS initiative.

(c) AM additions or amendments proposed by a Primary Authoring Unit or
BFM/FPC/AMS of an information or presentation nature (such as adjustments of
terminology, references, names or acronyms of the units, with no material change to
the content) are incorporated into AM by BFM/FPC/AMS upon approval by the Head
of the Primary Authoring Unit.

(d) Corrections of typos or errors and updates to the reference documents in AM
items with no material change to the content are done by BFM/FPC/AMS informing
the Primary Authoring Unit.

Publication of AM additions and amendments

(@) Upon approval of additions or amendments, BFM/FPC/AMS updates the AM and
notifies staff through a circular.

(b)  Administrative circulars (AC/AM) are issued by BFM/FPC/AMS to announce and
disseminate additions and amendments to the AM.

(c) Information circulars (IC/AM) are issued by BFM/FPC/AMS or the Primary
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(d)

(e)

(f)

(9
(h)

Authoring Unit and approved by its Head to disseminate general information or
explanation on policies and procedures in force, and announcements of an
exceptional or temporary nature.

The issuance of Administrative and Information Circulars related to Human
Resources matters (AC/HR and IC/HR) are governed by the provisions of the HR
Manual Item 1.3

AM items and circulars are issued in English and French. If for reasons of urgency,
the second language version for inclusion in the AM is delayed, BFM/FPC/AMS
submits the text for translation to the Division of Conferences, Languages and
Documents (MSS/CLD).

Upon approval, BFM/FPC/AMS numbers the circulars and publishes them on the
intranet. The effective date of a circular is the date of its publication on the intranet,
unless another effective date is specified.

BFM/FPC/AMS maintains records of submissions, clearances from WG and LA
and publications to trace and audit all AM items with the steps undertaken.

Related forms are submitted and published by BFM/FPC/AMS in accordance with
the procedure detailed in AM Appendix 0.1E.

6. Guidelines

6.1 AM Appendix 0.1C: “Guidelines for Drafting AM ltems”

6.2 AM Appendix 0.1E: “Forms*

7. Forms

Not applicable.

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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0.1A Members and Alternate Members of the Working Group

No Participating Unit WG Member / Alternate
1 AFR Eric Volibi, Programme
Africa Department Specialist / _
Abdoulaye Ibrahim,
Programme Specialist
2 BFM Salma Doghri, Finance Officer /
Bureau of Financial Eero Porko, Procurement
Management Advisor
8 BSP, Programming Ranwa Safadi,
Bureau of Strategic Planning Senior Programme Planning
Officer
4 BSP, Budgeting Iwao Motoyama, Chief of
Bureau of Strategic Planning Section /
Samantha Gardiner, Budget
Officer
5 FSC, Field Magdalena Landry, Senior Field
Field Support and Coordination | Coordination Officer
6 BSP/MLP Silviu Dragan, Programme
Section for Mobilizing | Specialist
Resources from Multilateral
and Private Partners
7 Cl Franck Odinot, Finance &
Communication and |Administrative Officer a.i.
Information Sector
8 CLT Abdelghani Baakrim,
Culture Sector Administrative Officer
9 ED Kirimoke Drollet, Finance and
Education Sector Administrative Officer
10 | ERI Yousser Mrad, Liaison Officer /
Sector for External Relations |Andrezza Zeitune, Project
and Public Information Assistant
11 | ERI/DPI Vincent Defourny, Director /
Division of Public Information lan Denison, Chief of Unit
12 |ETH Rebecca Trott, Ethics adviser
Ethics Offices
13 | GBS Karima Bekri-Lisner, birector
Secretariat of the Governing
Bodies Susana Sam-Vargas,
Executive Board Assistant
Secretary /
Eunice Ong, Executive Assistant
14 |HRM Annick Grisar, Chief of Section /
Bureau of Human Resources | Annakrotova, HR Officer
Management
15 |10S Sameer Pise, Principal Auditor /
Internal Oversight Service Geoffrey Geurts, Principal
Evaluation Specialist
16 | KMI Juan Frias Velatti, Functional
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Division of Knowledge |portal Specialist/
Management and Information |Adam Cowling, Records
Systems Management Specialist
Aldo Gomera Cruz, Assistant IT
Security Officer
17 | MSS Fernando Menendez, Chief
Bureau for the Management of | of Section /
Support Services Terry McGinnis, Secretary,
Headquarters Committee/
Milena Pounkin, Chief of Unit
18 | ODG/DDG Sachin Bhatt, Best Practices
Executive Office of the |Officer
Director-General
19 | ODG/GE Saniye Giilser Corat, Director /
Division for Gender Equality Cvetan Cvetkovski, Senior
Planning and Programme Officer
20 |SC Jong Chol Li, Chief of Section /
Natural Sciences Sector Rosanna Karam, Senior extra
budgetary Administrative
Assistant
21 | SHS Shashank Shekhar,
Social and Human Sciences | Administrative Officer/
Sector Wirot Wirotrangsan, Assistant
Administrative Officer /
Mathilde Malzy, Senior
Administrative Assistant
22 | AO Platform Susanne Buttkus, Chief,
Bureau of Financial |BFM/AO Platform
Management Grégory Perotin, Finance and
Administrative Officer

| 1 I To be consulted on concerned matters
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0.1B List of Acronyms
Overview

The acronyms used throughout the Administrative Manual are designed to save space and to
simplify the reading of Administrative Manual items. However, since a multiplicity of acronyms
is likely to lead to confusion, acronyms or shortened forms designating organizational units,
programmes, etc., are normally used in an item or appendix without the title concerned first
being cited in full.

There are five broad categories of acronyms used for the Administrative Manual:
UNESCO Secretariat;

UNESCO Institutes;

UNESCOQO's Commissions, Committees and Various Bodies;

Administrative and Financial Terms;

United Nations and Related Bodies, Specialized Agencies of the United Nations
System, IGOs, NGOs, Networks, Systems, Foundations and similar institutions.

ok wbdE

Most of the acronyms used in the Administrative Manual are listed here. However, the list of
acronyms below is not exhaustive. Further information concerning terminology used at
UNESCO can be accessed at the following sources:

1. Terminology (UNESCOTERM)
2. UNESCO Thesaurus
3.  Finance and Budgeting System (FABS)

1. UNESCO Secretariat

Senior Management Team

DG Director-General

DDG Deputy Director-General

ADG/AFR Assistant Director-General for the Africa
Department

ADG/BSP Assistant Director-General for Strategic Planning

ADG/CLT Assistant Director-General for Culture

ADG/ED Assistant Director General for Education

ADG/ERI Assistant Director-General for External Relations

and Public Information

ADG/IOC Assistant Director-General for Intergovernmental
Oceanographic Commission

ADG/SC Assistant Director-General for Natural Sciences

ADG/SHS Assistant Director-General for Social and Human
Sciences

CFO Chief Financial Officer
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CIO

DIR/GE

DIR/GBS

DIR/HRM

DIR/I0S
DIR/LA

DIR/MSS

DIR/ODG

Programme Sectors

ED
ED/PLS

ED/PLS/EDP
ED/PLS/YLS
ED/PLS/HED
ED/PLS/ICT

ED/TLC

ED/TLC/LTR
ED/TLC/ESD
ED/TLC/GCE

ED/EFA
ED/GMR

SC

SC/EES
SC/EES/ESP

SC/EES/NBC

SC/EES/EGR

SC/HYD
SC/HYD/HSS

SC/HYD/GSS
SC/HYS/EQE

SC/PCB
SC/PCBI/SPP

SC/PCB/ICB

SC/PCB/SII

I0C

IOC/O0S

Chief Information Officer
Director, Division for Gender Equality
Director, Secretariat of the Governing Bodies

Director, Bureau of Human Resources
Management

Director, Internal Oversight Service
Legal Adviser and Director, Office of
International Standards and Legal Affairs

Director, Bureau of Management of Support
Services

Director, Executive Office of the Director-
General

Education Sector

Division for Policies and Lifelong Learning
Systems

Education Policy Section

Youth, Literacy and Skills Development Section
Higher Education Section

ICT in Education Unit

Division of Education for Peace and Sustainable
Development

Learning and Teachers Section

Education for Sustainable Development Section
Health and Global Citizenship Education Section
EFA and Global Agenda Coordination Team
EFA Global Monitoring Report Team

Natural Sciences Sector

Division of Ecological and Earth Sciences

MAB Research and Policy: Ecology and
Biodiversity Section

MAB Networking: Biosphere Reserves and
Capacity Building Section

Earth Sciences and Geo-hazards Risk
Reduction Section

Division of Water Sciences

Hydrological Systems and Water Scarcity
Section

Groundwater Systems and Settlements Section
Ecohydrology, Water Quality and Water
Education Section

Division of Science Policy and Capacity-Building
Science Policy and Partnerships Section
Innovation and Capacity Building in Science and
Engineering Section

Small Islands and Indigenous Knowledge
Section

[Secretariat of the] UNESCO Intergovernmental
Oceanographic Commission

Ocean Observations and Services Section
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IOC/OSS
IOC/MPR
I0C/TSU

IOC/OST

SHS
SHS/TSD

SHS/TSD/RPF
SHS/TSD/PPC
SHS/YES
SHS/YES/BIO
SHS/YES/YSS
CLT

CLT/CRE
CLT/CRE/ITH
CLT/CRE/DCE
CLT/HER
CLT/HER/CHP
CLT/HER/WHC
CLT/HER/HMD
Cl

CI/FEM

CI/FEM/FOE
CI/FEM/FAS
CI/FEM/IPDC

CI/KSD
CI/KSD/CT

CI/KSD/UAP

Corporate Services

AFR

BFM

BFM/AO
BFM/BMR
BFM/FAS
BFM/FAS/AP
BFM/FAS/AR
BFM/FAS/FRA
BFM/FAS/MD
BFM/FAS/PAY
BFM/FOS
BFM/FPC
BFM/TRS
USLS

BSP
BSP/PP
BSP/CFS

CRP

Ocean Sciences Section

Marine Policy and Regional Coordination Section
IOC Tsunami Unit

IOC/UNESCO Project office in Ostend

Social and Human Sciences Sector

Division of Social Transformation and
Intercultural Dialogue

Research, Policy and Foresight Section

Public Policies and Capacity Building Section
Division of Ethics, Youth and Sport

Bioethics and Ethics of Science Section

Youth and Sport Section

Culture Sector

Division for Creativity

Intangible Cultural Heritage Section

Diversity of Cultural Expressions Section
Division for Heritage

Cultural Heritage Protection Treaties Section
World Heritage Centre

History and memory for Dialogue Section
Communication and Information Sector

Division for Freedom of Expression and Media
Development

Freedom of Expression Section

Media and Society Section

Secretariat of the International Programme for
the Development of Communication

Knowledge Societies Division

ICT in Education, Science and Culture Section
Universal Access and Preservation

Africa Department

Bureau of Financial Management

AO Platform

Budget Monitoring and Reporting Section
Finance and Accounting Section
Accounts Payable Unit

Accounts Receivable Unit

Financial Reporting and Accounts Unit
Master Data Management Unit

Payroll Unit

Field Operations Support Section
Financial Policy and Compliance Section
Treasury Section

UNESCO Staff Savings and Loan Service

Bureau of Strategic Planning

Division for Programme and Budget
Division of Cooperation with Extrabudgetary
Funding Sources

Secretariat of the Félix Houphouét-Boigny Peace
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ERI

ERI/DPI

ERI/DPI/AUV
ERI/DPI/MER
ERI/DPI/PBM

ERI/DPI/PRP
ERI/DPI/WEB
ERI/MSP
ERI/MSP/APA
ERI/MSP/ARB
ERI/MSP/ENA
ERI/MSP/LAC
ERI/MSP/INO

ERI/MSP/PPF

ETH

GBS

GBS/SCG
GBS/SCX

HRM
HRM/SPL

HRM/SAC

HRM/MDS
HRM/LEG
HRM/OPM

I0S
KMI

KMI/ALR
KMI/DEV
KMI/FAM
KMI/KSA
KMI/OP

LA

MSS
MSS/CLD

MSS/OPS
MSS/SEC
MSS/B
ODG

ODG/GE
ODG/RED
ODG/UC

Prize

Sector for External Relations and Public
Information

Division of Public Information

Audiovisual Section

Media RelationsSection

Publications, Branding and Merchandising
Section

Public Relations and Partnerships Section
Web Section

Division of Member States and Partners
Asia and the Pacific Section

Arab States Section

Europe and North America Section

Latin America and the Caribbean Section
Inter-governmental and Non-governmental
Section Organizations

Participation Programme and Fellowships
Section

Ethics Office

Secretariat of the Governing Bodies

Secretariat of the General Conference
Secretariat of the Executive Board

Bureau of Human Resources Management

Staffing, Policy, Planning, Learning and
Development Section

Staff Appointments, Entitlements and
Compensation Section

Medical Service

Administrative Law Unit

Organizational Design, Senior Post Management,
Support Unit

Internal Oversight Service

Division of Knowledge Management and
Information Systems

Archives, Library & Records Management Unit
Application Development Unit

Functional Application Management Unit
Knowledge-Sharing & Open Access Unit
Infrastructure & Operations Section

Office of International Standards and Legal
Affairs

Bureau for the Management of Support Services

Division of Conference, Languages and
Documents

Operations Section

Safety and Security Management Section
Buildings Management Section

Executive Office of Director-General

Division for Gender Equality
Speechwriting and Communication Section
Correspondence Section
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2. UNESCO Institutes

CEPES

UNESCO European Centre for Higher
Education

IBE UNESCO International Bureau of Education
ICTP (Abdus Salam) International Centre for
Theoretical Physics
IESALC UNESCO International Institute for Higher
Education in Latin America and the Caribbean
[ICBA UNESCO International Institute for Capacity-
Building in Africa
lIEP UNESCO International Institute for Educational
Planning
ITE UNESCO Institute for Information Technologies
in Education
MGIEP Mahatma Gandhi Institute of Education for
Peace and Sustainable Development
UIL UNESCO Institute for Lifelong Learning
uls UNESCO Institute for Statistics
UNESCO-IHE UNESCO-IHE Institute for Water Education
UNEVOC UNESCO International Centre for Technical and
Vocational Education and Training
3. UNESCO's Commissions, Committees and Various Bodies
SMT Senior Management Team
EMC Executive management Committee
PMC Programme Management Committee
CsC Corporate Services Committee
ACB Administrative Co-ordination Board
ACPP Advisory Council on Personnel Policies
CcC Contracts Committee
CCl Committee on Intersectoral Cooperation
CCP Consultative Committee on Publications
CCPI Committee on Communication and Public
Information
CID Intersectoral Committee on Decentralization
ICDP Intersectoral Committee on Data Processing
PAB Personnel Advisory Board
UNITWIN/UNESCO  Chairs Programme
4, Administrative and Financial Terms
AC Administrative Circular
AFC Activity-Financing Contracts
AO Administrative Officer of
Sector/Bureau/Office or established office
away from Headquarters
BOQ Bill of Quantity
CMS Correspondence Management System
DSA Daily Subsistence Allowance
DSSP Direct Single Source Procurement
FABS Finance and Budget System
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FABS/MM Material Management Module
FR Funds Reservation
GEF General Fund
H-MOSS Headquarters Minimum Operating Security
Standards
IC Information Circular
IGO Inter-Governmental Organization
INCOTERMS International Commerce Terms
INGO International non-governmental organization
IPSAS International Public Sector Accounting
Standards
ISBN International standard book number
ISECT Integrated Security Clearance & Tracking
system
ISSN International standard serial number
ITB Invitation to Bid
LIC Limited International Competition
LNC Local and/or National Competition
LTA Long-term agreement
MBF Medical Benefits Fund
MOU Memorandum of Understanding
NFPO Not-for-profit organization
NGO Non-Governmental Organization
oIc Open International Competition
OPF Other Proprietary Funds
PFF Programme Fiduciary Funds
PO Purchase Order
PR Purchase Requisition
PEP Programme Execution Plan
REOI Request for Expression of Interest
RFP Request for Proposal
RFQ Request for Quotation
SAP System Applications and Products
SES Service Entry Sheet
SFF Staff Fiduciary Funds
SISTER System of Information on Strategies, Tasks
and the Evaluation of Results
SOW Statement of works
STEPS System To Enhance Personnel Services
ToAA Tables of Delegated Authority
TOR Terms of Reference
ULOs Unliguidated obligations
WBS Work Breakdown Structure
5. United Nations and Related Bodies, Specialized Agencies of the United Nations

System, IGOs, NGOs, Networks, Systems, Foundations and similar institutions

AllIC

AIPU

CEB

CPA
CTBTO

International Association of Conference

Interpreters
Arab Inter-Parliamentary Union

United Nations System Chief Executives Board

for Coordination

Commonwealth Parliamentary Association
Comprehensive Nuclear-Test-Ban-Treaty

Organization
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FAO

FAPED
FARPED

HLCM
HLCP

IAEA
IAEC
IAMSD

IANWGE

APF
IAPSO
IAWG
IBRD

ICAO
ICJ
ICSC
ICSID

IDA
IFAD
IFC
ILO
IMF
IMO
IPU
ISCC
ITU

MDB
MIGA

OHCHR

oICC
OPCW

OSCE

OWHC

PAP
Parlatino

SAG
SMG

UCCLA
UCLG
UNCTAD

UNDP
UNDSS
UNEP

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United
Nations

Forum of African Parliamentarians for Education
Forum of Arab Parliamentarians for Education

High Level Committee on Management
High Level Committee on Programmes

International Atomic Energy Agency

International Association of Educating Cities
Inter-rAgency Meeting on Sustainable
Development (former IACSD)

Inter-Agency Network on Women and Gender
Equality

Parliamentary Assembly of La Francophonie
Inter-Agency Procurement Services Office
Inter-Agency Working Group

International Bank for Reconstruction and
Development

International Civil Aviation Organization
International Court of Justice

International Civil Service Commission
International Centre for Settlement of Investment
Disputes

International Development Association
International Fund for Agricultural Development
International Finance Corporation

International Labour Organization

International Monetary Fund

International Maritime Organization
Inter-Parliamentary Union

Information Systems Coordination Committee
International Telecommunication Union

Multilateral Development Bank
Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner
for Human Rights

Organization of Islamic Capitals and Cities
Organization for the Prohibition of Chemical
Weapons

Organization for Security and Cooperation in
Europe

Organization of World Heritage Cities

Pan-African Parliament
Latin American Parliament

Security Advisory Group
Security Management Group

Union of Luso-Afro-America-Asiatic Capital Cities
United Cities and Local Governments

United Nations Conference on Trade and
Development

United Nations Development Programme

UN Department of Safety and Security

United Nations Environment Programme
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UNFPA
UNGM
UNHCR

UNHSP
UNICEF
UNIDO

UNIFEM
UNOPS
UNRWA

UNSSC
UNU
UNV
UPU

WB

WFP

WHO

WIPO
WTO(tourism)
WTO (trade)
WMO
WFUCA

United Nations Population Fund

UN Global Market Place

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner
for Refugees

United Nations Human Settlement Programme
United Nations Children’s Fund

United Nations Industrial Development
Organization

United Nations Development Fund for Women
United Nations Office for Project Services
United Nations Relief and Works Agency for
Palestine Refugees in the Near East

United Nations System Staff College

United Nations University

United Nations Volunteers

Universal Postal Union

World Bank

World Food Programme

World Health Organization

World Intellectual Property Organization

World Tourism Organization

World Trade Organization

World Meteorological Organization

World Federation of UNESCO Clubs, Centres
and Associations
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0.1C Guidelines for Drafting AM Items

1. Standard Template

(@) The format used by the Primary Authoring Unit in the elaboration of new items must be
consistent with the Standard Template, by including sections in the following order: the
primary author identification, overview, definitions, policies, roles, authorities and
accountabilities, procedures and processes, guidelines, forms and other help facilities. In
case, no text is included under any sections, “Not applicable” should be indicated.

(b) Instructions for use of the Standard template are set out in Paragraph 5 below.

(c) For drafting an item, please use the template form, which is available in
AM Appendix 0.1D.

2. Numbering
To ensure consistency of references and cross-references in both languages of the AM, the
items of the AM are numbered as follows:

(&) The items are numbered consecutively within each chapter (ex. 1.1, 1.2 etc.);

(b) The sections are numbered in accordance with the Standard Template (see Paragraph 5
below);

(c) The paragraphs are numbered consecutively within each section (ex. 1.1, 1.2 etc.);
(d) Subparagraphs are numbered as follows:

0] First degree: (@), (b), (c) etc.
(i)  Second degree: ), (i), (iii) etc.
(i)  Third degree: a., b., c. etc.
(iv) Fourth degree: I, ii., iii. etc.

(v)  Fifth degree: a), b), c) etc.
(vi) Sixth degree: i), ii), 1ii) etc.

(e) Itis not recommended to create deeper levels. Rather, the structure of the paragraphs
should be simplified.

3. Appendices of the AM
(@) Appendices are attached to the chapters or items of the AM.

(b) If the appendix is linked to several items of one chapter, it is attached to the chapter. In
this case, the number of the appendix consists of chapter's number and letter in
alphabetic order. Example: 16A.

(c) If the appendix is directly linked to one item, it is attached to this item, and its number
consists of item’s number and letter in alphabetic order. Example: 16.1A.

4. References
To ensure consistency and facilitate cross-referencing, the following wording is used for
different references in the AM:

(@) AM Chapter 16

(b) AM Item 16.1

(c) AM ltem 16.1, paragraph 12 (f) (i)

(d) AM Item 16.1, paragraphs 1.1to 1.5

(e) AM Item 16.1, paragraphs 12 (f) and 12 (g)

()  AM Appendix 2.5A

() AM Appendices 2.5A and 2.5B

(h) Paragraph 5.2 (a) (v) a. i. (No reference to AM ltem is given, if the reference is within the
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same item)
(i) 32 C/Resolution 15 or 32 C/Res. 15
() 180 EX/Decision 6.1 or 180 EX/Dec.6.1 or Decision 180 EX/6.1

(k) Staff Regulations and Staff Rules (HRM-2008/WS/1) (Reference number of UNESCO
document should be indicated in brackets, when possible).

5. Standard Template for the AM Item

Number and title of the Iltem

The items are numbered sequentially within each chapter. The title reflects the content of the
item.

Primary Author

This section includes the full name and acronym of the unit(s) who is (are jointly) responsible
for drafting this Item of the AM. It will establish the ownership of this particular Item, and help
the reader to raise questions and comments to a central custodian or the Primary Authoring
Unit.

1. Overview

This section is available to present in a free format the general context, scope and/or purpose
of the subject matter. It is in a descriptive from a general user view point, assuming no subject
matter expertise on the part of the reader.

2. Definitions
This section includes the definition of elements that will facilitate the reader’s understanding of
the subject matter.

3. Policies

This section states and/or refers to any document or items of the AM that is the result of a
stated and approved policy, according to the UNESCO legislative and governing bodies
(General Conference, Executive Board and the Headquarters Committee) and the Director
General.

4, Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities
This section states and/or specifies the roles, authorities and accountabilities of the units
involved in the implementation of policies above.

5. Procedures and Processes
This section states and/or specifies the operational procedures or processes.

6. Guidelines
This section refers to existing Guidelines or Handbooks. Guideline documents are cross-
referenced here.

7. Forms
This section includes or refers to any related UNESCO forms. Forms are cross-referenced
here.

8. Additional Help
This section refers to any other related useful material.
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0.1D AM Item Standard Template

Download 0.1D AM Item Standard Template i

Number Title

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the insert full name of the Primary
Authoring Unit (and its acronym), which is responsible for this Item (Original: indicate the
original language of this Item — English or French).

1. Overview

1.1 Please insert text here or indicate “Not applicable”.

1.2 ...
(@
(b)
()
@iy o
2. Definitions

2.1 Please insert text here or indicate “Not applicable”.
3. Policies

3.1 Please insert text here or indicate “Not applicable”.
4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1 Please insert text here or indicate “Not applicable”.
5. Procedures and Processes

5.1 Please insert text here or indicate “Not applicable”.
6. Guidelines

6.1 Please insert text here or indicate “Not applicable”.
7. Forms

7.1 Please insert text here or indicate “Not applicable”.
8. Additional Help

8.1 Please insert text here or indicate “Not applicable”.
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0.1E Forms

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Administrative Manual
Secretariat (AMS), which is responsible for this Item (Original: English).

1. Overview

1.1 This Item explains the preparation, use and maintenance of forms by the Secretariat and
specifies related responsibilities.

1.2. This Item applies to administrative forms, model letters, contract templates and other
standard documents used for administrative processes at UNESCO.

1.3 This Item is not applicable to:
(a) forms restricted to one unit;
(b) forms generated automatically by IT systems for specific administrative purposes.

2. Definitions

2.1 A Form is a standard document with spaces (fields) to write or select for a series of
documents with similar contents.

3. Policies

3.1 Forms are used to facilitate administrative processes at UNESCO.

3.2 Forms in common use by the Secretariat are stored or linked to the “Forms” depository
on the intranet. External forms (for instance, issued by the French government, the UN
bodies) may also be included in the Forms depository if they are repeatedly used for
professional purposes.

3.3 The number of the form (example: Form AM 7-1, Form HR 8-5) references to:

(a) reference document — AM for the Administrative Manual or HR for the Human
Resource Manual,

(b) related chapter (category) number in the reference document (first number),
(c) unique, sequential number of the form within the category (last number).
3.4 External forms are referenced with their original numbers.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1 The Primary Authoring Unit is responsible for:
(a) drafting, updating and abolishing the forms;
(b) validity of external forms under its responsibility.

4.2 AMS is responsible for reviewing, numbering and publishing the forms in the Forms
depository.

4.3 The Bureau of Human Resource Management (HRM) is responsible for drafting,
updating and abolishing the forms related to personnel matters.

4.4 The Policy and Compensation Section (HRM/POL) is responsible for reviewing,
numbering and publishing the forms related to personnel matters.

4.5 The Office of International Standards and Legal Affairs (LA) provides prior advice
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and clearance to Primary Authoring Units on new or revised forms.

5. Procedures and Processes

5.1

5.2

5.3

54

5.5

The Primary Authoring Unit prepares the draft form in both working languages in
accordance with guidelines set out in paragraph 5.2 below.

The forms should be prepared using standard software (e.g. MS Word, MS Excel,
HTML). The forms may be locked to ensure that only relevant spaces (fields) are filled-in
by the users.

The Primary Authoring Unit seeks contribution from other units and LA clearance before
submission of the form to AMS for publishing.

Upon submission of the Primary Authoring Unit, AMS publishes the form and notifies
staff.

In order to ensure consistency across the forms, AMS may request changes to the draft
forms.

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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1.1 Constitution and other Basic Texts

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Office of International Standards and
Legal Affairs (LA), which is responsible for this Item.(Original: English)

1. Overview

11

The Basic Texts addressed in this Item include the Constitution of UNESCO, the General
Conference Resolution on the Rights and obligations of Associate Members, the
Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the Specialized Agencies and the
Agreement between the Government of the French Republic and the Organization
regarding the Headquarters of UNESCO and the Privileges and Immunities of the
Organization in France. For other basic instruments, see Basic Texts.

2. Definitions

2.1

2.2

2.3

“UNESCOQO?” is the official acronym for the United Nations Educational, Scientific and
Cultural Organization which, in the Administrative Manual, will also be referred to as “the
Organization”.

“Associate Members” refers to a category of membership in UNESCO composed of
territories or groups of territories that are not states and whose are conducted by
Member States international relations.

“Specialized Agencies” refers to entities that were established by intergovernmental
agreements and that have a wide range of international responsibilities in economic,
social, cultural, educational, health and related fields, as defined in their basic
instruments and which have been brought into relationship with the United Nations under
Article 57 of the Charter of the United Nations.

3. Policies

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

UNESCOQ’s Constitution was adopted on 16 November 1945. The Organization was
created “for the purpose of advancing, through the educational and scientific and cultural
relations of the peoples of the world, the objectives of international peace and of the
common welfare of mankind for which the United Nations Organization was
established...” (Preamble to the Constitution). The Constitution contains the fundamental
principles governing the entire Organization. It has been amended by the General
Conference at various times since 1945.

The Constitution sets out the purposes and functions of the Organization and the
conditions of membership; it establishes the three main organs of UNESCO, namely the
General Conference, the Executive Board and the Secretariat; it also contains provisions
governing National Cooperating Bodies, reports by Member States, the budget, relations
with the United Nations Organization and other specialized agencies, and the legal status
of the Organization.

Pursuant to Article 11.3 of the Constitution, the General Conference adopted at its 6th
session a resolution setting out the Rights and obligations of Associate Members.

The list of Member States and Associates Members of UNESCO can be found in Basic
Texts, Tab Q.

The Convention on the Privileges and Immunities of the Specialized Agencies was
adopted by the United Nations General Assembly on 21 November 1947. It was
accepted, together with Annex IV embodying provisions specific to UNESCO, by the
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3.6

3.7

UNESCO General Conference at its 3rd session in 1948, effective 7 February 1949. The
list of states which have undertaken to apply the provisions of the Convention in respect
of UNESCO can be found in Basic Texts, Tab O.

The Agreement between the Government of the French Republic and the United Nations
Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization regarding the Headquarters of UNESCO
and the Privileges and Immunities of the Organization on French Territory (the
“Headquarters Agreement”) was signed on 2 July 1954 and entered into force on 23
November 1955. It relates to the permanent Headquarters of UNESCO in Paris and to
the Organization’s privileges and immunities in France.

See also AM Item 12.1, which deals in more detail with the Headquarters Agreement,
and AM Item 12.2 regarding responsibility for the management of premises.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1

4.2

4.3

The Director-General, as chief administrative officer of the Organization, is ultimately
responsible and accountable to the General Conference and the Executive Board for the
implementation of the provisions of the Basic Texts mentioned above which are within the
purview of the Secretariat.

Within the Secretariat, the Director-General may delegate to officials, who will act on
his/her behalf, authority to perform some of his/her functions. These officials will in turn
be responsible and accountable to the Director-General for the manner in which they
have performed their delegated authority, either directly or through further delegation.

LA is responsible for advising on questions concerning the application and interpretation
of the Basic Texts mentioned above.

5. Procedures and Processes

Not applicable

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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1.2 Structure of the Secretariat

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Executive Office of the Director-
General (ODG), which is responsible for this Item (Original: English).

1. Overview

The structure of the Secretariat is determined by the Director-General. It is presented in the
form of an organizational chart in the biennial Approved Programme and Budget (C/5).

2. Definitions

The structure of the Secretariat, as determined by the Director-General, lays out the
architecture of the different sectors, services, field units and other entities that constitute the
Secretariat and that implement the Approved Programme and Budget (C/5) over the course of
the biennium.

3. Policies

At least once every biennium, the Director-General consults the Executive Board regarding the
structure of the Secretariat, in particular with regards to any important changes he/she is
thinking of making to it.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

The structure of the Secretariat is determined by the Director-General in line with requirements
for the implementation of the Approved Programme and Budget for the biennium.

5. Procedures and Processes
Not applicable

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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1.3 General Conference

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Secretariat of the Governing Bodies
(GBS), which is responsible for this Item (Original: French).

1. Overview

1.1 This Item concerns the General Conference, one of the two governing bodies of
UNESCO.

2. Definitions

2.1 Basic information. The General Conference is one of the three principal organs of
UNESCO (Article IV of the Constitution). Its operation is governed by the Rules of
Procedure of the General Conference, which are laid down by the General Conference
itself and reproduced in the Basic Texts. A revised edition is published after each session
of the General Conference if necessary.

2.2 Composition. The General Conference is composed of representatives of States
Members of the Organization.

2.3 Functions. The principal function of the General Conference is to determine the policies
and main lines of work of the Organization. It takes decisions on the programme and
budget. Its other functions include the adoption for submission to Member States of draft
international conventions and recommendations, the election of Members of the
Executive Board and the appointment of the Director-General on the recommendation of
the Executive Board.

2.4 Ordinary sessions. The General Conference meets in ordinary session every two
years, normally at Headquarters unless an invitation is accepted from a Member State to
hold a session on its territory.

2.5 Extraordinary sessions. The General Conference may also meet in extraordinary
session, if it so decides, or when convened by the Executive Board or at the request of
at least one third of the Member States. Extraordinary sessions are held at the
Headquarters of the Organization, unless the Executive Board deems it necessary to
convene the General Conference at another venue.

2.6 Subsidiary organs. The subsidiary organs established by the General Conference to
carry out its work are the following:

(a) the General Committee of the Conference;

(b) committees established at each session, as expressly provided by the Rules of
Procedure:

(i) Credentials Committee;
(i) Nominations Committee;
(iii) Legal Committee;

(iv) Headquarters Committee;

(c) Other organs. The General Conference may also establish a number of other
organs depending on the working methods that it decides to adopt, on the
proposal of the Executive Board (C/2 document); the General Conference itself
decides on their composition and functions. In practice, these organs are the
programme commissions, corresponding to the structure of the draft programme

and budget submitted to the General Conference for consideration, and the
Administrative Commission.
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3. Policies

3.1 The General Conference adopts its own Rules of Procedure.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1 The organization of sessions of the General Conference is the responsibility of the
Secretariat of the General Conference (SCG), in cooperation with the Division of
Conferences, Languages and Documents (MSS/CLD) and the Special Events Section of
the Division of Public Information (ERI/DPI/SPE) (see AM Item 11.1); for documents,
see AM ltem 11.3 and AM Appendix 8.2B.

5. Procedures and Processes
Not applicable

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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1.4 Executive Board

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Secretariat of the Governing Bodies
(GBS), which is responsible for this Item. (Original: French)

1. Overview

11

This Item concerns the Executive Board, one of the three governing bodies of UNESCO.

2. Definitions

2.1

2.2

2.3

The Executive Board (EXB) (Article V of the Constitution) consists of 58 Member
States (hereinafter referred to as “Members” of the Executive Board) elected by the
General Conference. The President of the General Conference sits ex officio in an
advisory capacity on the Executive Board. Each Member appoints a representative for
the duration of its term on the Board. It may also appoint alternates. The Executive
Board exercises the powers delegated to it by the General Conference on behalf of the
Conference as a whole. The Executive Board meets in ordinary session at least twice
per year; it may meet in extraordinary session if convened by its Chairperson on his or
her initiative or at the written request of six Members of the Board.

The principal functions of the Executive Board are to ensure execution of the
programme adopted by the General Conference and to examine the draft programme
and budget of the Organization for submission, with its own recommendations, to the
General Conference. It is also responsible for preparing the agenda for sessions of the
General Conference, making recommendations on the organization of its work and the
invitations to its sessions, convening extraordinary sessions, submitting to the
Conference the Director-General’'s report on the activities of the Organization,
recommending the admission of new Members, proposing a candidate for the office of
Director-General, approving official arrangements with intergovernmental organizations,
admitting non-governmental or semi-governmental organizations to consultative
arrangements and convening categories of international meetings and deciding on the
participants to be invited thereto.

The organs of the Executive Board consist of the commissions and committees the
Board deems necessary to fulfil its task. Once half of its members have been renewed
by the General Conference, the Executive Board sets up its permanent commissions and
committees, currently five in number: the Finance and Administrative Commission (FA),
the Programme and External Relations Commission (PX), the Special Committee (SP),
the Committee on Conventions and Recommendations (CR) and the Committee on Non-
Governmental Partners (NGP). The Board may, in addition, establish any temporary
committees it considers necessary. It shall specifically define the terms of reference of
each committee at the time it is constituted. The Chairperson of the Executive Board is
an ex officio member of all the organs of the Board.

3. Policies

3.1

3.2

The Rules of Procedure of the Executive Board have been adopted by the Board
itself, and are available on the Board’s website.

Regulations for payment of travel expenses and subsistence allowances to the
representatives appointed by the Members of the Executive Board are contained in the
Annex to the Rules of Procedure of the Executive Board.
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3.3 Restrictive Provisions

(a) During their term of office, representatives and alternates and alternates
appointed by Members of the Board shall not be paid any allowances or
reimbursed for any expenses other than those provided for in Articles 61, 62 and
63 of the Rules of Procedure of the Executive Board.

(b) During their term of office, the Organization shall not pay them any other fees or
remuneration whatsoever.

(c) Representatives and alternates appointed by Members of the Board may not enter
into a contractual relationship with the Secretariat until eighteen months have
elapsed from the date of cessation of their representative functions.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1 The organization of the sessions of the Executive Board is the responsibility of the
Secretary of the Executive Board (SCX) in cooperation with the Division of Conferences,
Languages and Documents (MSS/CLD) (AM ltem 11.2).

4.2 For Executive Board documents, please refer to AM Item 11.4 and for the
responsibilities of the Secretariat, AM Item 11.2, paragraph 4.

5. Procedures and Processes
Not applicable

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable

Published on 16-Nov-2009 Updated on 16-Jul-2012 Page 2


http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0022/002269/226924e.pdf#page=89
http://manual-part1.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/Chap11/Pages/Item11.2.aspx
http://manual-part1.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/Chap11/Pages/Item11.4.aspx
http://manual-part1.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/Chap11/Pages/Item11.2.aspx
http://manual-part1.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/Chap1/Pages/Item1.4.aspx#top
http://manual-part1.hq.int.unesco.org/#top

UNESCO Administrative Manual Item 1.5

1.5 Secretariat: Administrative Responsibility

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact:

- The Executive Office of the Director-General (ODG) for Secretariat structure
(except the Field Offices);

- The Bureau of Field Coordination (BFC) for Field Offices;

- The Bureau of Financial Management (for responsibilities of Administrative
Officers);

which are responsible for this Item (Original: English).

1. Overview

11

This Item covers the main administrative responsibilities within the Secretariat.

2. Definitions

2.1

2.2

The Secretariat is divided into Sectors responsible for programme, administration and
external relations, as well as Support Services. Sectors are headed by Assistant
Directors-General (ADGs) and are divided into bureaux, offices and divisions (see
Organizational Chart and AM ltem 1.2).

The Senior Management Team (SMT) is chaired by the Director-General and
composed of the Deputy Director-General, all the ADGs, Director BFC, Director GE, the
Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Information Officer, Director HRM, Director LA,
Director I0S, Director GBS and Director ODG (ref. DG/Note/10/43). The main purpose
of the SMT, which play an advisory role, is to provide a forum for internal
communication, coordination and consultation at the highest management levels in order
to ensure an effective and collegial leadership of the Organization and facilitate
integration and cohesion within all UNESCO’s programmes. The SMT will meet every
two months for an information/consultation session, and more frequently if required. The
SMT is supported by the following three Senior Management Committees (ref.
DG/Memo/10/18):

(@) The Executive Management Committee (EMC) (see Paragraph 4.1 below);

(b)  The Programme Management Committee (PMC) (see Paragraph 4.2 below);
(c) The Corporate Service Committee (CSC) (see Paragraph 4.3 below).

3. Policies

Not applicable

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1

1.

The Executive Management Committee (EMC)

Purpose of the Executive Management Committee

The Executive Management Committee (EMC) is established to assist the Director-
General in making strategic and high-level operational decisions. The Committee is
advisory in nature, its overriding purpose being to provide a forum where the Director-
General can discuss and receive advice on the key strategic, programmatic and
managerial issues.
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Composition and structure
The members of the EMC are:

- Director-General (Chair)

- Deputy Director-General

- Assistant Director-General for Strategic Planning

- Assistant Director-General for External Relations and Public Information
- Director, Executive Office of the Director-General

Secretariat: Executive Office of the Director-General

Other participants may be invited to meetings of the EMC, as required.
Frequency and agenda of meetings

The EMC shall meet as needed, normally on a weekly basis. The agenda and supporting
documents for meetings shall be prepared by the Secretariat of the EMC, in consultation
with the Chair. EMC members may make requests for items to be included on the
agenda for its meetings.

Responsibilities
The EMC provides overall leadership, oversees and reviews recommendations from the

Programme Management and Corporate Services Committees, and oversees the
following issues:

- overall priorities and strategic direction of the Organization;
- allocation of resources;

- organizational structure and reforms;

- current and emerging organizational risks and opportunities;

- overall monitoring of within-biennium performance, and overall review of
performance in relation to outcomes;

- overall budgetary execution status;

- high-level staff matters;

- changes to the Organization’s regulations, rules and policies;
- organizational changes in field office presence;

- key relationships with important partners of the Organization and with Permanent
Delegations of Member States;

- preparation for Executive Board and General Conference meetings; and,

- institutional follow-up to the recommendations of the oversight bodies (External
Auditor, Internal Oversight Service, Joint Inspection Unit).

The Programme Management Committee (PMC)

Purpose of the Programme Management Committee

The Programme Management Committee (PMC) is established to monitor and
coordinate programme and related operational issues, and to advise the Director-
General in this regard. The Committee coordinates and monitors overall programme
implementation, as well as promotes intersectoral dialogue and other such initiatives at
Headquarters and in the field. It ensures coherence and integration in all programmes, as
well as continued alignment of programmes and resources with the Organization’s
strategic priorities. The Committee also oversees programme performance and draws
lessons learned.

Composition and structure
The members of the PMC are:

- Deputy Director-General (Chair)
- Assistant Director-General for Strategic Planning (Vice-Chair)
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- Assistant Director-General for External Relations and Public Information

- Assistant Director-General for the Africa Department

- Assistant Director-General for Education

- Assistant Director-General for Natural Sciences

- Assistant Director-General of the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission
- Assistant Director-General for Social and Human Sciences

- Assistant Director-General for Culture

- Assistant Director-General for Communication and Information

- Director, Bureau of Field Coordination

- Director, Division for Gender Equality, Executive Office of the Director-General
- Deputy-Director, Executive Office of the Director-General

- Two Field Office/Category | Institute Directors
Secretariat: Bureau of Strategic Planning
Ex officio members:

- Director, Office of International Standards and Legal Affairs
- Director, Internal Oversight Service
- Director, Governing Bodies Secretariat

- Chief Information Officer

Other participants may be invited to meetings of the PMC as required, notably the heads
of the Corporate Services.

3. Frequency and agenda of meetings

The PMC shall meet on a monthly basis. However, the Chair of the PMC may convene
additional meetings, as necessary. The agenda and supporting documents for meetings
shall be prepared and disseminated by the Secretariat of the PMC, in consultation with
the Chair. PMC members may make requests for items to be included on the agenda for
its meetings.

4. Responsibilities
The Programme Management Committee shall:

- review the programme strategy and priorities of all programme sectors, for
consistency and coherence;

- critically and thoroughly review consistency between strategic priority programmes
and budgetary allocations at the time of preparing the Draft Programme and
Budget document (C/5), and advise on appropriate adjustments;

- review programme performance and monitor overall budgetary implementation,
including inter-sectoral activities, as well as advise on corrective measures to be
taken to address challenges and shortcomings that are identified by the PMC and
Corporate Services Committee reviews or through regular monitoring;

- oversee the coherence and performance of inter-sectoral platforms;

- review policy, procedures and tools for programme monitoring and results
reporting, and oversee their implementation;

- regularly review communications, outreach, publications and public relations
strategies and their effectiveness in support of programme delivery and the overall
mandate of UNESCO;

- review priorities for each field office and give appropriate guidance and direction
towards better programme service delivery in Member States;

- recommend the renewal, establishment or discontinuation of committees and
working groups concerned with programme issues, provide direction for their work
and receive their recommendations;

follow up and advise on implementation of Governing Bodies’ decisions and
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recommendations relating to programmes and field presence;

- review and ensure follow-up on the implementations of main findings of audits
(internal / external) and evaluations relevant to Programme Sectors; and

- review and recommend adjustments to the Terms of Reference of the PMC, as
necessary.

The Corporate Service Committee (CSC)

Purpose of the Corporate Services Committee

The Corporate Services Committee (CSC) is established to monitor and coordinate all
management issues falling under the purview of the Corporate Services (administration,
financial management, information management systems and related services, i.e. ADM,
BFC, BFM, BSP, ERI, GBS, HRM, IOS, LA and ODG), and to advise the Director-
General on important decisions in this regard. Its role is advisory and it does not limit the
executive powers of the Director-General nor does it reduce the operational
responsibilities and accountabilities of each of the Corporate Services.

Composition and structure
The members of the CSC are:

- Deputy Director-General (Chair)

- Assistant Director-General for Administration (Vice-Chair)

- Assistant Director-General for External Relations and Public Information
- Chief Financial Officer

- Chief Information Officer

- Director, Human Resources Management

- Director, Executive Office of the Director-General
Secretariat: Executive Office of the Director-General
Ex officio members:

- Director, Office of International Standards and Legal Affairs
- Director, Internal Oversight Service

- Director, Governing Bodies Secretariat

Other participants may be invited to meetings of the CSC as required, notably the
Assistant Directors-General of Programme Sectors and programme managers.
Frequency and agenda of meetings

The CSC shall meet on a monthly basis. However, the Chair of the CSC may convene
additional meetings as necessary. The agenda and supporting documents for meetings
shall be prepared and disseminated by the Secretariat of the CSC, in consultation with
the Chair. CSC members may make requests for items to be included on the agenda for
its meetings.

Responsibilities

The CSC, having regard to the Financial Regulations and Rules, as well as to relevant
decisions and established policies and procedures of the Governing Bodies, shall:

- undertake the review and lead the process of streamlining operations and/ or
procedures;

- identify current and emerging operational risks and opportunities, as well as devise
appropriate actions to be taken;

- regularly review the performance of the Corporate Services and decide on
corrective actions wherever there are deviations from plans;

- regularly monitor activity implementation and the budget status of the Corporate
Services;

- advise on agenda items of the Governing Bodies concerning financial management
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4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

411

and administration;

- follow up on the implementation of the main findings of audits (internal / external)
and evaluations relevant to the Corporate Services;

- monitor the effective and efficient implementation of information technology projects
involving more than one organizational entity;

- review and follow-up on the reports and findings of committees and working groups
relevant to the mission or work of the Corporate Services; and

- review and recommend adjustments to the Terms of Reference of the CSC, as
necessary.

When the Director-General is absent from Headquarters, he/she designates
authority and accountability to a senior official to deal with routine matters. The choice
would normally be the Deputy Director-General. In the absence of the Deputy Director-
General, the choice of the senior official is determined at the discretion of the Director-
General or, in the absence of such a specific designation, by the Organizational order of
precedence. If the ADGs are all absent at the same time, a Deputy Assistant Director-
General (DADG) may be chosen to deal with routine matters, following the
Organizational order of precedence. If no DADGs are available, a director of division
may be designhated to deal with routine matters.

The ADGs are responsible for the implementation of their programme and for the
administration of their sector in accordance with the indications of the Director-General,
with the policies, rules and procedures of the Organization and the provisions set out in
the Administrative and Human Resource Manuals. They report to the Director-General,
or to the Deputy Director-General, according to the specific instructions they have
received in this regard.

When an ADG is absent from Headquarters, he/she designates his/her deputy, or in
the latter’s absence, a senior division director, to replace him/her in dealing with all
matters that arise concerning his/her sector to the extent he/she specifies. However, if
an ADG is able to maintain close contact with his/her sector while on mission or leave,
he/she may limit the delegation of responsibility to only routine affairs (see also
Paragraph 4.14 on Certifying Officers below). The DIR/ODG is to be informed in writing
and in advance of any interim arrangements.

ADGs clear in advance with the Director-General any interim arrangements for the
replacement by DADGSs, as well as by bureau, office and division directors, for periods
of long absence or for vacancy periods. Customarily, any replacement is entrusted to the
most senior official, in terms of length of service and grade, in the sector.

ADGs may request modification of an administrative decision taken by officials to whom
authority is delegated as indicated in Paragraphs 4.6 and 4.7 above. Such modification
shall be requested from the DDG by means of a memorandum that is transmitted via
DIR/ODG. The memorandum requesting the modification must be shared with the official
responsible for the decision to allow him/her to add his/her comments to the request for
modification should he/she so wishes.

The DADGSs in the sector are responsible for assisting the ADG in the discharge of
his/her duties and for replacing the ADG in his/her absence. During their own absence,
any interim arrangements for replacement are to be cleared in advance with the ADG
(see also Paragraph 4.7 above).

Bureau and office directors who report to an ADG are responsible for the
administration of their bureaux and offices in accordance with the policies, rules, and
regulations of the Organization and the provisions set out in the Administrative and
Human Resource Manuals. During their absence, any interim arrangements for
replacement are to be cleared in advance with the ADG (see also Paragraph 4.7 above).

Division directors are responsible for the administration of their divisions in accordance
with the policies, rules, and regulations of the Organization and the provisions set out in
the Administrative and Human Resource Manuals. They report to an ADG, bureau or
office director. During their absence, any interim arrangement for replacement is cleared
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412

4.13

4.14

in advance with the ADG, bureau or office director, as the case may be (see also
Paragraph 4.7 above).

Delegation of Authority: On the basis of the Organization’s Staff Regulations, Staff
Rules, Financial Regulations and Financial Rules, the authority of the management of
human and financial resources is delegated by the Director-General to the Deputy
Director-General, ADGs and Directors of Corporate Services as set out in DG Notes,
Administrative and Human Resource Manuals and job descriptions. These officials may,
in turn, delegate some of their authority to subordinated staff within the Secretariat.

Directors/Heads of Field Offices away from Headquarters are responsible for the
management, administration, safety and security of their offices, as well as that of all
personnel assigned to them, in accordance with the provisions set out in the
Administrative and Human Resource Manuals. They report administratively to the
Director BFC (DIR/BFC). They are also accountable for decentralized programme
implementation to the substantively responsible sector ADGs for the different
programmes and activities they coordinate and implement in their respective offices. In
the case of absence, they designate the most senior professional staff member (with the
exception of Administrative Officers in order to avoid conflict of interest) as the Officer-
in-Charge for the daily management of the office, and delegate their representational
functions to the UN Resident Coordinator or to another country representative of a UN
system agency. Such standing arrangements are notified to BFC, as are any changes to
interim arrangements.

Finance and Administrative Officers (AO) are responsible for providing a range of
financial management support services to sectors, bureaux and institutes. AOs report
directly to the sector ADG, director of offices/bureaux at Headquarters or director of
institutes. However, on matters of internal financial control, in their capacity as Certifying
Officer, they have a functional reporting line to the Chief Financial Officer. This “financial
responsibility” is described further in AM Item 3.1 “Introduction to Finance”. AOs are the
cornerstones of the financial and internal control framework described in the AM ltem
3.4.

5. Procedures and Processes

Not applicable

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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1.6 Internal Oversight

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, contact the Internal Oversight Service:
- Internal Audit Office (IOS/AUD),
- Evaluation Office (IOS/EVS),
- Investigation Office (I0OS/INV),

which are responsible for this Item (Original: English).

1. Overview

1.1 Internal Oversight Mission

(@) The Internal Oversight Service (I0S) provides the Director-General with
independent, objective assurance, systematic review and advice to add value and
improve programme design, delivery and operations. 10S helps UNESCO
accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to
evaluating and improving the effectiveness of risk and results based management,
control and governance processes.

(b) The consolidated oversight mechanism provided by IOS covers internal audit,
evaluation, investigation and other management support.

2. Definitions

2.1 Advisory & consulting service: A service for which the nature and scope are agreed to
with the client and is intended to add value to and improve the Organization’s governance,
risk management and control processes without assuming a management responsibility.

2.2 Control: Any action taken by management, the Governing Bodies and other parties to
manage risk and increase the likelihood that established objectives and goals will be
achieved.

2.3 Control processes: The policies, procedures and activities that are part of a control
framework, designed to ensure that risks are contained within the risk tolerances
established by the risk management process.

2.4 Control self-assessment: A technique that allows managers and work teams directly
involved in business units or processes to participate in the risk management and control
assessment for processes in which they work. This technique may involve surveys,
guestionnaires and/or facilitated workshops. Managers can use the self-assessment
process to clarify business objectives and to identify and address related risks.

2.5 Corporate evaluations: The evaluations conducted by the IOS Evaluation Office are
commonly referred to as corporate evaluations. These evaluations typically assess areas
of high significance or strategic importance that contribute to the achievement of
UNESCO’s mandate and medium-term strategy objectives. Corporate evaluations are
conducted either using the internal capacities and expertise of the IOS Evaluation Office
and/or with external consultants. When conducting corporate evaluations, the 10S
Evaluation Office assures the quality of the entire evaluation process, including the final
report and tracking the implementation of report recommendations. All completed
evaluations are submitted to the Director-General and the Executive Board. I0S is fully
responsible for their contents and they are issued as I0S Evaluation Office reports.

2.6 Decentralized evaluations: Decentralized evaluations are managed by UNESCO entities
with a programmatic function, typically one of the Programme Sectors or field units, and
conducted by evaluators who have not been involved in the design, implementation or
management of the subject under evaluation. The most common type of decentralized
evaluation is at the project-level, typically donor-funded extrabudgetary activities.
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Decentralized evaluations shall meet the same level of norms and standards as
corporate evaluations, including the ethical guidelines and code of conduct for evaluators.
For the purposes of quality assurance and to allow for the future synthesis of findings, the
evaluations shall follow a standardized framework with respect to the evaluation
methodology and the evaluation criteria covered.

As per UNESCO'’s guidelines on extrabudgetary activities, all extrabudgetary activities
are subject to evaluation. The nature of the evaluation depends on the size and complexity
of the project. The provisions for evaluation are explicitly referred to in the donor
agreement and, as per the standard project document template, should also be described
in the project document and budget. The evaluation may relate to an individual project, a
portfolio of activities funded by a donor under a framework agreement, or a multi-donor
framework funded by several partners.

2.7 Evaluation: An assessment, as systematic and impartial as possible, of an activity,
project, programme, strategy, policy, topic, theme, sector, operational area, institutional
performance, etc. It focuses on expected and achieved accomplishments, examining the
results chain, processes, contextual factors and causality, in order to understand
achievements or the lack thereof. It aims at determining the relevance, impact,
effectiveness, efficiency and sustainability of the interventions and contributions of the
organizations of the United Nations system. An evaluation should provide evidence-based
information that is credible, reliable and useful, enabling the timely incorporation of findings,
recommendations and lessons into the decision-making processes of the organizations of
the United Nations system and its members.

2.8 Evaluation focal point: A UNESCO staff member who has been designated to
coordinate the planning and management of decentralized evaluations, typically
extrabudgetary projects for which the programme sector / field office is the responsible
implementing unit). Focal points must complete an 10S training programme on evaluation
management. The focal points are nominated by the respective ADG or Field Office
director / head.

2.9 Internal audit: An independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to
add value and improve the Organization’s operations. It helps the Organization accomplish
its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the
effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.

2.10 Intervention: An intervention can be an activity, project, programme, strategy, policy,
topic, theme, sector, operational area or institution.

2.11 Investigation: Examination and determination of the veracity of allegations about
irregularities (fraud, waste, abuse and other misconduct) and provision of supporting
evidence for potential disciplinary measures or prosecution.

2.12 Monitoring: A continuous function providing managers and key stakeholders with regular
feedback on the consistency or discrepancy between planned and actual activities and
programme performance and on the internal and external factors affecting results.
Monitoring provides an early indication of the likelihood that planned results will be attained
and provides an opportunity to validate the programme theory and logic and to make
necessary changes in programme activities and approaches.

2.13 Review: An assessment of the performance of an intervention, periodically or on an ad
hoc basis that does not involve the full process of evaluation or audit.

2.14 Risk management: A process to identify, assess, manage and control potential events
or situations with an impact on the Organization and to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the achievement of the Organization’s objectives.

2.15 Self-evaluation: An evaluation of an on-going or completed project, programme
or policy, covering its design, implementation and / or results, conducted by those who are
entrusted with the design and delivery of the intervention.

3. Policies

Published on 16-Nov-2009 Updated on 14-Mar-2017 Page 2



UNESCO Administrative Manual Item 1.6

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

Standards

(a) 10S carries out its audit functions in accordance with The International Standards for
the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing of the the Institute of Internal Auditors
(IA) and the Code of Ethics established by the IlIA.

(b) Investigatory work is undertaken in conformity with the Uniform Guidelines for
Investigations adopted by the Conference of International Investigators of United
Nations Organizations and Multilateral Financial Institutions.

(c) 10S performs evaluations in accordance with the United Nations Evaluation Group
(UNEG) Norms and Standards for Evaluation in the UN System as a set of guiding
principles to regulate the conduct of evaluation.

Financial Regulations
Financial Regulation 10.1 (d) on Internal Control provides:

The Director-General shall:

(a) Establish detailed financial rules, operating policies and procedures in order to
ensure effective financial administration, the exercise of economy and safeguard of the
assets of the Organization;

(b) Designate the officers who may receive moneys, incur obligations and make
payments on behalf of the Organization;

(c) Maintain an internal control system to ensure the accomplishment of established
objectives and goals for operations; the economical use of resources; the reliability
and integrity of information; compliance with policies, plans, procedures, rules and
regulations; and the safeguarding of assets;

(d) Maintain an internal oversight function which is responsible for the review, evaluation
and monitoring of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Organization’s overall
systems of internal control. For this purpose, all systems, processes, operations,
functions and activities within the Organization shall be subject to such review,
evaluation and monitoring.

Oversight Advisory Committee

The General Conference through 38 C/Resolution 102 approved the revised Terms of
Reference of the Oversight Advisory Committee (OAC). The Committee, comprising five
members, advises inter alia on the role and effectiveness of the 10S and its strategies,
priorities and work plans and suggest potential areas to address the Organization’s risks
and strategic opportunities.

Internal Audit Charter and Policy

UNESCO’s IOS Internal Audit Charter and Policy presented to the Executive Board at its
199th session, sets forth the framework for ensuring an integrated system of assurance
on the adequacy and effectiveness of UNESCO’s risk management and control. In this
regard, independent assurance is provided by the External Auditor, the Internal Oversight
Service (I0S). In addition, the Joint Inspection Unit (JIU) conducts evaluations,
inspections and investigations to secure administrative efficiency and to achieve greater
co-ordination between UN organizations.

Evaluation Policy

The UNESCO Evaluation Policy establishes the institutional framework for strengthening
UNESCO’s overall evaluation system. The policy is based upon widely accepted principles
of independence, accountability, transparency, utility and impartiality. The Executive Board
welcomed the policy and invited the Director-General to report periodically on its
implementation (196 EX/Decision 24).

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities
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4.1 10S scope of work

(a) 10S seeks to determine whether the Organization’s framework of risk and results
based management, control and governance processes, as designed and presented
by management, is adequate and functioning in a manner which ensures that:

(i) Programmes are designed and implemented to produce results that are
consistent with established objectives of the Organization;

(i)  Programmes are delivered effectively, planned results achieved and that
lessons arising from their implementation are learned, disseminated and included
into subsequent policy development, programme and project planning;

(iii) Risks are appropriately identified and managed;

(iv) Significant performance, financial, and operating information is accurate and
timely;

(v) Resources are acquired economically, used efficiently and adequately
protected;

(vi) Continuous qualitative improvements are included in the Organization’s
processes;

(vii) Employees’ actions are in compliance with policies, standards and procedures;

(viii) Significant legislative or regulatory issues impacting the Organization are
recognised and addressed properly;

(ix) Allegations of irregularities (fraud, waste, abuse of authority and other
misconduct) are investigated and efforts are made to promote an ethical working
environment.

(b) In providing advisory services, 10S seeks to add value by improving the
Organization’s programme delivery and operations.

4.2 10S Authority

(@) When conducting assignments |IOS personnel have the following authorities:

(i) Complete and unrestricted access to all records, documents, personnel and
physical assets relevant to the subject under review at Headquarters and in
UNESCO institutes, centres and the field,

(i)  The right to communicate directly with all levels of staff and management;

(i) The right to request any staff member to furnish all information and explanations
that IOS deems necessary;

(iv) The right to determine scopes of work, apply techniques and allocate resources
within budget authorities, including the engagement of specialized consultants.

(b)  The Director of IOS shall have unrestricted access to the Oversight Advisory
Committee.

4.3 10S Responsibility: The Director of 10S is responsible for the work of IOS and is
required to:

(a) Submit an oversight strategy and work plans, including risk-based and flexible annual
audit plan and a biennial evaluation plan, to the Director-General through the Oversight
Advisory Committee;

(b) Implement the strategy and work plans and issue timely reports; implement as
appropriate any additional assignments requested by management; for example, when
the risks attached to the proposed assignment are higher than those of other planned
activities;

(c) Regularly inform the Director-General and the Oversight Advisory Committee of the
status and results of the oversight strategy and work plan, including progress reports
on the actions taken by management in response to the recommendations made by
I0S;

Published on 16-Nov-2009 Updated on 14-Mar-2017 Page 4



UNESCO Administrative Manual Item 1.6

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

Adopt best practices in oversight functions, keeping management and the Oversight
Advisory Committee informed of emerging trends;

Use professionals with sufficient knowledge, skills, experience and any other
competencies needed to fulfil the mission of IOS and to maximize the efficiency and
effectiveness of the used resources;

Liaise with representatives of the External Auditor to foster a cooperative and
professional working relationship; optimise audit coverage; and share information such
as strategies, work plans and all reports produced by both the 10S and the External
Auditor;

Act as focal point for the Joint Inspection Unit (JIU) to facilitate evaluations,
inspections and investigations of this independent external oversight body of the United
Nations;

Establish a quality assurance and improvement programme that covers all aspects of
IOS activities, continuously monitor its effectiveness and assure conformity with
applicable Standards and Guiding Principles (see Paragraph 3.1 above);

Provide advisory services, within IOS capacities and areas of expertise, to assist
management in meeting its objectives.

4.4 10S Accountability and Independence

(a)

The Director of I0S is appointed by the Director-General. The Director-General shall
take decisions concerning the appointment, extension, renewal and termination of
appointment of the Director of IOS in consultation with the Executive Board (Staff
Regulations and Staff Rules, Regulation 4.5.3) and may also consult with the
Oversight Advisory Committee on the required gualifications of the candidates. The
Director of IOS reports to and is accountable directly to the Director-General. IOS
operates independently from other parts of the UNESCO Secretariat. Apart from
providing advice, 10S is not involved in the management of any programmes,
operations or functions. The Director-General ensures that 10S is provided with the
necessary resources in terms of appropriate staffing, adequate funds and appropriate
training to fulfil its mission and maintain its independence.

(b)  An annual report is prepared by the Director of IOS for the Director-General and

shared with the Oversight Advisory Committee summarizing significant oversight
activities, conclusions, recommendations and action taken in response. This annual
report is presented by the Director-General to the Executive Board. In addition, a
summary report is submitted to the Executive Board on external evaluations
completed

45 10S Recommendations

(@)

(b)

(c)

UNESCO management officials are responsible for considering IOS reports issued to
them for action, providing timely responses to I0S, and implementing agreed action
plans. Where management officials and IOS are unable to agree on action plans in
response to 10S reports, the matter will be communicated within the Secretariat
hierarchy for resolution.

IOS is responsible for monitoring the implementation status of its recommendations
and periodically reporting the status to the Director-General, with particular attention
to timely communication of conditions resulting in high risk exposure.

A Senior Corporate Oversight Officer within the Office of the Director-General is
responsible for inter alia coordinating and ensuring coherent organizational responses
to internal and external oversight reports and their recommendations; identifying cross-
cutting issues and trends that require strategic input and decisions at the senior
management level and flagging organizational performance and risk issues as
appropriate. (DG/Note/16/12)

5. Procedures and Processes
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5.1 Procedures & Processes in Audit

The I0S Internal Audit Manual provides internal auditors with practical guidance, tools and
information for performing internal audit activity including planning, executing, reporting and
following up on internal auditing engagements. The internal audit phases are elaborated

below:

(a) Audit Planning

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(V)

(vi)

(b)

(ii)

IOS prepares an Annual Audit Plan using a risk-based methodology, including
consultations with management and consideration of management’s requests. The
Annual Audit Plan is presented to the Director-General, communicated to the
Executive Board and is available on the 10S internet site.

UNESCO managers may request or recommend to the Director of IOS that
internal audits be undertaken of particular offices, processes or activities. Such
requests will be considered from the perspective of organizational risks and
priorities for inclusion in the Audit Plan. Similarly, substitutions may be made in the
Audit Plan where emerging risks or priorities supersede those of an engagement
included in the plan. Such substitutions are to be reported to the Oversight
Advisory Committee.

The planning process for each engagement is summarized in an Engagement
plan, including an initial risk assessment, presenting the audit scope, objectives
and work programme, as well as the detailed analyses supporting these
determinations. The plan is prepared by the mission/project leader and approved
by the Head of Internal Audit and the 10S Director.

IOS sends the senior official of the entity or unit to be audited a formal Audit
confirmation (notification) letter prior to the commencement of audit fieldwork.
Offices expected to be consulted during the planning phase of the audit as well as
the Office of the Director General (ODG) are also copied on the Audit
confirmation letter. The Audit confirmation letter informs the relevant offices of the
engagement, the general scope and time frame, and identifies members of the
audit team. The letter also explains the logistical needs of the audit team and
assists the entity or unit to be audited in preparing for the audit fieldwork. Once
issued, the auditors begin gathering information directly from the involved units.

The audit team uses the most recent Control self-assessment questionnaire
of the entity or unit to be audited, to obtain management’s perceptions of the risks
and corresponding mitigation techniques to be considered in planning the audit.
Auditors assess and validate the self-assessment conclusions as part of the audit
engagement.

In order to effectively undertake an audit, IOS may request a confidential
Representation letter from the head/director of the entity or activity under
audit which discloses, to the best of their knowledge:

a. Any significant deviations from established policies, rules and regulations
which could threaten the achievement of the office’s operational and
programme objectives;

b. Any suspected or actual irregularities by staff members, counterparts,
contractors or other parties, which may affect UNESCO;

c. Actions taken in response to any concerns noted above.

Audit Execution and Reporting

At the start of the audit field work, an entrance meeting is conducted with the
head/director of the entity or activity under audit and its managers. The purpose of
this is to ensure that the Terms of Reference have been fully understood, to
address guestions that the Head/Director and managers may present and to
discuss the relevant documentation which has been prepared by the client in
advance to arrange the audit work schedule.

Based on the risk analysis performed during the planning phase, the auditors
select the key actions/controls to test. The testing is guided by the audit work
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(iiil)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

programmes.

The majority of audit fieldwork consists of audit testing which involves the
measurement of representative transactions or processes and comparison of the
results with established standards or criteria. The objective of the testing is to
gather evidence on the validity, accuracy, compliance and/or competence of
controls. At the end of the tests, the auditors should have either validated the
effective, continuous and consistent functioning of the key actions/controls or
identified the weaknesses in their design or implementation.

For the control tests standard audit techniques/procedures are normally
applied such as the review and examination of documents or physical items
(inspection); watching operators perform their tasks (observation); reviewing
documentary evidence from parties not directly involved in the operations of the
auditee (third-party confirmation); comparing or analysing evidence with other data
from outside the reference period or from independent sources to identify unusual
patterns or variances (analytical review); enquiry, either in writing or orally, and
confirmation of assertions; re-computation; re-performance; and interviews. The
auditors define the population to be tested and consider the sampling technique to
be used to obtain the necessary level of assurance. The two principal approaches
to audit sampling are non-statistical (i.e., judgemental) and statistical. Either may
be applied upon the judgement of Internal Audit Office and based on the
circumstances and purposes of the audit procedure.

The audit team holds an exit meeting at the end of the fieldwork. This is usually
with the head/director of the entity or activity under audit and members of its
management team. The auditors present for discussion their preliminary findings,
conclusions and recommendations. The purpose of the meeting is to reach
agreement on the preliminary findings, conclusions and recommendations and to
jointly examine effective action plans to respond to recommendations.

For audits of field offices, I0S holds a headquarters debriefing for managers of
programme sectors and Corporate Services who may be involved in implementing
or monitoring recommended actions. The head/director of the field office
participates in the briefing as a virtual participant, either by telephone or Skype.

(vii) The Draft Audit Report is to be issued within one month following the exit

meeting, unless authorized otherwise by the Director IOS in exceptional
circumstances. It provides the overall conclusions, findings and recommendations
made as a result of the audit fieldwork and incorporates the results of discussions
during the exit meeting. The draft report is issued to the head/director of the entity
or activity under audit as well as to all offices to which recommendations are
directed in the report. The head/director is invited to provide written comments on
the draft report including any additional information that may be helpful in ensuring
the factual accuracy of the report. All offices to which recommendations are
directed are requested to provide clear and effective action plans to implement
their respective recommendations, including target implementation dates. Where
needed, additional discussions should take place between 10S and the action
offices to ensure that effective actions plans are agreed.

(viii) The Final Audit Reportis to be issued within two weeks of receiving

(ix)

management’s comments and action plans, unless authorized otherwise by the
Director IOS in exceptional circumstances. It provides the overall conclusions,
findings and recommendations of the audit following consideration of
management’s comments on the Draft Audit Report and including management’s
action plans and time frames for implementing the report’s recommendations.
Should there be disagreement on conclusions or recommendations, the final report
may state both positions and the reasons for the disagreement. The report is
issued to the Director-General with copies to other offices within the Secretariat
who are to consider the results of the audit or ensure that action is taken in
response to the audit recommendations.

The reportable audit findings are categorized as high risk (fundamental issues
with corporate implications), medium risk (significant issues that may affect the
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achievement of the entity’s or activity’s objectives) or low risk (issues meriting
attention to better manage risks). Each audit recommendation is clearly linked to
specific observations and is to improve risk management, efficiency or
effectiveness of the Organization.

(x) Findings and comments that are less significant and not considered as
reportable conditions for purposes of the audit report may be communicated by
IOS to the head/director of the audited office in a Management Letter. Action on
these matters is not formally monitored by 10S; however, the recipient is
responsible for considering the matters raised to them and taking appropriate
measures.

(xi) Together with the final audit report, a Client satisfaction survey is sent to the
auditees to inquire about their satisfaction and to receive feedback in order to
improve Internal Audit Office services.

(xii) Summaries of internal audit reports that do not include sensitive or proprietary
information, are published on the IOS internet site.  Access to full audit reports
can be made available to Member States upon their request and subject to the
approval of the IOS Director. Summary and final internal audit reports containing
sensitive or proprietary information may be redacted by 10S prior to external
dissemination.

(c)  Audit Follow-up

(i) Internal Audit Office monitors the implementation of its internal audit
recommendations. To do this, it maintains a web-based tool and data base of
recommendations, action plans and follow-up actions for all internal audit
recommendations. Recommendation action offices may update the implementation
status via the web-based tool or by direct correspondence or meetings with
Internal Audit Office. Notwithstanding the Internal Audit Office monitoring process,
the assigned action office is accountable for the implementation of Internal Audit
recommendations.

(i) In evaluating implementation actions to close a recommendation, Internal Audit
Office should be satisfied that the action agreed on was actually taken, or that
other effective steps were taken to address the recommendation. Internal Audit
Office uses a risk-based approach in monitoring the implementation of audit
recommendations. For low-risk issues, Internal Audit Office may choose to rely on
management’s assertion that actions have been taken. For medium and high-risk
issues, Internal Audit Office may require additional evidence of implementation,
such as narrative descriptions of actions taken together with documentary support.
After review, internal auditors can evaluate the responses as satisfactory and
close the recommendation as implemented. An incomplete and unsatisfactory
response results in the recommendation remaining open. Should action offices for
recommendations have questions about the nature or extent of implementation
information that Internal Audit Office would require for a specific recommendation,
they are encouraged to contact the principal auditor of the engagement or the
Head of Internal Audit.

(i) 10S periodically reports the status of internal audit recommendations to the
Oversight Advisory Committee and to the Senior Management Team, including an
aging of open recommendations and details of open recommendations pertaining
to high-risk issues.

5.2 The Evaluation Process

The evaluation process consists of the four distinct phases elaborated below. A
description of the main responsibilities of various actors during the evaluation process is
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also contained in Annex Ill of the UNESCO Evaluation Policy.

(a) Budgeting for evaluation

0] In line with recognized best practice, the UNESCO Evaluation Policy
establishes a target of 3% of programme expenditure as the recommended
minimum level of investment in evaluation. The Evaluation Office monitors and
reports on progress made in achieving the target in its Annual Report. The 2016
Ivory Note - Strengthening accountability and leadership for the follow-up of
audit, investigation and evaluation recommendations (DG/Note/16/12) — further
emphasizes the importance of adequate budgets in support of evaluation.

(i) The resourcing of evaluation is guided by the following key principles:
all evaluations are properly budgeted at the design or planning phase;

the Evaluation Office has management authority over the evaluation
budget of extrabudgetary projects contained in the decentralized evaluation
plan as a means to quality assure the subsequent evaluation process;

the Evaluation Office has the authority to conduct any evaluation it choses,
including individual extrabudgetary project evaluations; and

efforts are made to pool evaluation resources as a more efficient and
effective means to evaluate cross-cutting issues of strategic value to
UNESCO.

(iii) The Special Account for Strengthening UNESCO’s Evaluation Work (197
EX/27 Part I, Annex |) enables financial resources to be pooled to support
cross-cutting corporate evaluations, system-wide evaluation initiatives and
capacity-building initiatives.

(b)  Evaluation Planningp;

() Corporate quadrennial evaluation plan: The Evaluation Office establishes
the quadrennial plan in consultation with UNESCO senior management and
directors of Field Offices / Institutes. The Executive Board may also request that
specific topics be included in the evaluation plan. The plan is a rolling plan thus
subject to periodic revision in order to reflect emerging or changing priorities. The
IOS Annual Report contains the corporate evaluations planned for the upcoming
year.

(i) Decentralized evaluation plan: The five major programme sectors are
responsible for establishing and managing decentralized evaluations. Designated
evaluation focal points may also assist the sectors in the overall management of
the plan. The decentralized evaluation plans are updated regularly in order to
reflect the important number of extrabudgetary projects which are approved
during the course of the programme cycle and contain a mandatory evaluation.

(iii) The Evaluation Office plans an annual consultation meeting with all
programme sectors to discuss evaluation needs and requirements. The
consultation is intended to inform the development of the above plans. The
Evaluation Office also maintains regular contact with the decentralized evaluation
focal points for the purpose of identifying evaluation needs.

(iv) An initial preparation meeting is often convened by the Evaluation Office
(for corporate evaluations) or by the responsible sector / field entity who is
commissioning the evaluation (for decentralized evaluations). The main purpose
of the meeting is to ensure that the evaluation budget has in fact been secured, to
discuss the potential scope and purpose of the evaluation and to discuss the
establishment of the Evaluation Reference Group.
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v)

(Vi)

(Vi)

(viii)

(c)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

An Evaluation Reference Group is typically formed for large and complex
evaluations that involve multiple stakeholder groups. Its main role is to advise on
Terms of References, to provide feedback on draft evaluation reports and to
provide guidance on appropriate actions to be taken in response to evaluation
findings.

A desk study is prepared for each project / programme to be evaluated.
This consists mainly of compiling all of the relevant project / programme
documentation, including Executive Board papers, project documents, monitoring
and progress reports, etc. The information is organized into a brief report. The
desk study is prepared by the Evaluation Office (for corporate evaluations) or by
the relevant sector / field entity (for decentralized evaluations).

The Terms of Reference (ToR) include a statement of the background,
purpose and scope of the evaluation; the individual roles and responsibilities; the
qualifications of the evaluation team; and the timelines for deliverables. ToR are
developed in a participatory manner, integrating gender equality and human rights
perspectives where appropriate. The ToR are developed by the responsible
sector / field entity, in close consultation with the Evaluation Office and any other
key stakeholders such as donors. The Evaluation Office approves the ToR of
corporate evaluations.

The appropriate procurement procedure is established according to
UNESCO’s procurement guidelines. In addition, regardless of the budget available
for an evaluation exercise, it is expected that competitive process will be followed
in order to select the most technically and financially sound provider.

Implementing the evaluation

Before beginning the evaluation, the full desk study, relevant
documentation and lists of documents and key stakeholders are provided to the
evaluation team. The evaluation is typically launched during an entrance meeting
to Headquarters, or to the offices of the field entity commissioning the evaluation,
during which time the Evaluation Reference Group convenes. The evaluation
team also conducts a number of initial interviews with key UNESCO stakeholders
to further their understanding of the evaluation and expectations.

Shortly thereafter, the evaluation team prepares an inception report. The
inception report describes the conceptual framework the evaluation team will use
in undertaking the evaluation. It sets out in some detail the evaluation methodology
and contains a work plan indicating the phases in the evaluation with key
deliverables and milestones.

The evaluation team is expected to conduct the evaluation according to the
work plan outlined in the approved inception report. The evaluation team should
inform, and receive the agreement of, the responsible commissioning unit of any
issue likely to have a significant effect on the conduct of the evaluation, such as
the unavailability of a member of the evaluation team or changes in conducting
field visits. It is common for the evaluation team to provide the responsible
commissioning unit with informal, periodic progress reports on the implementation
of the evaluation.

The evaluation team submits a draft evaluation report. The responsible
commissioning unit, in cooperation with the Evaluation Reference Group, reviews
the report and drafts comments. In reviewing the draft, it is important to ensure,
inter alia, the findings address the evaluation criteria and questions defined in the
evaluation scope; that conclusions are well substantiated by the evidence
presented and are logically connected to evaluation findings; and that
recommendations are firmly based on evidence and conclusions and their
implementation feasible.
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(V) The evaluation team submits the final report taking into consideration the
comments received on the draft. The Evaluation Office (for corporate
evaluations) or the responsible sector / field entity (for decentralized evaluations)
approves the final report once determined that quality standards have been met.

(vi) All UNESCO evaluation reports are made public. The Evaluation Office
posts all corporate evaluation reports on the IOS external website. The
responsible UNESCO entity uploads decentralized evaluation reports onto
UNESCO’s Transparency Portal and shares them with donors.

(d) Evaluation Follow-up

0] As it relates to strengthening evaluation use, the effective follow-up to
evaluation recommendations promotes a culture of organizational learning,
improves transparency in the use of resources and enhances accountability for
results.

(i) Corporate evaluation reports contain a management response providing
management’s overall view on the report findings and recommendations. The
management response should be submitted no later than one month after the
completion of the evaluation so that it may be included in the published version of
the final report. An action plan is subsequently developed containing the
accepted recommendations, the planned actions to implement each
recommendation, responsibilities and the expected date of completion. Action
plans are updated by the responsible programme unit twice per year. The
Evaluation Office monitors the progress made in the implementation of evaluation
recommendations and submits status reports in its Annual Report to the Executive
Board, to each meeting of the Oversight Advisory Committee and to meetings of
the Senior Management Team (SMT).

5.3 Investigation Procedures

IOS investigation procedures are described in 10S Investigation Guidelines.

The IOS Investigation Guidelines provide investigators with practical guidance, tools and
information for performing investigations. These Guidelines are based on best practices
as established by the Conference of International Investigators, the Association of
Certified Fraud Examiners (ACFE) and the United Nations Representatives of
Investigations Services (UNRIS).

[1] Refer to Section 2 for definitions of corporate and decentralized évaluations.

6. Guidelines

The UNESCO Evaluation Policy 2014 — 2021 period provides the institutional framework for
strengthening UNESCO'’s overall evaluation system. The policy was endorsed at the

196" session of UNESCO’s Executive Board. An Evaluation Strategy for 2016 — 2018
facilitates the effective implementation of the evaluation policy.

A set of guidance materials reflecting the contents of the evaluation policy and strategy are
regularly updated and made available at the IOS evaluation web site. The guidelines

aim to assist programme sectors and field offices in planning, managing and following up
evaluations

7. Forms
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Not applicable
8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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1.7 UNESCO Field Offices

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Field Coordination (BFC),
which is responsible for this Item (Original: English).

1. Overview

11

1.2

1.3

1.4

15

The principal objective of decentralization is to effectively serve Member States by
responding to their specific needs and particular circumstances, while drawing full benefit
from the wealth of knowledge, experience and ideas accumulated or generated
throughout the world. It is also intended to ensure the active presence of the
Organization at the country level along with other Agencies, Funds and Programmes of
the United Nations system and relevant intergovernmental and non-governmental
organizations.

UNESCO Field Offices, also referred to as UNESCO's field network, are decentralized
organizational units that are an integral part of the UNESCO Secretariat and as such
serve the same objectives and functions as units based at Headquarters. The UNESCO
field network is based on a two-tier approach: “Cluster offices” (Tier 1), serving a small
number of Member States in all UNESCO'’s fields of competence, backed by specialized
regional bureaux (Tier 2). In addition, and as an exception to this system, national
offices exist in a number of countries in response to specific circumstances and local
needs.

While maintaining the basic decentralization structure, a number of country-level
antennas were established, reporting to the corresponding cluster offices.

The UNESCO field network is managed by BFC responsible for the overall management,
administration and security of field offices.

The list of UNESCO Field Offices is provided in AM Appendix 1.7A and the list of Cluster
Offices in AM Appendix 1.7B.

2. Definitions

2.1

2.2

Cluster Offices are the main platform of delivery for all UNESCO activities and are
multidisciplinary in nature, ideally with each sector represented in the office. Their
Directors have the authority to represent the Organization in a group (cluster) of Member
States, except in those Member States where there is a national office (in such case, the
Director/Head of the national office has the representational function). The Director of
the cluster office, while often having a background in a particular field, mostly plays an
executive role, implementing the programme through programme specialists covering the
various sectors. This programme is the result of consultations with each government,
national commission and other partners. National offices established within the cluster
participate in the elaboration of that programme through a collegial approach between
heads of offices.

Regional Bureaux (or regional advisors) provide expertise to Member States in the
region, and support to cluster and national offices, providing quality knowledge and
technical input into programmes. They are also responsible for regional programmes in
that particular sector, which are implemented through the cluster and national offices and
drawn up by means of regional consultations. Regional bureaux are almost always
located in a cluster office and as such benefit from staff in a variety of fields, but often
have additional staff in their specific sector. In some cases, the regional bureau may
operate as a network, with programme specialists located in more than one cluster
office in the region. Staff with regional responsibilities, based in offices other than
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2.3

2.4

2.5

2.6

Regional bureaux, act first and foremost as programme specialists and answer to the
Director/Head of that office. Regional bureaux do not oversee the cluster and national
offices in hierarchical terms.

National Offices or single-country offices implement a national programme, which
results from consultations within that country. Their Directors/Heads have
representational authority for one Member State only. The National offices assist in
devising the programme of the cluster office. National offices are time bound and reflect
precisely defined local needs: E-9 countries, countries in transition or countries
experiencing conflict or other special situations.

Antennas are set up in countries where the Organization’s presence is considered
essential and where there is no established structure in order to implement specific
extrabudgetary projects, or to serve as liaison with the United Nations Country Team
(UNCT) and national authorities, and to follow-up on the implementation of UNESCO
activities. UNESCO antennas do not have representational functions.

Liaison Offices ensure sustainable relations with the United Nations organs, funds and
programmes and with United Nations specialized agencies as well as with,
intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations based in their respective duty
stations. They also foster inter-agency cooperation, collaboration and exchanges with
other UN system organizations. They represent UNESCO in all relevant UN system fora.

The Bureau of Field Coordination (BFC) assures the overall coordination and
management of the network of field offices. Furthermore, it oversees infrastructure, field
security and, in collaboration with BFM/FOS, administrative and support services of the
network of field offices. It provides guidance or facilitates harmonization efforts by
UNCTs, such as common services, alignment of administrative practices and, when
appropriate, common premises. BFC supervises the Directors and Heads of field offices
who report to BFC on the use of operating and field security costs and overall office and
human resources management.

3. Policies

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

In 1999, the General Conference approved the basic policy for the rational
implementation of decentralization (30 C/Resolution 83). This policy is based on the
twofold premise that UNESCO is one organization, with one overall mission, and that the
central criterion for its performance is its impact on, and relevance to, its Member
States. Decentralization was a tool, not an end; a means to ensure that UNESCO
designs and implements programmes that, although global in scope, are suited to the
needs and specific circumstances of Member States, with particular attention to
developing countries and their local socio-economic, geographical, cultural and political
contexts.

By decision 159 EX/Decision 3.1.2, the Executive Board endorsed principles, in particular
those related to the ‘cluster office strategy”, and criteria relating to the rational
implementation of UNESCQO’s decentralization strategy (159 EX/5). A Decentralization
Action Plan for the implementation of the new decentralization strategy, outlining the main
reform directives, was approved by the Executive Board at its 160th session in fall 2000
(160 EX/Decision 3.1.2). In spring 2001, the Executive Board approved a further
reorganized decentralized structure and additional principles with regard to adequate
delegation of financial and programme management authority to the field offices, in
cooperation with National Commissions, and in increasing the capacity of these offices to
formulate, implement and evaluate programmes and projects (161 EX/Decision 3.1.2).

DG/Note/01/08, dated 27 April 2001 and entitled “Decentralization reform: clustering of
Member States” announced, in line with the Decentralization Action Plan, the structure of
the field offices network and in particular the clustering of the Member States. It also
gave form to a new holistic and integrated approach to field management. The structure
of the field network is attached in AM Appendix 1.7A.

DG/Note/01/17 dated 20 July 2001 and entitled “The Bureau of Field Coordination
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(BFC)” established the BFC’s mandate and functions, and clearly spelled out the
changeover from the previous “parent sector mode” of management of field offices to
management of the field offices network by BFC.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1 The network of field offices serves as a common platform for all programme sectors to

4.2

4.3

4.4

which Directors/Heads of field offices are accountable. In addition, they have direct
reporting lines to a number of Corporate Services. Within this structure, BFC together
with relevant programme sectors and Corporate Services will coordinate the
performance assessment of Directors/Heads of field offices, through Performance
Agreements defining biennial key expected results in all aspects of their functions with
corresponding performance indicators.

Accountability of Directors/Heads of field offices extends to the representation, image,
programme development and implementation in all fields of competence of UNESCO, as
well as human and financial management. It includes the following areas:

(a) Effective and results-oriented implementation of programme activities as well as
regular reporting thereon;

(b) Effective management of office and premises;

(c) Human resource management;

(d) Management of regular and extrabudgetary financial resources;

(e) Mobilization, implementation and evaluation of extrabudgetary funds;
(f)  Management of premises;

(g) Field security management (see HR Manual Chapter 17 “Staff Security” and HR
Manual Appendix 17B “Table of Delegated Authority and Accountability - Field
Security Management”);

(h) Participation in activities of UN Team Country Team to ensure that UNESCO’s
priorities are reflected within the UN common country programming processes;

(i) Representation and advocacy on UNESCOQO’s overall mandate and priorities;

() Building partnerships with governmental, non-governmental, development and civil
society partners and the private sector;

(k) Consultation and dialogue with National Commissions;
()  Observance of Code of Conduct for international civil servants.

Directors/Heads of field offices submit end of assignment and entry on duty reports to
DIR/BFC in line with existing instructions and templates developed in BFC.

A list of UNESCO Directors/Heads of field offices is prepared regularly by BFC and
distributed throughout the Secretariat.

5. Procedures and Processes

5.1

Existing administrative rules and procedures, Staff Regulations and Staff Rules apply
both to Headquarters and to established offices away from Headquarters. Some may be
complemented by additional rules and procedures that take into account circumstances
of relevance to the field. These rules and procedures are incorporated or referenced in
the Administrative Manual and Human Resource Manual.

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms
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Not applicable
8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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1.7A List of Established UNESCO Units away from Headquarters

Current decentralized network: 53 entities (49 Field Offices, 4 Liaison Offices)

26 Cluster Offices (of which 8 are also Regional Bureaux)
22 National Offices (of which 1 - Santiago - is also a Regional Bureau)

1 Regional Bureau (Venice)

4 Liaison Offices (Geneva, New York, Brussels and Addis Ababa)

UNESCO Field Offices

Cluster/Regional
Offices’ Antennas
(RP running costs)

AFRICA

15 Offices:
9 Clusters
Offices
5 National
Offices
1 Liaison office

Abuja

Accra — Cluster Office

Cotonou; Abidjan;
Monrovia

Addis Ababa — Liaison office

Bamako — Cluster Office

Ouagadougou

Brazzaville

Bujumbura

Dakar — Cluster Office & RB
for ED

Dar es Salaam — Cluster | Antananarivo
Office
Harare — Cluster Office
Kinshasa
Libreville — Cluster Office
Maputo
Nairobi — Cluster Office & | Kigali; Djibouti
RB for SC
Windhoek — Cluster Office Luanda
Yaoundé — Cluster Office Ndjamena
ARAB STATES | Amman
Beirut — Cluster Office & RB
8 Offices: for ED
4 Cluster [Cairo - Cluster Office & RB
Offices for SC
éﬁ.N ational Doha — Cluster Office
1ces Baghdad (in Amman)
Rabat — Cluster Office
Ramallah
Khartoum Juba
A S 1 A & |Almaty— Cluster Office
PACIFIC Apia — Cluster Office Port Moresby
Bangkok — Cluster Office &
14 Offices: RB for ED
7 Cluster |Beijing — Cluster Office
Offices Dhaka
7 National | Hanoi
Offices Islamabad

Jakarta — Cluster Office &
RB for SC

Dili

Kabul
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Kathmandu
New Delhi — Cluster Office
Phnom Penh
Tashkent
Tehran — Cluster Office
LATIN Brasilia
AMERICA & | Guatemala
CARRIBEAN Havana — Cluster Office & | Santo Domingo
RB for CLT
11 Offices: Kingston — Cluster Office
5 Cluster |Lima
Offices Mexico City
6 National | Montevideo— Cluster Office | Buenos Aires (Villa
Offices & RB for SC Ocampo)
Port-au-Prince
Quito — Cluster Office
San José — Cluster Office
Santiago de Chile & RB for
ED
EUROPE & | Moscow — Cluster Office
NORTH
AMERICA Geneva — Liaison Office
5 Offices:
'New York — Liaison Office
1 Cluster Office
1 Regional |Venice— RB for SC & CLT | Sarajevo
Bureau
3 Liaison |Brussels=Liaison Office
Offices
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1.7B Composition of Clusters

Cluster Cluster List of Countries
Office

Africa

Western Africa Accra Benin, Céte d'lvoire, Ghana,
Liberia, Nigeria, Sierra Leone,Togo
(7 MS)

Central and |[Bamako Burkina Faso, Guinea, Mali, Niger

Western Africa (4 MS)

Central and |Dakar Cape Verde, Gambia, Guinea-

Western Africa Bissau, Senegal (4 MS)

Eastern Africa D ar e s |Comoros, Madagascar, Mauritius,

Salaam Seychelles, United Republic of

Tanzania (5 MS)

Southern Africa Harare Botswana, Malawi, Mozambique,
Zambia, Zimbabwe (5 MS)

Central and |Libreville Congo, DR Congo, Equatorial

Western Africa Guinea, Gabon, Sao Tome and
Principe (5 MS)

Eastern Africa Nairobi Burundi, Eritrea, Kenya, Rwanda,
Somalia, Uganda, Djibouti (7 MS)

Southern Africa Windhoek |Angola, Lesotho, Namibia, South
Africa, Swaziland (5 MS)

Central and |Yaoundé Cameroon, Central African

Western Africa Republic, Chad (3 MS)

Arab Region

Middle East Beirut Iraq, Jordan, Lebanon, Syria,
Autonomous Palestinian Territories
(4 MS)

Red Sea Cairo Egypt, Libyan Arab Jamabhiriya,
Sudan (3 MS)

Gulf Doha Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar,
Saudi Arabia, United Arab
Emirates, Yemen (7 MS)

Maghreb Rabat Algeria, Mauritania, Morocco,
Tunisia (4 MS)

Asia and the

Pacific

Central Asia Almaty Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan,
Uzbekistan (4 MS)

Pacific Apia Australia, Cook Islands, Fiji,
Kiribati, Marshall Islands,
Federated States of Micronesia,
Nauru, New Zealand, Niue, Palau,
Papua New Guinea, Samoa,
Solomon Islands, Tonga, Tuvalu,
Vanuatu (16 MS)

South - East Asia |Bangkok Cambodia, PDR Lao, Myanmar,
Thailand, Singapore, Viet Nam (6
MS)

North - East Asia  |Beijing People's Rebublic of China, DPR

Korea, Japan, Mongolia, Republic
of Korea (5 MS)
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West Asia

Latin America and the

South - East Asia |Jakarta Brunei Darussalam, Indonesia,
Malaysia, Philippines, Timor Leste
(5 MS)

South Asia New Delhi [Bangladesh, Bhutan, India,
Maldives, Nepal, Sri Lanka (6 MS)

Central and South- | Tehran Afghanistan, Islamic Republic of

Iran, Pakistan, Turkmenistan (4
MS)

Europe

Europe and North America

Moscow

Caribbean

Caribbean Havana Cuba, Dominican Republic, Haiti (3
MS)

Caribbean Kingston Antigua and Barbuda, Bahamas,
Barbados, Belize, Dominica,
Grenada, Guyana, Jamaica, Saints
Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia, Saint
Vincent and the Grenadines,
Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago (13
MS)

MERCOSUR + |Montevideo |Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Paraguay,

Chile Uruguay (5 MS)

Andean countries | Quito Bolivia, Colombia, Ecuador, Peru,
Venezuela (5 MS)

Central America San José Costa Rica, EIl Salvador,

Guatemala, Honduras, Mexico,
Nicaragua, Panama (7 MS)

Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus,
Republic of Moldova, Russian
Federation (5 MS)
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1.8 Advisory and Experts Committees

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Office of International Standards and
Legal Affairs (LA), which is responsible for this Item. (Original: English)

1. Overview

1.1 Advisory and expert committees are committees of specialists established for the
purpose of advising the Organization on special questions within their competence or
purview. They are governed respectively by the provisions of Parts V and VI of the
Regulations for the general classification of the various categories of meetings convened
by UNESCO (“the Regulations”).

2. Definitions

2.1 Advisory committees (Category V meetings) are standing committees governed by
statutes approved by the Executive Board and are responsible for advising the
Organization on special questions within their competence or on the preparation or
implementation of its programme in a particular sphere (Article 47 of the Requlations).

2.2 Expert committees (Category VI meetings) are committees set up on an ad hoc basis
(not a “standing” basis) to submit suggestions or advice to the Organization on the
preparation or implementation of its programme in a particular field or on any other
matters within its purview (Article 56 of the Regulations).

3. Policies

3.1 Advisory and expert committees are established only when the intellectual, technical or
varied nature of the advice required makes it unlikely that consultations with sources
such as National Commissions, IGOs or NGOs will provide the necessary information.
The Programme and Budget contains resolutions or work plans and financial provisions
for both the continuation of existing committees and the establishment of new
committees.

3.2 The statutes of advisory committees define the programme area upon which advice will
be requested and the terms of reference of each committee (if not so defined, the terms
of reference are fixed by the Director-General). They fix the number of members and
the duration of their terms of office, and typically include provisions concerning
observers, the date of expiration if any, of the committee, and other provisions relevant
to the committee concerned. Members of advisory committees are specialists who
serve, in accordance with the statute of the relevant committee, either in an individual
capacity or as representatives of international NGOs particularly qualified in the field with
which a committee is concerned.

3.3 Expert committees do not have formal statutes. Their terms of reference are defined in
the Programme and Budget. If not so defined, they are fixed by the Director-General.
Members of expert committees serve in a private capacity.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1 The Director-General is given a broad range of responsibilities in respect of advisory and
expert committees as detailed in Parts V and VI of the Regulations. The Assistant
Director-General (ADG) in charge advises the Director-General on the actions to be
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taken and the decisions to be made. The responsible unit does the required preparatory
work and supports the work of the committee as needed.

5. Procedures and Processes

5.1 Advisory committees

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)
(9)

(h)
(i)

The statutes are drafted by the responsible unit, in cooperation with LA, and are
approved by the ADG concerned. The draft is submitted to the Executive Board
for approval. (See AM Item 11.4, Executive Board documents).

Membership. The geographical regions or states from which members of an
advisory committee are to be selected, if not specified in the statutes, are
determined by the Director-General on the advice of the responsible ADG.
Members of advisory committees are appointed in accordance with criteria set out
in the statute in connection with matters such as the qualifications and functions of
the persons to be appointed.

Advisory committees are convened by the Director-General in accordance with the
provisions of their statutes. The Director-General draws up the agenda of
upcoming meetings, generally after consulting the Chairperson of the committee
concerned. The Director-General may also invite committee members to propose
the inclusion of additional items in the agenda. The agenda is prepared by the
responsible unit and approved by the responsible ADG concerned.

Officers. Each advisory committee elects a Chairman and other officers as
provided in the statutes. The Director-General may decide to call meetings of the
officers only, in lieu of or in addition to plenary meetings, when the questions on the
agenda or budgetary restrictions make this desirable.

Rules of Procedure. Advisory committees adopt their Rules of Procedure, which
are submitted to the Director-General for approval. Rules of Procedure may not
contradict the terms of the statutes.

The Secretariat of an advisory committee is provided by the responsible unit.

Reports. No minutes are kept of meetings of advisory committees. For each
committee the rapporteur, assisted by the secretary, prepares a draft of the report
for approval by the committee. The report is as succinct as possible and does not
attempt to reproduce the debates; it concentrates on the recommendations to the
Director-General and the arguments in their support. Advisory committee reports
are addressed to the Director-General, who decides what use shall be made of
them. A recommendation on the subject is prepared by the responsible unit and,
after approval by the ADG concerned, is forwarded to the Director-General. The
Executive Board is informed of the results of the committee’s proceedings,
normally by the inclusion of a summary, prepared by the responsible unit, in the
Director-General’s Report on the Activities of the Organization (see AM Chapter
6).

The travel and subsistence expenses of members of advisory committees are paid
by UNESCO in accordance with the provisions of AM Chapter 15.

Discontinuation of committees. Whenever an advisory committee has completed

the work foreseen under its mandate, or it no longer needs to meet, and has
therefore ceased to function, the responsible unit, after consultation with LA, so
informs the Director-General and proposes that the committee be discontinued. [f
the Director-General accepts the proposal, he/she informs the Executive Board of
his/her decision, and takes whatever action is necessary, in conformity with the
terms of the statutes, for discontinuing the committee.

5.2 Expert committees

(a)

The responsible unit prepares the draft of the terms of reference, which may be
included in the Draft Programme and Budget or fixed by the Director-General, on
the advice of the responsible ADG. Expert committees do not have a standing
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existence. They meet only to consider a specific matter and to submit their report
thereon to the Director-General.

(b) Membership. All members of expert committees serve in a private capacity. They
are appointed individually, either by the Director-General, who may consult
Member States or National Commissions or ask them to submit names of suitable
persons, or by governments at the Director-General’s invitation. As a general rule,
members of expert committees are nationals of Member States or Associate
Members of UNESCO, or nationals of Member States of the United Nations but the
Director-General may invite other individuals under conditions specified in
Article 59, Paragraph 6 of the Regulations.

(c) Expert committees are convened by the Director-General pursuant to the
Programme and Budget approved by the General Conference. The Director-
General draws up the agenda of the committees, which are not submitted to the
expert committee for approval. The Director-General may, however, invite
committee members to propose the inclusion of additional agenda items. The
agenda is prepared by the responsible unit and approved by the responsible ADG
concerned.

(d) Rules of procedure. The Director-General draws up the Rules of Procedure, which
are not submitted to the expert committees for adoption.

(e) FEindings. Expert committees submit their findings in the form a report to the
Director-General, who decides what use shall be made of them. A
recommendation on the subject is prepared by the responsible unit and, after
approval by the ADG concerned, is forwarded to the Director-General.

(f)  The travel and subsistence expenses of members of expert committees are paid
by UNESCO in accordance with the provisions of AM Chapter 15.

(g) No formal discontinuation procedure is necessary as expert committees are
established on an ad hoc basis on specific matters.

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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1.9 Languages of the Organization

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Sector for for the Management of
Support Services, Division of Conferences, Languages and Documents (MSS/CLD), which is
responsible for this Item. This Item applies to Headquarters and Field Offices. (Original:
English)

1. Overview

1.1 This Item specifies the languages used:
(a) for different types of meetings;
(b) inthe Secretariat, for outgoing correspondence and for contractual arrangements.

2. Definitions

2.1 General Conference

(a) The working languages of the General Conference are Arabic, Chinese, English,
French, Russian and Spanish (see Rules 50, 51, 52 and 53 of the Rules of
Procedure of the General Conference).

(b) The official languages are Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Hindi, Italian,
Portuguese, Russian and Spanish (see Rules 54 and 55).

2.2 Executive Board

The working languages of the Board are Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Russian and
Spanish (see Rule 21 of the Rules of Procedure of the Executive Board).

2.3 Secretariat

(a) At Headquarters and away from Headquarters the working languages are English
and French.

(b) Away from Headquarters one of the other official languages might also be used as
a working language.

2.4 Outgoing correspondence

(a) To Member States and National Commissions the languages to be used in letters
are given in the Correspondence Manual and referred to in AM Item 9.4.

(b) To international organizations and individuals, see also AM ltem 9.4.

(c) Contractual arrangements are drafted in the working languages of the
Secretariat; contracts and other correspondence to nationals of the host country at
Headquarters are drafted in French.

(d) Documents and public information material. The languages to be used for
documents and public information material are specified in AM Chapter 8 and
AM Chapter 13 respectively.

(e) Programme meetingspy
® Categories | and Il Meetings
a. For Categories | and Il meetings (see AM ltem 11.5, paragraph 2.1) to
which all Member States are invited as chief participants, the working
languages, in which documents and interpretation are provided are
Arabic, Chinese, English, French, Russian and Spanish.

b. For Categories | and Il meetings to which all Member States are not
invited as chief participants (e.g., regional meetings), the use of one or
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(ii)

(i)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(Vi)

more of the six languages indicated in Paragraph a. above may be
dispensed with, provided it is not required by any of the states invited as
chief participants. For Category Il meetings which concern statutory
bodies such as the Intergovernmental Committee for Physical Education
and Sport, International Coordination Council of the Programme on Man
and the Biosphere, Intergovernmental Council of the International
Hydrological Programme, Intergovernmental Oceanographic
Commission, etc., English, Arabic, Chinese, French, Russian and
Spanish should be provided with simultaneous interpretation and for
translations. It is not possible to dispense with any of these languages
(either for simultaneous interpretation or for the documentation) unless it
is certain that the members of these bodies are able to express
themselves in English or in French. This applies as well to meetings of
the Steering Committees of these bodies.

For Categories Il to VIII meetings (see AM Item 11.5, paragraph 2.1), any
of the six languages indicated in Paragraph 2.4 (e) (i) may be chosen as
working languages, the sole criterion being to facilitate the effective
participation in the meeting of all those officially entitled to participate. In the
advanced planning stages, adequate budgetary provision must be made to
allow for the use of as many languages as may be necessary to ensure the
greatest effectiveness of the meeting, excluding considerations of prestige.

For all regional meetings concerning Arabic speaking countries, the use of
Arabic is required. The use of English and/or French may be dispensed with
only if it is quite certain that none of the participants needs them.

For all meetings in or concerning Latin America, the use of Spanish is
required. The use of English and/or French may be dispensed with only if it is
quite certain that none of the participants needs them.

For all meetings which are held in the region of Asia and the Pacific or which
are concerned with this part of the world, the use of Chinese and Russian is
required in addition to English and French. None of these languages may be
dispensed with unless it is quite certain that no participants need them.

For all meetings in which one or more chief participants come from a country
where Arabic, Chinese, Russian or Spanish is used it should be foreseen to
use these languages, unless it is quite certain that such participant(s) will use
English or French.

Other languages (applicable irrespective of the type of meeting)

a. When meetings are held away from Headquarters in a country whose
language is not one of the working languages officially foreseen for the
meeting, interpretation from and/or into the local language, and
documents in that language, may be provided by the host body at its
expense. However, arrangements for interpretation (see AM Item 11.8),
and for the distribution of documents (see AM Item 8.10), in the local
language are subject to prior consultation with the Division of
Conferences, Languages and Documents (MSS/CLD).

b. When meetings are organized jointly by UNESCO and another
specialized agency, or by another body on behalf of UNESCO, other
languages normally used as working languages by that body may be
used. The sharing of responsibility, technically and financially, between
UNESCO and the other body in respect of such languages is defined in
the agreement or contract between them.

n A distinction may be made in the rules of procedure of a meeting (see sasic rexs) between
working languages for purposes of interpretation and those in which documents are issued. It
is sometimes sufficient to issue working documents in English and/or French, while providing
interpretation in Arabic, Chinese, Russian or Spanish as well. It may also sometimes be
sufficient to provide interpretation from Arabic, Chinese, Russian or Spanish but not into them,
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thereby assisting participants who can understand, for example, English or French but are not
able to express themselves freely in those languages.

3. Policies

Not applicable

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities
Not applicable

5. Procedures and Processes
Not applicable

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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2.1 Medium-Term Strategy

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Strategic Planning (BSP),
which is responsible for this Item (Original: English).

1. Overview

1.1 The Medium-Term Strategy (C/4 document) sets out the mission, functions,
programming principles, main strategic thrusts and strategic objectives of UNESCO over
a six-year period covering three biennial programme and budget periods. The Medium-
Term Strategy is a rolling strategy, allowing if needed for a review every two years by
the General Conference so as to reflect developments pertaining to the Organization’s
fields of competence, taking also into account any proposals that the Director-General
may make and any recommendations that the Executive Board may formulate in this
respect. The Medium-Term Strategy provides an overarching frame of reference for
programming and evaluating the Organization’s activities in pursuit of the biennial
Programme and Budget (C/5 document).

2. Definitions
Not Applicable

3. Policies

3.1 Basic Texts
Constitution

Article IV B. 2: “The General Conference shall determine the policies and the main lines of
work of the Organization. It shall take decisions on programmes submitted to it by
the Executive Board.”

Article V B. 6(a): “The Executive Board [...] shall examine the programme of work for the
Organization [and corresponding budget estimates[1]] submitted to it by the
Director-General in accordance with paragraph 3 of Article VI and shall submit
them with such recommendations as it considers desirable to the General
Conference.”

Article V1.3 (a): “The Director-General [...] shall prepare for submission to the Board a draft
programme of work for the Organization [with corresponding budget estimates] .”

3.2 Draft Medium-Term Strategy

(a) Content and presentation

0] The Draft Medium-Term Strategy (Draft C/4 document) contains the
Director-General’s proposals concerning the guidelines for UNESCOQO’s action
over a six-year period; these guidelines are derived from the Organization’s
general aims as set out in its Constitution and are informed by an analysis of
prevailing world problems and challenges, as they relate to or impact the
Organization’s fields of competence.

(i) The present Medium-Term Strategy is structured around a set of
Overarching Objectives (O0), designed to respond to specific global
challenges and representing UNESCQO'’s core competencies in the multilateral
system, and a limited number of Strategic Programme Objectives (SPO),
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which translate how the Overarching Objectives will be pursued in a thematic
manner and through sectoral and/or intersectoral action. The Medium-Term
Strategy may designate global priorities;z that need to be pursued in all
UNESCO’s fields of competence throughout the C/4 period, and may also
call for specific and targeted interventions in favour of population groups or
groups of countries that are particularly vulnerable or are most in needg. The
Medium-Term Strategy applies throughout a strict results orientation: for
each overarching objective and each strategic programme objective,
measurable expected outcomes are formulated, thus providing the entry
point for UNESCO'’s results-based management (RBM) approach that will
continue seamlessly to the C/5 expected results and the work plans.

(b)  Policies and process guidance

(i)  The Draft C/4 document is drawn up by the Director-General on the basis of
guidance provided by the Executive Board and/or the General Conference,
and taking into account the results of consultation with Member States,
Associate Members, organizations of the United Nations system, as well as
intergovernmental organizations (IGOs) and international non-governmental
organizations (NGOs) maintaining official relations with UNESCO,.

(i)  The Draft Medium-Term Strategy is submitted by the Director-General to the
Executive Board, which in turn submits it with its comments to the General
Conference for approval.

(i) The Director-General may issue addenda or corrigenda to the Draft C/4
document, if the circumstances so require and within the time-limits laid down
in the Rules of Procedure of the General Conference, i.e. at least twenty-five
days before the opening of the session (Rule 11.1). Proposals for
adjustments to the Draft Medium-Term Strategy (Draft C/4 document) are
prepared by the Director-General, where necessary, in the light of the
evolution of new challenges and the results of the continuous evaluation or
assessment of ongoing programmes.

w The C/4 document includes no resource indications. These are contained in the biennial
Programme and Budget (C/5 document) and are determined by the General Conference every
two years.

2 The current designated global priorities are Africa and gender equality.

i Currently, youth, the least developed countries (LDCs), the small island developing States
(SIDS) and, more generally, disadvantaged and excluded groups.

] The provisions of AM Item 2.2, paragraph 5.1 concerned with the elaboration of the detailed
framework for the preparation of the Draft Programme and Budget apply mutatis mutandis to
the preparation of the Medium-Term Strategy.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1 Preparation of the Draft Medium-Term Strategy: main roles, authorities and
accountabilities. The preparation of the Draft Medium-Term Strategy is a Secretariat-
wide activity in which all sectors, bureaux and offices at and away from Headquarters
participate.

(a) Following guidance provided by the General Conference and the Executive Board,
the Director-General issues instructions for the preparation of the Draft C/4
document, and reviews and approves the main lines of emphasis and the content
of the document before it is finalized.

(b) Each ADG and Director of Sector/Bureau/Office at Headquarters formulates his or
her suggestions, including on priority areas of intervention, measurable expected
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(c)

outcomes and other key substantive and programmatic issues, with due
consideration given to the various contributions emanating from the consultation
process referred to in Paragraphs 3.2 (b) (i) and 4.1 (c). Each ADG and Director
of Sector/Bureau/Office at Headquarters drafts texts relating to the parts of the
strategy falling within his or her purview, in accordance with the instructions of the
Director-General, drawing as appropriate on inputs from the UNESCO
decentralized network (Field Offices and Category 1 Institutes) and comments by
other UNESCO entities such as its intergovernmental programmes (IBSP, IGCP,
IHP, IFAP, IOC, MAB, MOST). In order to bring to bear UNESCQ’s comparative
advantage in addressing complex contemporary problems, a strong emphasis is
expected to be placed on intersectoral and interdisciplinary engagement as an
integral part of the programming process. Finally, proposals in respect of each
SPO should contain built-in normative, policy and technical/operational components
and their linkages, integrate the entire range of UNESCO'’s functions at all levels
and provide for both upstream and downstream interventions. Specifically, each
SPO should incorporate, as appropriate, dimensions of evidence-based policy
advice, normative and standard-setting activities, research and foresight, policy
advice, benchmarking, monitoring and evaluation as well as country-level
operational engagement, in particular institutional and human capacity-building.

The Bureau of Strategic Planning (BSP) makes suggestions to the Director-
General as to the format, content and structure of the Draft C/4 document and
more generally as to the guidelines on the preparation of the document, including
the roadmap and timetable for the entire process. It carries out preliminary studies
and prepares the consultations referred to in Paragraph 3.2 (b) (i) above, including
the regional consultations of National Commissions for UNESCO in collaboration
with the Division of National Commissions and Civil Society (ERI/NCS). In addition,
BSP analyzes the replies received from Member States, IGOs and NGOs and
produces a summary of them which is presented to the Executive Board, together
with the reports of the five regional consultations of National Commissions, at the
same time as the Director-General’s preliminary proposals for the Draft C/4
document. The views expressed by Member States, IGOs and NGOs in their
written replies to the consultation document, as well as the reports of the five
regional consultations of National Commissions for UNESCO, are also brought to
the attention of the sectors/bureaux/offices concerned. BSP also ensures the
overall coordination of the preparation by programme Sectors of their
contributions, including intersectoral coordination. Lastly, BSP analyses, finalizes
and integrates the texts proposed by the various sectors and services.

4.2 Suggested amendments to the Draft Medium-Term Strategy (Draft C/4 document)

4.3

(a)
(b)

(c)
(d)

The recommendations of the Executive Board established after examination of the
Draft Medium-Term Strategy are issued as a General Conference document.

Suggested amendments by Member States and Associate Members are
submitted in the form of draft resolutions. Each draft resolution is published in
extenso as a separate document in the C/DR series, with such comments as the
Director-General may deem appropriate. Draft resolutions must be circulated to
Member States and Associate Members in the working languages of the General
Conference within the time-limits specified in the Rules of Procedure of the
General Conference, i.e. at least twenty-four hours before the opening of the
meeting that will consider them (Rule 79.2).

Observations of organizations in the United Nations system are set out by BSP in a
Conference document.

Observations of IGOs, other than those in the United Nations system, and NGOs
are brought by BSP to the attention of the sectors/bureaux/offices concerned. A
General Conference document is not generally prepared concerning the
observations of IGOs (other than those in the United Nations system) or NGOs.

Consideration and adoption by the General Conference of the Draft Medium-Term
Strategy
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(a)

(b)

Examination by the General Conference of the Draft Medium-Term Strateqy or
proposals for adjustments to the Draft Strategy

After consideration of the Draft Medium-Term Strategy prepared by the Director-
General, the Executive Board submits it to the General Conference with such
recommendations as it considers desirable. The General Conference examines the
Draft Medium-Term Strategy and the proposals for adjustments to the Strategy
and related documents to determine the main lines of work and the objectives of
the Organization in plenary meetings and within one or more commissions. The
General Conference adopts a resolution on the Medium-Term Strategy, including
any adjustments to the Draft Strategy emanating from the deliberations of the
commissions.

Supporting documents

The main documents examined by the General Conference in connection with its
review of the Draft Medium-Term Strategy or proposals for adjustments to the
Draft Strategy include:

(i)  The recommendations by the Executive Board on the Draft Medium-Term
Strategy or proposals for adjustments to the Strategy;

(i)  The report by the Director-General on the activities of the Organization
during the previous biennium (C/3 document);

(i)  The report by the Director-General on the execution of the ongoing
programme adopted by the General Conference (EX/4 document), and other
assessments or evaluation instruments such as the biennial evaluation report
on the activities and results of all UNESCO decentralized bodies, or previous
C/3 documents;

(iv) The amendments submitted by Member States and Associate Members
concerning the Draft Medium-Term Strategy or the proposals for
adjustments to the Draft Strategy; amendments suggested by Member
States and Associate Members may be subject to prior examination and
consolidation by a drafting group established for that purpose by the General
Conference;

(v) The observations of the organizations in the United Nations system on the

Draft Medium-Term Strategy or proposals for adjustments to the Draft
Strategy (information document).

4.4 Approved Medium-Term Strategy

(a)

(b)

(c)

Finalization of the Approved Medium-Term Strateqy

Immediately after the end of the session of the General Conference, BSP finalizes
the Medium-Term Strategy, reflecting the modifications and adjustments approved
by the General Conference.

A policy, programming and evaluation framework

The Approved Medium-Term Strategy serves as the basis for biennial
programming and the implementation and evaluation of the Organization’s
activities. See 34 C/4, as approved by 34 C/Resolution 1. UNESCO’s strategic
programme objectives are evaluated on a mandatory basis every six years, in line
with the time-frame of the Medium-Term Strategy. The Approved C/4 document
also provides a frame of reference for the formulation of regional strategies, which
are intended to adapt UNESCO’s global strategies to local features, conditions and
initiatives.

Distribution

The provisions regarding the distribution of printed copies of the Medium-Term
Strategy are the same as those applying to the Programme and Budget document
(see AM ltem 2.2, paragraph 5.5 (c)). The full text of the current Medium-Term
Strategy is available online and can be accessed here.

5. Procedures and Processes
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Not applicable

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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2.2 Programme and Budget (C/5)

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Strategic Planning (BSP),
which is responsible for this Item (Original: English).

1. Overview

11

The biennial Programme and Budget (C/5 document) features, within the framework of
the Approved Medium-Term Strategy (Approved C/4 document), the Organization’s main
interventions and expected results as well as the resources allocated for these purposes
by the General Conference. It extends over two consecutive calendar years (or
biennium), the first being an even year.

2. Definitions

Not applicable

3. Policies
3.1 Basic texts
Constitution

3.2

Article IV B.2: The General Conference shall determine the policies and the main lines of
work of the Organization. It shall take decisions on programmes submitted to it by the
Executive Board.

Article V B.6 (a): The Executive Board [...] shall examine the programme of work for the
Organization and corresponding budget estimates submitted to it by the Director-General
in accordance with paragraph 3 of Article VI and shall submit them with such
recommendations as it considers desirable to the General Conference.

Article VI.3 (a): The Director-General [...] shall prepare for submission to the Board a
draft programme of work for the Organization with corresponding budget estimates.

Financial Requlations, Article 3.

Draft Programme and Budget

(a) Content and presentation

(i)  The Draft Programme and Budget (Draft C/5 document) contains the
proposals of the Director-General for the programme and budget of the
Organization for each two-year period or biennium.

(i) The Draft C/5 document consists of a substantive introduction by the
Director-General, a Draft Appropriation Resolution and main Parts that are
subdivided into Major Programmes (MP) and Chapters, which open each
with a proposed resolution on the major thrusts and expected results of the
programmes and activities planned in the Draft C/5 document. The C/4
strategic programme objectives are translated into a limited set of Biennial
Sectoral priorities (BSP) that set out the programmatic profile for each
Major Programme. Every MP outlines its Main Lines of Action (MLA), with
specific and measurable expected results and performance indicators. At
the beginning of each Major Programme or Chapter, a budget table
summarizes the estimated cost of the entire Major Programme or Chapter
together with a breakdown of funds according to their sources (regular
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(b)

budget or extrabudgetary funds). As the authority for extrabudgetary
resources rests with individual donors and cannot be legislated, the
information related to extrabudgetary funds is merely of an indicative nature.
The budget estimates for the biennium are accompanied by such explanatory
annexes and detailed statements as may be requested by the General
Conference or the Executive Board, and any further annexes or notes that
the Director-General may deem necessary and useful.

Policies and process guidance

(i)  The Draft C/5 document is drawn up by the Director-General on the basis of
the budget preparation procedures set out in the UNESCO Constitution and
the Financial Regulations, and after consultation with Member States,
Associate Members, organizations in the United Nations system, as well as
intergovernmental organizations (IGOs) and international non-governmental
organizations (NGOs) maintaining official relations with UNESCO.

(i) The Draft Programme and Budget is submitted by the Director-General to the
Executive Board, which in turn submits it to the General conference for
decision with such recommendations as the Executive Board considers
desirable (C/6 document series). The Draft Programme and Budget for each
biennium is sent to Member States, Associate Members, organizations in the
United Nations system, as well as IGOs and international NGOs maintaining
official relations with UNESCO. Member States and Associate Members
must receive the Draft Programme and Budget (C/5 document), and also the
recommendations made by the Executive Board (C/6 document), within the
time-limits set out in Financial Regulations 3.4 and 3.6, i.e. at least three
months before the opening of the General Conference session.

(iii)  After the adoption of the Programme and Budget, proposals for adjustments
(i.e., supplementary estimates) may be prepared by the Director-General,
where necessary, for submission to the Executive Board.in the light of the
evolution of new challenges and the results of the continuous evaluation or
assessment of ongoing programmes (Financial Regulations 3.8 and 3.9).

3.3 Main programming principles and approaches

(a)

(b)

(c)

Concentration and prioritisation. The concentration of programme resources on a
limited number of key priorities pertaining to UNESCOQO’s core competencies and a
strong programme focus including through an effective division of labour with
partners are critical to achieve tangible results and to strengthen the impact of
action. Accordingly, the need to target precisely and prioritize UNESCO'’s
programmes should guide all programming exercises.

Intersectorality and interdisciplinarity. Intersectoral and interdisciplinary
engagement should be favoured in order to take advantage of the Organizations
broad mandate which constitutes its main comparative advantage, notably in
coping with complex contemporary challenges that go beyond the current
framework of individual programmes and sectors. Accordingly, where appropriate,
a strong emphasis must be placed on intersectoral and interdisciplinary
engagement as an integral part of the programming process.

Results-based management (RBM). The linkage between the Approved Medium-
Term Strategy and the three successive C/5 documents is ensured through a
rigorous application of the RBM approach in all UNESCO programming processes
and documents. UNESCO'’s established results chain cascades from the C/4
document over the C/5 Programme and Budget to the detailed Work Plans, and
applies for regular and extrabudgetary programmes alike. While the C/4 document
articulates expected outcomes for the 6-year medium-term period, in each
Programme and Budget document, measurable expected results (with
performance indicators and benchmarks), informed by findings from monitoring and
evaluations and intended to contribute to the attainment of UNESCO's strategic
objectives, are defined at the MLA level and also for all programme support or
programme related services (see Results-Based Programming, Management and
Monitoring (RBM) at UNESCO for more details).
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(d)

(e)

(f)

Alignment of extra-budgetary activities with the regular programme. As a rule,
extrabudgetary-funded programmes and projects should further the Organization’s
strategic programme objectives and programme priorities and, more specifically,
should contribute to the pursuit of its expected results. Extrabudgetary resources
are programmed and implemented in full coherence and alignment with the
priorities set by the governing bodies for the regular Programme and Budget.
Policy areas for which extrabudgetary funds should be sought are identified early in
the programme planning process through the elaboration of an “extended” sectoral
strategic framework (SSFs), reflecting the overall results to be attained through
extrabudgetary funding as well as specific objectives for extrabudgetary resource
mobilization. Upon approval by the Director-General, the “extended” SSF is
translated into extrabudgetary programme outlines to be included in a
complementary Additional Programme of targeted/projected extrabudgetary
activities for submission to donors. Through the Additional Programme, which is
UNESCOQO’s main vehicle for extrabudgetary resource mobilization, extrabudgetary
funds are sought to supplement regular programme resources, reinforce the
results expected or achieved, and broaden the scope and impact of action in
Member States (see the Practical Guide to UNESCO’s Extrabudgetary Activities
and the Table on Delegation of Authority and Accountability (ToAA) for UNESCO'’s
Extrabudgetary Activities (AM Appendix 5 A for more details). Budgetary
information on extrabudgetary resources is included in the Programme and Budget
only if the resources are at hand or if firm commitments have been signed by
donors at the time of preparation of the C/5 document.

Human rights-based approach (HRBA). Human rights principles and standards
should guide the programming process at all stages, including design,
implementation, monitoring and evaluation. A human rights-based approach
(HRBA) to programming implies that UNESCO programmes and policies should be
informed by a rights perspective and should further the realization of human rights,
as laid down in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and other international
human rights instruments, in UNESCO’s fields of competence. Programme focus
should be on marginalized, disadvantaged and excluded groups, and should place
emphasis on empowering strategies (see the HRBA resource page for more
information).

Gender mainstreaming. The integration of women’s empowerment and gender
equality perspectives in all UNESCO activities and programmes, regardless of the
budget source (regular or extra-budgetary funds), is to be ensured by a two-
pronged approach which entails both mainstreaming gender equality issues at all
programme levels throughout UNESCO’s programme cycle, from planning to
evaluation, and supporting gender-specific programmes with gender-specific
budgets and results and gender-relevant indicators (see the Gender Equality
resource page for more information). Gender equality is one of UNESCOQO’s current
two designated global priorities together with Africa.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

The preparation of the Draft Programme and Budget is a Secretariat-wide activity in which all
sectors, bureaux and offices at and away from Headquarters participate.

4.1

4.2

The Director-General issues instructions specifying the major priorities, the main

programming principles and approaches, the budgetary framework, including the sectoral

allocations in respect of programme and staff resources, the timetable and other

programming elements to be taken into consideration in the preparation of the Draft
Programme and Budget. At the end of the preparatory process, the Director-General
reviews and approves the main lines of emphasis and the content of the document
before it is finalized.

Each ADG or Director of Sector/Bureau/Office at Headquarters formulates proposals on

future orientations and action by UNESCO, including priority areas of intervention,
expected results at the end of the two-year period, the distribution of the budgetary
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4.3

envelope among MLAs and other substantive and programmatic issues, with due
consideration given to the various contributions emanating from the consultation process
referred to in Paragraphs 3.2 (b) (i) above and 5.1 (b) (i) and (ii) below. Each ADG or
Director of Sector/Bureau/Office at headquarters prepares the texts relating to the parts
of the Programme and Budget for which he or she is responsible, in accordance with the
instructions of the Director-General, drawing as appropriate on inputs from the UNESCO
decentralized network (Field Offices and Category 1 institutes and centers) and
comments by other UNESCO entities such as its intergovernmental programmes (IBSP,
IGCP, IHP, IFAP, IOC, MAB, MOST).

(@) Programme proposals are formulated with due consideration given to offering a
clear medium-term perspective, with explicit linkages to the prevailing C/4
document and based, as appropriate, on a results-based assessment of the
accomplishments thus far with respect to the strategic objectives. The programme
is designed taking into account:

0] developments in the international and regional contexts pertaining to the
Organization’s fields of competence;

(i)  exigencies of United Nations reform, especially at the country level, notably
the requirement for alignment with critical country priorities and harmonization
with United Nations system organizations and other donors;

(i)  the results and outcomes of programme activities, also drawing on the
findings of evaluations and regular monitoring;

(iv) critical factors (programmatic and operational) that could put at risk the
attainment of the expected results, as well as mitigating strategies (see the
Risk Management resource page for more information).

(b) Proposals in respect of each Major Programme should also contain a built-in
linkage between normative, policy and technical/operational tasks, integrate the
entire range of UNESCO'’s functions and provide for both upstream and
downstream interventions. Specifically, each Major Programme should incorporate,
as appropriate, dimensions of evidence-based policy advice, normative and
standard-setting activities, research and foresight, policy advice, benchmarking,
monitoring and evaluation as well as country-level operational engagement, in
particular institutional and human capacity-building. Likewise, each Major
Programme should build on the opportunities for South-South cooperation and
triangular South-South-North cooperation (South-South cooperation involving
Northern partners and donors) and should utilize all possibilities, including the
sharing of best practices and proven methods, provided by these modalities of
programme delivery. Finally, the programme design should integrate sustainability
considerations, bearing in mind factors such as continued relevance and legitimacy,
financial stability over time, continuity of effective management, and ability to
withstand changing conditions, and should as well address possible devolution or
exit strategies taking into consideration alignment with the designated priorities as
well as impact.

The Bureau of Strategic Planning (BSP) makes suggestions to the Director-General as
to the format, content, structure and preparation process of the Draft C/5 document and,
more generally, as to the guidelines on the preparation of the document, including the
roadmap and timetable for the entire process. Within the framework of the guidelines
issued by the Director-General, the preparation of the Draft C/5 document is coordinated
and accompanied through comments and suggestions at its various stages by BSP. BSP
ensures that proposals are in all respects in line with the decision by the Executive Board
on the preparation of the Draft C/5 and with the Director-General’s instructions, and are
consistent with the objectives and priorities set out in the SSF as approved by the
Director-General. BSP also ascertains whether staff allocations are aligned with
programme priorities and that an adequate level of programme resources is earmarked
for decentralized activities taking into account the particular characteristics of sectors
and functions. BSP analyses and finalizes the texts proposed by the various sectors/unit,
ensuring that for each main line of action or programming element the following are
included: expected results and performance indicators and, where appropriate,
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benchmarks, strategies that will be pursued for their attainment, as well as proposed
budgetary allocations under the regular programme and the extrabudgetary resources
available in that context.

(a) BSP prepares the consultations referred to in Paragraph 3.2 (b) (i) and 5.1 (b) (i)
and (ii) above, including the regional consultations of National Commissions for
UNESCO in collaboration with the Division of National Commissions and Civil
Society (ERI/NCS). In addition, BSP analyses the replies received from Member
States, IGOs and NGOs and produces a summary of them which is presented to
the Executive Board, together with the reports of the five regional consultations of
National Commissions, at the same time as the Director-General’s preliminary
proposals for the Draft C/5 document. The full views expressed by Member
States, IGOs and NGOs in their written replies to the consultation document, as
well as the reports of the five regional consultations of National Commissions for
UNESCO, are also brought to the attention of the sectors/bureaux/offices
concerned. At all stages of programme design, BSP ensures that proposals further
the implementation of the C/4 strategic programme objectives and programme
priorities and satisfy the requirement for coherence and consistency, and also that
UNESCO’s main programming principles and approaches as set out in
Paragraph 4.3 above are duly applied. Likewise, BSP prepares analyses
addressing in particular the relevance of the proposed strategies, the quality of the
expected results and the proper balance between these strategies and the means
used to achieve the results. Lastly, BSP suggests criteria for the assessment and
selection of proposed intersectoral actions, promotes engagements and monitors
developments in this respect.

(b) BSP is specifically responsible for preparing a general description of the methods
and techniques to be applied in the preparation of the Draft Programme and
Budget, for establishing the technical estimates of the budgetary requirements for
the biennial period, for articulating the Director-General’s proposals on the budget
ceiling, and for determining the format for presenting budgetary information. BSP
issues general guidelines and standard costs for computing budget estimates,
ensures that proposals fit into the budgetary framework as well as the accuracy
and soundness of the budget estimates, and prepares summary budget tables and
analyses. In cooperation with HRM, BSP also determines whether requests
concerning staffing are justified administratively and feasible budgetarily. Lastly,
BSP is responsible for preparing the text of the Draft Appropriation Resolution (see
AM ltem 2.3).

4.4 10S determines the evaluation priorities for the biennium in consultation with sectors and
BSP. The Evaluation Plan for the C/5 period is prepared by 10S, which ensures
consistency with the Evaluation Strategy and the Medium-Term Evaluation Work Plan.

5. Procedures and Processes

5.1 Elaboration of the detailed framework for the preparation of the Draft Programme
and Budget

(a) Initial discussion and general policy and process guidance by the General
Conference at its preceding session.

The Director-General submits a brief document to the General Conference at each
regular session on process and generic issues that could be addressed during the
initial discussions on the preparation of the ensuing Draft C/5 document. The
General Conference holds separate discussions in each main commission and
provides preliminary indications on the main lines of emphasis of the ensuing Draft
C/5. An information document reflecting the deliberations of the General
Conference on the preparation of the ensuing Draft C/5, as recorded in the
commissions’ reports, is distributed as reference material together with the
guestionnaire on the preparation of the ensuing Draft Programme and Budget, in
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(b)

(c)

(d)

the context of the Director-General’s consultations for the preparation of the Draft
C/5 document described below.

Consultation process

0] Preparation of consultation document/questionnaire. The preparation of the
Draft Programme and Budget begins with the preparation of a working
document, currently in the form of a questionnaire, which aims at informing
and facilitating the consultation process for the preparation of the Draft C/5
document. The consultation document/questionnaire is prepared by the
Bureau of Strategic Planning (BSP), with inputs from Sectors, Corporate
Services and Field Offices. The consultation document/questionnaire puts
forward a number of core issues on which guidance is sought from Member
States and Associate Members as well as their national commissions for
UNESCO and other stakeholders. It also provides information on the
roadmap and timetable for the entire process.

(i)  Consultative process of Member States and Associate Members as well as
their national commissions for UNESCO, other UNESCO entities and IGOs
and NGOs on future programme orientations. The Director-General sends a
circular letter to Member States and Associate Members, as well as to
IGOs and NGOs maintaining official relations with UNESCO, inviting them to
communicate their comments and proposals on the Draft Programme and
Budget for the following biennium. This broad-based consultation of Member
States and Associate Members, IGOs and NGOs maintaining official
relations with UNESCO, as well as the five regional consultative meetings
with the National Commissions for UNESCO preceded by cluster
consultations, are intended to elicit the views, suggestions and comments
from all main stakeholders on key principles, priorities and core issues which
should inform the preparation of the Draft Programme and Budget.

(i)  Sectoral consultations with the decentralized field network. The purpose of
the consultations between each programme sector ADG and the UNESCO
decentralized field network (field offices and category 1 institutes and
centres) is to identify and discuss desirable future programme orientations
and interventions by UNESCO that should be closely related to national or
(sub-) regional development plans, existing UNDAFs or other country-level
programming documents, bearing in mind the overall global strategic
objectives and priorities of the Organization. These internal consultations,
which should inform sectoral proposals from a field perspective, are
organized and carried out under the authority of the responsible programme
sector ADG.

Preliminary proposals by the Director-General for priority fields of action. On the
basis of the submissions received as well as the results of the regional
consultations with National Commissions, the Director-General submits to the
Executive Board his/her preliminary proposals concerning the main lines of
emphasis of the Draft Programme and Budget and the budget ceiling, together
with a general description of the programming methods and budgeting techniques
to be applied in the preparation of the Draft C/5 document. The Director-General
also submits to the Executive Board a document containing an analytical summary
of the views expressed by Member States and Associate Members in their written
replies to the questionnaire, the reports of the five regional consultations of
National Commissions for UNESCO, and the comments and proposals by
organizations of the United Nations system, IGOs and NGOs.

Examination by the Executive Board of the Director-General’s preliminary
proposals. After examining the Director-General’s preliminary proposals on the
Draft C/5 document and the reports on the results of the consultation process, the
Executive Board adopts a decision setting out its comments and guidance for the
preparation of the Draft C/5 document. The Executive Board decision establishes a
framework within which the Draft Programme and Budget should be drawn up,
including priority areas of programme action on which the Organization should
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focus and a number of programming principles to be applied for the elaboration of
the Draft C/5 document.

5.2 Preparation of the Draft Programme and Budget

(a)

(b)

(c)

The global results framework. Programmes should be geared towards making a
discernible contribution to the internationally agreed development goals (IADGS),
including the MDGs and other relevant development goals, which constitute the
global results framework against which relevance, performance and achievement
will ultimately be measured. This global results framework serves as policy
orientation throughout the programme management cycle. At country level,
programme managers ensure its country-driven application and adaptation in line
with national priorities.

Programming framework. The Approved Medium-Term Strategy featuring the
Organization’s strategic objectives for a six-year period constitutes the
programmatic and conceptual framework for UNESCO’s action. Accordingly, the
Draft Programme and Budget (Draft C/5 document) is prepared on the basis and
within the framework of the Approved Medium-Term Strategy (C/4 Approved). It
also takes into account the guidance provided by the Executive Board on the
structure and major thrusts of the proposed programme and budget (see
Paragraph 5.1 (d) above), as well as any other decisions by the governing bodies
that may have a direct bearing on the programme planning process.

Process-steps. The elaboration of the Draft Programme and Budget by the
Secretariat is a four-step process. For each Major Programme, the responsible
ADG establishes a sectoral strategic framework (SSF), a resource allocation
matrix (RAM) and estimates for the utilization of staff resources. The ADG’s
proposals once approved by the Director-General form the basis for the drafting of
the fully-fledged C/5 text by the responsible ADG.

(1) The drafting of the C/5 text starts with the Sectoral Strategic Framework
(SSF), a sector-wide programming tool that outlines the framework of action
and overall objectives and structure of each Major Programme, including
linkages to the strategic objectives and expected outcomes of the C/4, other
strategic directions approved by the General Conference or the Executive
Board, the agreed international development goals and attendant action
plans, country level action in the context of UN reform, and international
decades that are most relevant to UNESCO. The SSF sets out succinctly the
envisaged priorities, the overall expected strategic results for the biennium,
the key strategies for their attainment, the measures contemplated to
enhance concentration and focus, the principal intersectoral orientations and
initiatives, as well as the main partnership arrangements. Each ADG ensures
that the SSF proposals:

a. adhere to the terms of the decision by the Executive Board on the
preliminary proposals of the Director-General;
b. are consistent in all other respects with the Director-General’'s
preliminary proposals;
respond to the exigency of results-based programming;
comply with the guidelines set out in the Director-General’s instructions;
e. cover both regular programme and projected extrabudgetary activities,
identifying in particular the strategic programme objectives and the
programme priorities for which extrabudgetary resources are needed in
direct reinforcement of the regular programme and budget (“extended”
SSF);

f. take into consideration the proposals emanating from the decentralized
field network (field offices and category 1 institutes and centres).

(i)  The Resource Allocation Matrix (RAM) reflects the intended distribution of
programme funds by Main Line of Action (MLA) and, within each MLA,
between Headquarters and the regions. The RAM should concentrate

o o
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resources on priority programme areas and should clearly set out the
rationale for the proposed decentralization to the various regions or the
criteria applied in arriving at the proposed distribution. Each ADG ensures
that the RAM proposals:

a. are consistent with the SSF;
b. comply with the guidelines set out in the Director-General’s instructions;
c. provide sufficient resources to the programme activities of field offices.

(i)  Proposals concerning the utilization of staffing resources are formulated
after a review of the global staffing situation, including posts financed from
extrabudgetary resources. In determining the overall staffing needs and
staffing structure for the biennium, each ADG ensures appropriate balance
between activity and staff costs, as well as adequate staffing at
Headquarters and in the field for priority programme areas. Supporting
documents or required information to be included in the submission comprise:

a. the proposed staff establishment for the biennium, including the
proposed allocation of posts to Headquarters and field offices;

b. the proposed distribution of staff resources by MLA in terms of work-
years broken down by grades;

c. the proposed organizational chart by Division/Section/Unit.

(iv) The formulation of the fully-fledged C/5 programme proposals by the
responsible ADG entails the following actions that should be initiated
immediately after the approval of the SSF and RAM by the Director-General:

a. fleshing out the overall strategic vision for the Major Programme and the
expected strategic results for the biennium (Introduction to the MP);

b. elaborating on the biennial programme priorities and articulating the main
strategic approaches to be pursued in addressing them;

c. formulating, for each MLA, a limited number of expected results and
associated performance indicators consistent with the above strategic
approaches, so as to allow measurement of the attainment of the
various expected results in quantitative, qualitative and impact terms.
Expected results should reflect the aggregate impact of regular and
extra-budgetary programme resources.

5.3 Suggested amendments to the Draft Programme and Budget (Draft C/5
document)

(a)

(b)

The recommendations of the Executive Board established after examination of the
Draft Programme and Budget are issued as a General Conference document
(C/e).

Suggested amendments by Member States and Associate Members are
submitted in the form of draft resolutions within the time-limits specified in the
Rules of Procedure of the General Conference, i.e. at least forty-five days before
the opening of the session. Draft resolutions proposing amendments to the Draft
Programme and Budget may only relate to the proposed resolutions in the Draft
Programme and Budget. Proposed draft resolutions amending the draft resolutions
contained in the Draft C/5 document must also indicate the amount of their
budgetary implications, their geographical scope and, in all cases, the method of
funding envisaged for their implementation. The provisions relating to the
admissibility criteria and the examination of such draft resolutions are set out
respectively in Rules 80 and 81 of the Rules of Procedure of the General
Conference. Each admissible draft resolution is published in extenso as a separate
document in the C/DR series and is communicated to Member States and
Associate Members by the Director-General, with such comments as he may
deem appropriate, at least twenty days before the opening of the session. A
summary by Commission of the admissible amendments proposed by Member
States, together with the comments by the Director-General with regard to each of
them, is prepared by BSP in close consultation with the sectors concerned for
submission to the General Conference (C/8 document series).
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(c)
(d)

Observations of organizations in the United Nations system are summarized by
BSP and circulated as a General Conference document.

Observations of 1GOs, other than those in the United Nations system, and NGOs
are brought by BSP to the attention of the sectors/bureaux/offices concerned. A
General Conference document is generally not prepared.

5.4 Consideration and approval by the General Conference of the Draft Programme
and Budget

(a)

(b)

Examination by the General Conference of the Draft Programme and Budget or
proposals for adjustments to the Draft Programme and Budget

After consideration of the Draft Programme and Budget prepared by the Director-
General, the Executive Board submits it to the General Conference with such
recommendations as it considers desirable. The General Conference examines the
Draft Programme and Budget and the draft resolutions for amendments to the
Draft Programme and Budget and related documents at each ordinary session to
determine the policies, the main lines of work and the biennial budget of the
Organization, including the allocation of resources, in plenary meetings and within
one or more commissions. The General Conference takes decisions on the Draft
Programme and Budget and on adjustments to the Draft Programme and Budget
at plenary meetings on the basis of the recommendations of the commissions.

Supporting documents

The main documents examined by the General Conference in connection with the
Programme and Budget (C/5) proposed by the Director-General include:

(i)  the Medium-Term Strategy (Approved C/4 document) and any adjustments
thereto;

(i)  the recommendations by the Executive Board on the Draft Programme and
Budget or proposals for adjustments to the Draft Programme and Budget
(C/6 document);

(i)  the report by the Director-General on the activities of the Organization during
the previous biennium (C/3 document);

(iv) the report by the Director-General on the execution of the programme
adopted by the General Conference (EX/4 document) covering the first 18
months of the ongoing biennium and submitted to the Executive Board in a
separate report at its session immediately preceding the General
Conference (information document), and other assessments or evaluation
instruments such as the biennial evaluation report on the activities and results
of all UNESCO decentralized bodies;

(v) the amendments submitted by Member States and Associate Members
concerning the Draft Programme and Budget or proposals for adjustments to
the Draft Programme and Budget;

(vi) the observations of the organizations in the United Nations system on the
Draft Programme and Budget or proposals for adjustments to the Draft
Programme and Budget (information document).

5.5 Approved Programme and Budget

(a)

(b)

Finalization of the Approved Programme and Budget

Immediately after the end of the session of the General Conference, GBS
prepares, in consultation with BSP, the Volume 1 of the Records of the General
Conference containing the resolutions approved by the General Conference.
Concurrently, BSP in conjunction with the sectors/bureaux/offices concerned,
finalizes the Approved Programme and Budget document. The Draft Programme
and Budget is amended to reflect the modifications and adjustments approved by
the General Conference.

A working document for the Secretariat

The Approved Programme and Budget (Approved C/5 document) is the principal
working document for the use of the Secretariat in its detailed planning,
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coordination and execution of the Programme and Budget. The Approved C/5
document, with its programme priorities, also provides a frame of reference for the
evaluation of the Organization’s biennial activities.

(c) Deviations from a C/5 resolution

While the strategic approaches and related texts as well as the budgetary tables
are indications of the way in which it is envisaged to implement the resolutions and
are noted by the General Conference, the programme resolutions, the
appropriation resolution and all other resolutions featuring in the C/5 document are
formally approved by the General Conference and are binding upon the
Organization. Deviations from a C/5 resolution are made only in exceptional cases
and then only with the prior approval of the Executive Board. The Executive Board
is empowered by Article V. B. 6 (b) of the Constitution to take any measures that
changing circumstances may render necessary for the effective and rational
execution of the programme by the Director-General. ADGs are responsible for
reporting to the Director-General, with copy to BSP, when it appears likely that it
will not be possible to carry out the terms of a resolution. If the Director-General
agrees, the concerned ADG then prepares a document setting forth supporting
arguments and requesting endorsement by the Executive Board.

(d) Distribution

Printed copies of the Approved Programme and Budget document in the
appropriate languages and in sufficient number are sent to each
Sector/Bureau/Office so as to provide a copy for the ADG, directors of division,
chiefs of section and the AO, and copies for established offices away from
Headquarters as appropriate. While the document is intended primarily for the
Secretariat, one copy is sent to each Member State, the United Nations and its
Specialized Agencies, and international intergovernmental and non-governmental
organizations maintaining official relations with UNESCO. A limited number of
additional copies may be obtained by application to the “Special Requests” Unit of
ADM/CLD. The full text of the current Programme and Budget is available online
and can be accessed here.

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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2.3 Appropriation Resolution

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Strategic Planning (BSP),
which is responsible for this Item (Original: English).

1. Overview

1.1 Adopted by the General Conference, the Appropriation Resolution approves the Budget
of the Organization for a given financial period including complementary indications on the
management of the Budget (e.g. transfers of budgetary appropriations).

2. Definitions

Not applicable

3. Policies

3.1 Regular Programme. With regards to the budget estimates relating to Regular
Programme activities, the Appropriation Resolution:

(a)

(b)

(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

9

Presents the breakdown, by appropriation lines, of the total amount of the
appropriation approved by the General Conference for the financial period with a
view to the execution of the Regular Programme;

Authorizes the Director-General to accept and add to the approved appropriation
voluntary contributions, donations, gifts bequests and subventions, and
contributions from governments, subject to the requirements of Article 7.3 of the
Financial Regulations. The Director-General is required to provide information
thereon to members of the Executive Board in writing at the session following such
action;

Authorizes the Director-General to enter into financial commitments within the limits
and for the purposes approved by the General Conference;

Governs the transfer of funds between appropriation lines (see AM ltem 2.2 —
Programme and Budget);

Refers to the Annex of the approved C/5 document which summarizes the
established posts by grade for the relevant financial period,;

Specifies the amount of contributions to be assessed on Member States to
finance the appropriations for the execution of the Organization’s Regular
Programme;

Sets the constant US$ rate in which the appropriation approved for the execution
of the Regular Programme is expressed, and on the basis of which expenditure
against this appropriation will be recorded and Member States’ contributions in
euros will be brought to account.

3.2 Extrabudgetary programmes. The Appropriation Resolution authorizes the Director-
General to receive funds, other than from Member States’ assessed contributions, from
governments, international, regional or national organizations, non-governmental
organizations, the private sector and individuals, in order to implement programmes and
projects consistent with the aims, policies and activities of the Organization, and to incur
obligations and make payments for such activities in accordance with the rules and
regulations of the Organization and the agreements made with funding sources.
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4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities
Not applicable

5. Procedures and Processes

Not applicable

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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2.4 Work Plans

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Strategic Planning (BSP),
which is responsible for this Item.(Original: English)

1. Overview

11

The work plans are the annual detailed plans of activities which are prepared by each
unit of the Secretariat for the planning, coordination, implementation and monitoring of
the Approved Programme and Budget (C/5 document). Work plans are drawn up for all
the Organization’s activities regardless of the source of funding, including those under the
regular programme, extrabudgetary programmes and other activities relating to the
general functioning of the Organization. The work plans approved by the Director-
General and the approved adjustments thereto, which may be done throughout a
biennium, constitute the authority for the issuing of allotments.

2. Definitions

2.1

A work plan is a detailed schedule of interventions stating which activities are going to be
carried out in a given time period, what the activities will contribute towards the
achievement of the relevant C/5 expected results, how the activities will be carried out
and the means of implementation envisaged. It is also the foundation for monitoring
progress at the activity level and regarding resource use.

3. Policies

3.1

3.2

3.3

Timelines

The regular programme work plans extends over two consecutive calendar years
corresponding to a C/5 period. Distinct work plans are prepared annually for extra-
budgetary activities for which no project document exists or no annual breakdown of
budget requirements is available. Preparation of the draft regular programme work plans
proposals starts as soon as the Executive Board has formulated its recommendations on
the Draft C/5 proposed by the Director-General. The draft work plans proposals are
subsequently modified or validated in light of General Conference action/decision. The
finalization and validation of the draft work plans proposals by the responsible ADG or
Director of Sector/Bureau/Office at Headquarters are carried out immediately after the
approval of the C/5 by the General Conference, so that the work plans may be
submitted to and approved by the Director-General early enough to allow implementation
to start from the very beginning of the new biennium.

Support and management system

Work plans are prepared for all activities of the Organization through the System of
Information on Strategies, Tasks and the Evaluation of Results (SISTER), which serves
both as a programming and monitoring tool. SISTER is a system of inputting, collating
and organizing data that provides selective information and reports to assist
management in monitoring resources, activities and results (see the SISTER resource
page for more details and information). SISTER is the mandatory entry point for all
regular and extrabudgetary programme activities and is fully integrated with the Finance
and Budget System (FABS).

Complementary Additional Programme (CAP) of targeted/projected extrabudgetary
activities (see AM ltem 2.6)
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In order to enforce a strict alignment of the objectives of the extrabudgetary
programmes with those of the regular programme, outlines of targeted/projected
extrabudgetary projects or programmes are developed alongside the regular programme
work plans by all Sectors/Bureaux/Offices and Category 1 Institutes with a view to
complementing or reinforcing the work plans expected results. The extrabudgetary
programme outlines are targeted in particular at activities at country level that enhance
the impact of the regular programme activities. Directors/Heads of Division, Field Offices
and Institutes are responsible for translating the “extended” SSF into outlines for
inclusion in the Complementary Additional Programme of projected/targeted
extrabudgetary activities. It is incumbent upon each ADG or Director of
Sector/Bureau/Office at Headquarters to set up a rigorous selection process for the
screening and endorsement of all such proposals, taking into account the following
criteria: relevance to the development priorities of a beneficiary country, alignment with
the strategic objectives of the C/4 and the programme and priorities of the C/5,
contribution to UN country-level programming exercises, comparative advantage and
delivery capacity. Additionally, activities proposed for inclusion in the Complementary
Additional Programme of targeted/projected extrabudgetary projects or programmes
should contribute to the reinforcement of UNESCO'’s core and sectoral competencies
and, when relevant, should integrate sustainability considerations, including possible
devolution or exit strategies.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1

4.2

4.3

The Director-General issues policy, programme and budget guidelines specifying the
main programming principles and approaches, the budgetary framework, the timetable
and other programming elements to be taken into consideration in the preparation of the
work plans. The Director-General reviews and approves the work plans.

ADGs or Directors of Sectors/Bureaux/Offices at Headquarters are responsible for
the design of programme interventions, including the formulation of results and
implementation strategies, and for their full reflection in the programme management
system (SISTER). It is incumbent upon each ADG or Director of Sector/Bureau/Office to
ascertain that clear linkages are established between the work plans activity details,
which feature the lowest level of the Organization’s results chain (see AM Item 2.2), and
the biennial programme and budget, which contains the higher-level C/5 expected results
as approved by the General conference. Work plans are prepared for each
Sector/Bureau/Office also ensuring:

(a) conformity with the relevant UNESCO strategies or policy frameworks;

(b)  consistency with the approved sectoral strategic framework (SSF) and resource
allocation matrix (RAM);

(c) further concentration on key priority interventions, with a concentration of funds on
large and focused interventions to avoid dispersal of resources in micro-activities;

(d) a strong results orientation, with a clear formulation of expected results and an
appropriate set of measurable performance indicators (capturing substantive
change rather than process features) to monitor results;

(e) a balance between normative and operational action;

0) integration of country-level demands flowing from roll-out of UNDAFs and other
common country programming exercises, by clearly expressing UNESCO'’s specific
contributions;

(g) integration of extrabudgetary projects, by establishing clear linkages with the
expected results of the relevant work plans;

(h) that budgets requested are not in excess of available allocations.

The draft work plans for each Sector/Bureau/Office are reviewed by the responsible
ADG or Director of Sector/Bureau/Office at Headquarters. The work plans proposed by
each ADG or Director of Sector/Bureau/Office at Headquarters are submitted to the
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4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

Director-General under cover of a memorandum setting forth the main points arising from
the above review, in particular those issues for which guidance or decision by the
Director-General is deemed necessary. Work plans submissions by each ADG or
Director of Sector/Bureau/Office at Headquarters also include a summary table of the
budget requirements of the draft work plans as compared with the corresponding C/5
budget provision, a summary of the financial resources at the disposal of each
division/unit by source of funds (regular programme and extrabudgetary), and annexes to
the draft work plans for:

(a) the publications and distribution plan;
(b)  the documents plan;
(c) the plan of conferences and meetings.

Directors/Heads of Field Offices prepare their work plans in accordance with the
provisions of this Item and submit them to the ADG or Director of the relevant
Sector/Bureau/Office at Headquarters for endorsement. Regional bureaux prepare two
distinct work plans, one for each of their distinctive roles: cluster function and regional
function. Directors/Heads of Field Offices ensure that the work plans for the countries
under their coverage reflect UNESCO’s contribution to common country programming
exercises of the United Nations system and to broader joint assistance strategies of all
external donors in a particular country.

BSP prepares draft policy, programme and budget guidelines (and templates, as
appropriate) for the development of work plans, including deadline for submissions and
timetable for the review of the work plans proposals by the Director-General, giving due
consideration to the conclusions of the Executive Board’s review of the Draft C/5
document. These guidelines may be completed, as necessary, by sectoral instructions
on specific programme issues or by revised budget standards prepared by BSP. BSP
also prepares analyses and recommendations on the work plans proposals to assist in
the decision-making and approval process of the work plans, ensuring that proposals are
in consonance with the C/5 provisions and aligned with the relevant instructions,
guidelines and decisions of the Director-General or the governing bodies. Lastly, BSP
sees to it that the work plans are subsequently adjusted in accordance with the final
decisions and specific conditions by the Director-General in approving the work plans.

BFM/FOS ensures transparent distribution of the provision for Field Offices’ indirect
costs based on pre-established criteria, as well as coherence with the associated
programme and staff costs budgets. BFM/FOS prepares an analysis of the funding
requirements for the Field Offices’ operating costs and makes recommendations
concerning the distribution of the provision earmarked for these purposes in the C/5
Approved among Field Offices.

I0S, AFR, ERI/DPI and CLD also analyse the work plans proposals and make
comments and recommendations within their field of competence for consideration by the
concerned ADGs and Directors and by the Director-General.

The Publications Board reviews the draft publications and distribution plan as
consolidated by ERI/DPI from the annexes to the work plans and submit its
recommendation to the Director-General.

5. Procedures and Processes

51

Elaboration of the work plansy

(@) The preparation of the work plans is a Secretariat-wide activity in which all
sectors, bureaux and offices at and away from Headquarters participate.

(b)  Programming framework

The work plans are prepared on the basis and within the framework of the
Approved Programme and Budget (C/5 document). They also take into account
any other decisions by the governing bodies that have a direct bearing on
programme planning and implementation.
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(c)

(d)

Content of the work plans

The work plans are designed in line with the Results-based management (RBM)
approach of the Organization. They contain a description of each activity/result and
its assumptions, as well as related performance indicators and the means of their
verification. In this respect, the work plans should also include specific and
measurable expected results and performance indicators for the Organization’s
global priorities (Africa and Gender Equality), in all of UNESCO’s fields of
competence, and should provide as well adequate resource allocations for the
attainment of all planned expected results. Likewise, targeted action should be
identified in favour of youth, Least Developed Countries (LDCs), Small Island
Developing States (SIDS), the most vulnerable segments of society, including
indigenous people, and countries in post-conflict and disaster situations. The work
plans also need to reflect the programmatic and financial contributions to be made
to various intersectoral initiatives, including but not limited to the intersectoral
platforms. Proposals should identify all such intersectoral and interdisciplinary
engagements and the relevant associated expected result(s) to which the work
plans activities intend to contribute. Lastly, as information on measures taken to
optimize the use of resources in the implementation of programme activities
including travel, contractual services and publications, need to be periodically
provided when reporting on the achievement of expected results, this should be
fully taken into account when preparing the detailed work plans in order to facilitate
subsequent reporting.

Main programming information called for by the work plans for each activity

include:

(1 a title consisting of a short description of the activity that sets out its
purpose, main thrust and overall scope;

(ii) the relevant C/5 expected result(s) to which the activity is intended to
contribute;

(i) a concise statement of the activity’s key outputs and expected results,
formulated in the light of the relevant higher-level C/5 expected result(s), with
performance indicators and associated benchmarks and baselines, as
needed,;

(iv) major beneficiaries;
(v) extrabudgetary projects/programmes that will contribute to the achievement
of the activity’s expected results (project numbers only);

(vi) implementation strategy, including modalities of execution, key external
partner(s) and their specific expected role(s), steps taken or considered
towards stakeholders’ involvement (to favour ownership and sustainability),
as well as measures foreseen to address issues stemming from the
conclusions of a risk analysis; where appropriate, South-South cooperation
and triangular North-South-South cooperation should be favoured, with a
focus on capacity building and networking;

(vii) geographical scope (global, regional, sub-regional or other grouping of
countries, national).

(vii) for country-focus activities, linkages with national country-level planning
documentsyz, highlighting the specific outcome(s)/output(s) to which UNESCO
contributes;

(ix) starting date and end date (the accurate determination of dates of
commencement and termination is essential for subsequent assessment of
implementation progress);

(x)  funds required for the intervention (estimated costs), per year and in
aggregate; in order to foster greater programme concentration in terms of
activity number and content, the Director-General may decide that resources
earmarked for any work plans activity should not fall below a given threshold
2l

(xi) breakdown of total allocation by category of expenditures;
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(xii) implementing unit (Field Office, Headquarters Division or Category 1 Institute)
(xiii) principal responsible officer, and deputy;
(xiv) secondary unit(s) involved or having action to take, and responsible officer(s).

5.2 Approved work plans

(a)

(b)

(c)

Approval of work plans

The decisions taken by the Director-General further to his/her review of the work
plans are recorded by BSP and conveyed to the responsible ADG or Director of
Sector/Bureau/Office at Headquarters. The work plans as adjusted then by the
responsible ADG or Director of Sector/Bureau/Office at Headquarters to reflect
these decisions constitute the approved work plans.

Allotment of programmed funds

Upon approval by the Director-General of the work plans, allotments are issued by
BSP in consultation with BFM so that programme execution may be initiated from
the first working day of the new biennium. Allotments are authorization given on
behalf of the Director-General to an official or a unit to incur obligations and
expend funds for specific purposes, and within specified limits, during a definite
period.

Monitoring of work plans execution

()  The monitoring of programme execution involves the systematic collection of
data on the progress of activities and on the results achieved in their
implementation. The regular collection and analysis of information is a
continuing function that uses methodical collection of data to provide
management and the main stakeholders with early indications of progress
and achievement of results, and also to supply lessons learned to improve
future actions, planning and decision-making.

(i) Responsible officers at all programming levels record developments in
programme execution in the Organization’s programming tool (SISTER)
systematically, and report fairly and accurately on performance results vis-a-
vis plans as related to performance indicators, regularly and in due time.
Reports should provide information that is credible and useful for assessing
achievements as well as challenges and opportunities, offering also concrete
lessons learned to help management and the governing bodies make
decisions. Responsible officers at all programming levels ensure that:

a. up-to-date information on planned activities and implementation
performance is available at all times;

b. information on programme execution and implementation performance is
properly documented;

c. resources made available are used for the purposes for which they were
approved,;

d. obligations incurred do not exceed allotments.

(i) The responsible ADG or Director of Sector/Bureau/Office at Headquarters
conduct periodic reviews to monitor/assess progress made in the
implementation of the work plans. Such reviews provide the occasion to
share lessons learned, to identify obstacles and constraints encountered as
well as to specify actions and initiatives to overcome them. The findings and
conclusions of these reviews should also feed into the reports on programme
execution and performance, notably the sector ADGs quarterly reports to the
Director-General (see below) and the statutory reports submitted by the
Director-General to the governing bodies under the EX/4 and C/3 documents
series (see AM ltem 6.1).

(iv)  Sector ADGs prepare quarterly reports to the Director-General on
programme implementation to point out briefly any difficulties or problems
which have impeded the attainment of expected results, and to inform him of
any exceptional circumstances or unforeseen events. These quarterly reports
should focus on information of a strategic nature, highlighting both
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achievements/completions and problem cases. Reports are to be concise
and ought not to exceed three pages. The quarterly reports are to be
addressed to the Director-General via Director ODG, with a copy to the
DDG and BSP.

(d) Amendments to work plans or reprogramming of activities

(i)

(ii)

If it is necessary to modify a work plan during the implementation period, a
work plan amendment is proposed, which is processed as set out below.
The justification for the amendment must be clearly presented and the
amended work plans should stay in line with the instructions, guidelines and
decisions of the Director-General or governing bodies and with any relevant
UNESCO strategies or policy frameworks. Proposals for work plans
amendments are entered in the programme management system (SISTER)
by the responsible officers. The Executive Officer (EO) of the
Sector/Bureau/Office follows up on all ongoing reprogramming of activities
and ensures that the work plans as reflected in SISTER are up-to-date at all
times.

a. Adjustments within a main line of action (MLA) or a C/5 chapter that do
not affect a specific General Conference resolution are normally
approved by the responsible ADG or Director of Sector/Bureau/Office at
Headquarters. This authority may be delegated to division Directors at
Headquarters, to Directors/Heads of Field Offices or to the upstream
officers of the concerned elements. All such adjustments must be
immediately reported to the responsible ADG or Director of
Sector/Bureau/Office at Headquarters, and BSP and BFM/BMR must be
notified accordingly. Notwithstanding the above, proposals towards
amending expected results and/or associated performance indicators of
work plans do require, in all cases, a formal validation by the concerned
ADG or Director of Sector/Bureau/Office at Headquarters, and by BSP.
Adjustments within an MLA or C/5 chapter entailing a net transfer
between activities in excess of one fourth of the approved work plan
provision for any of the concerned activities are brought to the attention
of BSP which will decide, in conjunction with BFM/BMR, whether a
proposed amendment calls for the explicit approval of the Director-
General.

b. Adjustments between main lines of action (MLAs) or C/5 chapters under
the same appropriation line are to be submitted through BSP to the
Director-General.

c. Adjustments between appropriation lines are to be submitted through
BSP and BFM/BMR to the Director-General who decides whether they
should be endorsed and submitted to the Executive Board in accordance
with the terms of the Appropriation Resolution.

As a rule, no transfers may be made between different funding sources, e.g.

between regular budget and extrabudgetary programme resources or from

one extrabudgetary project/programme to another.

n; The provisions of AM Item 2.2, paragraph 5.5 concerned respectively with the global results
framework and UNESCOQO’s main programming approaches and features apply mutatis
mutandis to the detailed Work Plans.

2

UN common country programming documents (e.g. UNDAF, Delivering as One

Programme/Plan, MDG-F, etc.) and other national policy frameworks (poverty reduction
strategies (PRS), sector wide approaches (SWAps), joint assistance strategies (JAS), etc.)

1z Currently US$ 20 000

6. Guidelines
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Item 2.4

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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2.5 Donations including Additional Appropriations

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial Management,
Budget Monitoring and Reporting Section (BFM/BMR), which is responsible for this Item. This
Item applies to Headquarters and Field Offices. (Original: English).

1. Overview

1.1  This item covers:

(a) Cash items: Subventions or financial contributions that are added to the
Appropriation of the Regular Budget, including subventions or financial contributions of
a recurrent nature to Regular Programme activities;

(b) Non-cash items: Voluntary contributions, including gifts and bequests (other than
works of art) and contributions-in-kind.

1.2 Any financial contributions that are not added to the Appropriation of the Regular Budget
are covered under AM Item 5.2 “Special Accounts” and/or AM Item 5.4 “Funds-in-Trust
cooperation”.

2. Definitions

2.1 Donations are gifts, bequests, subventions or contributions (financial and/or in kind)
which the Organization may receive directly from governments, public and private
institutions, associations and private persons. The Organization may also receive funds
for specific activities or projects from such bodies as the United Nations Development
Programme (UNDP), other United Nations (UN) agencies, Member States, and
international, regional or national organizations.

3. Policies

3.1 The Constitution provides, in Article IX.3, that the Director-General, may accept
voluntary contributions, gifts, bequests and subventions directly from governments, public
and private institutions, associations and private persons, subject to the conditions
specified in the Financial Regulations.

3.2 The Appropriation Resolution (see AM Item 2.3) provides that in connection with the
Regular Programme the Director-General is authorized, taking into consideration the
provisions of Article 7.3 of the Financial Regulations, to accept and add to the
appropriation voluntary contributions, donations, gifts, bequests and subventions, and
contributions from governments. The Director-General shall provide information thereon
to the Members of the Executive Board in writing at the session following such action.

3.3 Financial Regulation 7.3 provides that voluntary contributions, gifts, bequests and
subventions, whether or not in cash, may be accepted by the Director-General provided
that the purposes for which the contribution is made are consistent with the policies,
aims and activities of the Organization and provided that the acceptance of such
voluntary contributions, gifts, bequests and subventions which directly or indirectly involve
additional financial liability for the Organization shall require the consent of the Executive
Board.

3.4 Financial Regulation 7.6 provides that moneys accepted in respect of which no
purpose is specified shall be credited to the general sub-account of the Special Account
for Voluntary Contributions.
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4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

Not applicable

5. Procedures and Processes

5.1 Subventions (or financial contributions) to be added to the Appropriation of the
Regular Budget, including subventions or contributions of a recurrent nature to
Regular Programme activities

(a)

(b)

(c)

The Director-General may accept subventions or financial contributions from donors
and appropriate them to the Regular Budget. The question as to whether the cash
contributions may or may not be considered additional appropriations to the regular
programme is an issue of how the programme activity is managed (e.qg. if budgetary
control and reporting is required by category of expenditure then this modality
corresponds to an extrabudgetary project) and is not determined in terms of the
magnitude, i.e. the amount of the contribution. All contributions added to the regular
programme should meet the following criteria:

()  The contributions are linked to a specific Main Line of Action (MLA) in the C/5;

(i) No individual financial report on such contribution is to be issued to the donor;
however a report from SISTER at the MLA level can be provided to the donor; if a
narrative report is provided at the request of the a donor, it should not include any
financial information;

(iii)  Any funds remaining (after the completion of the activities) would not be returned
to the specific donors;

(iv) All funds for the completion of the activities must be obligated before the end of
the biennium in which the funds were allotted, in accordance with UNESCO
Financial Rules (AM Appendix 3.3 A) and Financial Regulations.

(v) Any funds remaining after the completion of agreed activities for which the
additional appropriation is received can be reprogrammed within that biennium,
provided such reprogramming is within the same MLA.

Financial contributions that are not additions to the Appropriation of the Regular

Budget are covered under AM Iltem 5.2 “Special Accounts” and/or AM Item 5.4

“Funds-in-Trust cooperation”.

Procedures for appropriating contributions to the regular programme (Cash items):

(i)  Subventions or financial contributions (Non-recurrent cases)

a. Sectors/Bureaux/Offices are responsible for informing the Bureau of Strategic
Planning, Division of Cooperation with Extrabudgetary Funding Sources
(BSP/CFS) and the Bureau of Financial Management, Budget Monitoring and
Reporting Section (BFM/BMR) about offers of subventions (or financial
contributions) towards specific Regular Programme activities (e.g., a
contribution towards the costs of a meeting, seminar or publication). BSP/CFS
verifies that the purpose of the donation does not fall within the scope of
extrabudgetary modalities (e.g. if the donor requests a separate account for the
subvention, the amount is not added to the appropriation, but is treated as a
trust fund or special account — see AM Item 5.4 or AM Item 5.2).

b. Then, the Sector/Bureau/Office concerned prepares the applicable Standard
Additional Appropriation Letter (see either Form AM 2-1 for donations less than
or equivalent to US$ 50,000 or Form AM 2-2 for donations above US$ 50,000)
between the donor and the Secretariat (whether at Headquarters or in the
Field), specifying inter alia the purpose of the funds, the name of the donor
and the criteria mentioned in the standard additional appropriation letter.
Depending on the form used (Form AM 2-1 or Form AM 2-2), the letter is then
signed by a representative from UNESCO (i.e. ADG, Director of Division,
Director/Head of Field Office or their designated officer - please note that
donor’s signature is only required in Form AM 2-2) and is submitted to
BFM/BMR and BSP/CFS. In addition to this signed letter, an updated work
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plan or a new work plan (depending on whether the donation is intended for a
new activity or it is an additional funding for an existing activity) reflecting the
use of these funds is also submitted, through work plans system, to BFM/BMR
before the allotment is issued.

BEM/FAS/AR confirms receipt of the contributions in UNESCO bank accounts.

d. BFEM/BMR allots the funds on the basis of the work plans provided by the
Sector/Bureau concerned and prepares a summary report containing the
essential information about the subvention and its purpose, which is submitted
for information to the Members of the Executive Board at its next session
following such action.

e. Programme Specialists and Certifying Officers ensure that commitments of
additional appropriations or reprogrammed funds are in line with the purpose of
the contribution or MLA in case of reprogramming.

(i)  Subventions or financial contributions (Recurrent cases)

a. Recurrent subventions or contributions to Regular Programme activities, which
are used to finance specific expenditures (e.g., a host country contribution
towards the running/maintenance and/or staff costs of field offices) do not
require the usual standard additional appropriation letter on the understanding
that there is a prior signed agreement with the donor (e.g. host country
agreement which reflects government contributions to this effect). In case
there is no such prior agreement, the Sector/Bureau/Office concerned should
prepare the agreement in consultation with the Office of International Standards
and Legal Affairs (LA), BSP/CFS and BFM/BMR. Other relevant services such
as BFM/FOS should also be consulted a priori. The agreement should be
signed between the donor and a representative of the Director-General.

b. The Sector/Bureau/Office concerned informs BSP/CFS and BFM/BMR of the
offer and takes these contributions into account when preparing the relevant
work plans (see AM ltem 2.4 “Work plans”) covering the activities or items of
expenditure against which the contribution will be applied.

BEM/FAS/AR confirms receipt of the contribution in UNESCO bank accounts.

d. BEM/BMR allots the funds after consultation with relevant service (e.qg.
BFM/FOS for contributions towards field office running costs) and prepares a
document containing the essential information about such subventions and
contributions and submits it for information of the Members of the Executive
Board at its next session following such action. The focal point for these
contributions is BFM/BMR.

5.2 Voluntary contributions, including gifts and bequests (other than works of art)
and contributions in kind

e

o

(a) The Director-General may accept offers for voluntary contributions, gifts and
bequests, which may be material or property that may give rise to proceeds from sale
but are not added to the Appropriation of the Regular Budget due to the fact that they
are not directly linked to a specific programme activity, and contributions in kind, which
fall within the fields of competence of UNESCO.

(b) The procedure for accepting non-cash voluntary contributions, gifts and bequests
are set forth below. However, for the subsequent recording of property other than
books, see AM Item 10.1 and, for books, see AM ltem 9.8.

(c) It should be noted that all procedures for accepting and recording works of art are
not part of this Item but rather come under AM Item 12.9.

(d)  Procedures for dealing with voluntary contributions (Non-cash items)

(i)  Sectors/Bureaux/Offices are responsible for informing LA and BFM/BMR about
any offers they may receive of gifts or bequests or contributions in kind to the
Organization. They are also responsible for determining whether the offers fall
within the fields of competence of UNESCO.

(ii) LA, on receipt of an offer of a gift or a bequest or a contribution in kind,
determines, in particular, whether the acceptance of such contributions would
entail financial liability for the Organization, and whether there are any specific
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

purposes, conditions or obligations attached to the offer.

In cases where the contribution involves directly or indirectly additional financial
liability for the Organization (whether or not specific purposes or conditions are
attached to the offer):

a. LA informs the donor or his/her representative that the acceptance of the offer
is subject to the approval of the Executive Board, and transmits the necessary
information to BFM/BMR and the relevant Sector/Bureau/Office;

b. BEM/BMR, in consultation with the relevant Sector/Bureau/Office prepares a
document for the approval of the Executive Board containing the essential
information about the offer of gift or bequest or contribution in kind. Upon
approval by the Executive Board:

i. if the gift or bequest or contribution in kind is material or property, it will
be treated within the procedure under AM Item 10.1 “Property”, and

ii. if the gift or bequest or contribution in kind gives rise to proceeds from
sale but not added to the appropriation of the Regular Budget, the amount
donated is credited to the Special Account for Voluntary Contributions;

c. Upon approval by the Executive Board, LA prepares an agreement between
the donor or his/her representative and the Secretariat, and BFM/BMR
provides, where relevant, payment instructions for inclusion in the agreement
prepared by LA. On receipt of the amount, BFM credits it to the Special
Account for Voluntary Contributions, and reports it in the annual accounts of the
Organization.

If the contribution does not involve directly or indirectly additional financial liability
for the Organization (whether or not specific purposes or conditions are attached
to the offer):

a. LA informs the donor or his/her representative that the gift or bequest or
contribution in kind may be accepted (letter of acceptance), and transmits the
necessary information to BFM and the relevant Sector/Bureau/Office. Even
under this category, if it is deemed necessary by LA and/or the other
Sector/Bureau/Office concerned in view of the circumstances of the specific
case, the gift or bequest or contribution in kind may only be accepted after the
approval of the Executive Board, in which case the procedure indicated in
Paragraph 5.2 (d) (iii) above will be applied.

b. BFM/BMR, in consultation with the relevant Sector/Bureau/Office, prepares a
document for information to the Executive Board (or for approval, if required in
specific cases). Thereafter:

i. if the gift or bequest or contribution in kind is material or property, it will be
treated within the procedure under AM Item 10.1 “Property”, and

ii. if the gift or bequest or contribution in kind gives rise to proceeds from
sale but not added to the appropriation of the Regular Budget, the amount
donated is credited to the Special Account for Voluntary Contributions.

c. BFM/BMR provides, where relevant, payment instructions for inclusion in the
letter of acceptance to the donor, which is prepared by LA. On receipt of the
amount, BFM credits it to the Special Account for Voluntary Contributions, and
reports it in the annual accounts of the Organization.

While all contributions in kind follow the above procedure, those in regard to
recurring contributions in kind based on existing long-term agreements (e.g. where
premises are provided by host countries free of charge) will be dealt with
differently. For such cases, the Sector/Bureau/Office should liaise with the
Corporate Services concerned, (e.g. BFC, BFM/FOS for Field Offices premises)
and provide relevant information to BFM/BMR which will in turn inform the
Executive Board accordingly.

6. Guidelines

Not applicable
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7. Forms

7.1 Form AM 2-1 “Standard Additional Appropriation Letter for donations less than or
equivalent to US$ 50,000 (Regular Programme)”

7.2 Form AM 2-2 "Standard Additional Appropriation Letter for donations above US$ 50,000
(Regular Programme)”

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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2.6 Complementary Additional Programme (CAP) of
Targeted/Projected Extrabudgetary Activities

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Strategic Planning, Division
of Cooperation with Extrabudgetary Funding Sources (BSP/CFS), which is responsible for this
Item (Original: English).

1. Overview

11

In order to enforce a strict alignment of the objectives of the extrabudgetary
programmes with those of the Regular Programme, outlines of targeted/projected
extrabudgetary projects or programmes are developed alongside Regular Programme
work plans by all Sectors/Bureaux/Offices and Category | Institutes, with a view to
complementing or reinforcing the C/5 expected results.

2. Definitions

2.1

2.2

CAP of projected/targeted extrabudgetary activities is the main tool for the
programming of extrabudgetary activities in reinforcement of the C/5, and a vehicle for
dialogue with donors. The CAP is designed to strengthen the alignment between
extrabudgetary and regular programme resources through the creation of a unified
results chain. An overview of the CAP is issued in the form of a brochure at the
beginning of each biennium. In addition, the live data base of proposals for funding is
also made available through UNESCO's internet and extranet sites and SISTER.

The extrabudgetary process in SISTER

There are two distinct, but closely related platforms for Extrabudgetary Resources in
SISTER: 1) the Complementary Additional Programme which is a facility for upfront
programming of Extrabudgetary Projects and for mobilizing resources, and 2) for
Extrabudgetary Projects that have attracted donor interest, and which subsequently are
the subject of signed agreements between UNESCO and the donor. Together these two
facilities give the Organization a full picture of where UNESCO stands with resource
mobilization for expected results, and how UNESCO delivers on the Approved C/5
results encompassing funded Extrabudgetary projects and Regular Programme activities.

(@) The CAPin SISTER

Proposed Extrabudgetary Projects are programmed and approved through the
entry, and validation of ‘Outlines’ in the CAP. An ‘Outline’ is an entry in the CAP
through which funds are mobilized and Extrabudgetary Projects are programmed.
The CAP is open to the outside world. Potential donors and partners can access
the CAP through UNESCO'’s internet and extranet sites and SISTER and search
for approved CAP Outlines which match their funding priorities. The CAP gives a
thematic view of UNESCO’s priorities and expected results to make it easier for
donors to conduct this matching exercise.

(b) Extrabudgetary Projects in SISTER

This is an internal UNESCO facility for structuring and programming
Extrabudgetary Projects according to a standard format, for processing internal
approvals and for monitoring and reporting on the results attained via funded
Extrabudgetary Projects that are linked to the CAP. To ensure full coherence
between Regular Programme activities and Extrabudgetary Projects, and to give
donors and partners full assurance that proposed Extrabudgetary Projects are fully
in line with the Organization’s priorities and C/5 expected results and carry the
approval of senior management, all Extrabudgetary Projects must be linked to an
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2.3

Outline in the CAP. It is the link between Extrabudgetary Projects and the CAP
Outlines which also provides the Organization with a tool to track resource
mobilization.

Extended Strategic Sectoral Frameworks (ESSFs)

The ESSF sets out the priorities and targets for resource mobilization for each
Sector /Corporate Service, as foreseen in the Director-General’s Action Plan (174
EX/INF.4 Rev.) The ESSF constitutes a basis for the contribution of each programme
Sector/Corporate Service to the CAP. In line with the Updated Extrabudgetary Resource
Mobilization Strategic Plan (185 EX/INF.6), each Sector/Corporate Service should draw
up an ESSF at the outset of a biennial programming exercise so as to maximize the
opportunity for establishing a clear strategic vision regarding the areas selected for
resource mobilization.

3. Policies

3.1

3.2

174 EX/Decision 26 urged the Director-General to develop an overall strategy and Action
Plan for mobilising extrabudgetary resources and aligning them with the Regular
Programme.

34 C/Resolution 72 requested the implementation of measures to align the programming
of regular and extrabudgetary activities, in particular through the preparation of a
“complementary additional programme of targeted extrabudgetary activities”.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1

AM Appendix 5 A “Table on Delegation of Authority and Accountability (ToOAA) for
UNESCOQO’s Extrabudgetary Activities” (first published with Administrative Circular 2285 of
18 February 2007) reflects the key provisions of the Director-General’s Action Plan for
improved management of UNESCOQO’s extrabudgetary activities. The ToAA has four main
sections, each listing the overall guiding steps to be followed for programming, the
mobilization of resources, the implementation , the monitoring and reporting of an
Extrabudgetary Project.

5. Procedures and Processes

5.1

5.2

ADG/BSP issues overall guidance on the preparation of Outlines to complement or
reinforce the C/5 under a Complementary Additional Programme for targeted/projected
extrabudgetary activities, at the same time as instructions on the process and timeline
for the preparation of the C/5 regular programme work plans.

Guidelines for the preparation of the CAP are revised and updated periodically by
BSP/CFS in consultation with the Sectors/Corporate Services as appropriate.

Pre-established selection criteria which guide the preparation, assessment and selection
of CAP Outlines may include the following, and may be revised from time to time:

(@) Relevance to the Strategic Programme Objectives and expected outcomes of the
C/4 and the Programme Priorities of the C/5;

(b)  Contribution to the expected results of the C/5;

(c) UNESCO'’s delivery capacity;

(d) UNESCO’s comparative advantage;

(e) Value added for the beneficiary country and UNESCO;

(f) Other Sector/Corporate Service specific criteria determined by each
Sector/Corporate Service.

Sectors/Corporate Services prepare an Extended Strategic Sectoral Framework
(ESSFs) which is the first step in the development of the CAP and sets out the priorities
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5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

5.7

and targets for resource mobilization by each Sector/Corporate Service and designating
the CAP Thematic Outlines that will be elaborated and the thematic areas with which
CAP Programme/project Outlines will be associated. Under the ESSF, intersectoral CAP
Thematic Outlines will also be designated by lead ADG’s based on a preliminary
consultation with BSP and other Sectors/Corporate Services. To ensure that resource
mobilization priorities and targets fully capture relevant regional, and sub-regional
perspectives and needs, ADGs are encouraged to consult UNESCO Field Offices and
other relevant decentralized UNESCO Units in the design phase of the ESSFs. The draft
ESSF is then sent by the Sectors/Corporate Services to ADG/BSP.

ADG/BSP shares the draft ESSF with all UNESCO Field Offices and other relevant
decentralized UNESCO units and submits the final draft ESSF to the Director-General for
approval.

The CAP allows a thematic presentation of the programmes/projects for which UNESCO
seeks to mobilize resources to make it easier for UNESCO’s donors and partners to
identify matching priorities and entry points for cooperation. The CAP comprises two
different types of Outline:

(@) CAP Thematic Outlines: these CAP Outlines, which may be sectoral or
intersectoral, underpinfully-fledged thematic extrabudgetary programmes as
identified in the context of the preparation of the ESSF. From a resource
mobilization perspective CAP Thematic Outlines are designed to mobilize
unearmarked, or lightly earmarked resources in support of strategic priorities.

(b) CAP Programme/project Outlines: these CAP Outlines are designed to mobilize
resources for extrabudgetary activities which require specific visibility for resource
mobilization purposes. They may have a global, regional, sub-regional or national
focus.

All extrabudgetary projects including Special Accounts, support to Category |
Institutes, secondments and Associate Experts established during the biennium must be
created and validated in SISTER, and linked either to a Thematic Outline, or to a
Programme/project Outline of the CAP. An extrabudgetary project may be linked to a
CAP Ouitline in the following ways:

(@) An extrabudgetary project may be developed from an CAP Outline that was
programmed up-front;

(b)  For selected extrabudgetary projects, which were not foreseen, or omitted in the
upfront programming exercise, but for which resource mobilisation must continue
on an ongoing basis, a specific CAP Programme/project Outline may be created to
give visibility for the programme vis a vis the donor community;

(c) Extrabudgetary projects which are 1) developed in response to emerging needs
and opportunities 2) not foreseen in a CAP Outline, and 3) for which it is not
necessary to mobilise funds on a continuous basis will be linked ex post to a CAP
Thematic Outline as described in Paragraph 5.4(a) above. This may be done on an
on going basis once the CAP Thematic Outlines have been created.

There is no pre-established budgetary ceiling for the CAP and its components.
However, the estimated figures for funding requirements must be based on a responsible
assessment of needs and a realistic appraisal of what UNESCO is able to mobilize and
implement based on an analysis of UNESCOQO’s track record for comparable purposes. To
the extent possible, all Sectors are urged not to establish CAP Thematic Outlines below
a target threshold of USD 2 million, and not to establish self-standing CAP
Programme/project Outlines below USD 500,000. The programming of small-scale,
fragmented CAP Outlines should be avoided unless there is solid justification. In
determining estimated resource requirements, Sectors/Corporate Services must take
into account all direct costs that are projected to be incurred by UNESCO for the
management of the programme/project, including those which relate to staffing and
communication. Ensuring adequate visibility of contributions is critical for UNESCO’s
donors and partners to sustaining such partnerships.

In preparing CAP Outlines, Sectors/Corporate Services are also invited to articulate
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5.8

5.9

5.10

requirements for in-kind resources, and specific competencies that could be mobilized by
UNESCO, inter alia, through recourse to secondments.

CAP Thematic and CAP Programme/project Outlines, like regular programme work
plans, are programmed and validated in SISTER. The detailed guidelines and Help Cards
are available as Help material in SISTER.

CAP Thematic Outlines are programmed under the direct responsibility of each ADG
by the Executive Office of each Sector/Corporate Service. For intersectoral
programmes, lead ADGs must ensure that high-end goals are articulated for the biennial
period as well as sharply formulated in an RBM-manner for all CAP Outlines. After
validation by the Executive Office they are reviewed by BSP to ensure their
programmatic coherence with the regular programme.

CAP Programme/project Outlines are prepared according to the following steps:

(a) After the finalisation of the ESSF setting out the priorities and targets for resource
mobilisation and the validation by ADG’s of CAP Thematic Outlines, ADG’s issue a
call for CAP Programme/project Outlines together with any Sector-specific
guidance, to all Directors of Division, Directors/Heads of Field Offices, and
Directors of Category | Institutes relevant to their Sector, with copy to ADG/BSP.

(b) Directors of Divisions, Directors and Heads of Field Offices, and Heads of
Category | Institutes are responsible for coordinating the preparation of the CAP
Outlines which fall under their responsibility.

(c) Inthe process of preparing the CAP Outline, consultations should be undertaken
with the relevant partners in the country and other stakeholders of the proposed
project or programme.

(d) For CAP Outlines with a country focus, Directors/Heads of Field Offices and

Category | Institutes must in addition ascertain and confirm the following:

(1 Relevance of CAP Outline for the beneficiary country and UNESCO;

(i)  Relation of the CAP Outline to a common country programming document
such as the United Nations Development Assistance Framework (UNDAF),
Delivering as One Programme/Plan, Millennium Development Goals Fund
(MDG-F) and Poverty Reduction Strategies (PRS) or as part of a UNESCO
Country Programming Document (UCPD).

(e) CAP Programme/project Outlines are created by the Responsible Officer and are
then submitted to Directors and Heads of Field Offices and Category | Institutes
(when required) and then to the Responsible Officer of the upper-level Grouping in
SISTERCAP Programme/project Outlines are then sent to the relevant Executive
Office of each Sector/Corporate Service for review and visa and to BSP’s Division
of Cooperation with Funding Sources for information.

(f)  Itis incumbent upon each Sector ADG/ADG-Director of Corporate Service to
set up a rigorous selection process for the screening and endorsement of all CAP
Outlines. Sector ADGs/ADG-Directors of Corporate Services undertake prior
guality control of the CAP Outlines on the basis of the pre-established selection
criteria.

(9) Sector ADGs/ADG-Directors of Corporate Services thereafter pre-select
Outlines for inclusion in the CAP. Finally, pre-selected CAP Outlines may be
adjusted/finalised to respond to the Approved C/5 adopted by the General
Conference.

(h) Throughout the pre-selection process, the importance of ensuring full
communication between Headquarters, Field Offices and Category | Institutes is
highlighted, especially concerning the provision of feedback from
Sectors/Corporate Services to Field Offices on the outcome of the quality control
and pre-selection exercise.

0] After validation by the ADGs, BSP reviews the contribution of each
Sector/Corporate Service to CAP following the same approach adopted for the
review of the Regular Programme, and makes recommendations to the

Published on 16-Nov-2009 Updated on 15-Sep-2011 Page 4



UNESCO Administrative Manual Item 2.6

Sector/Corporate Service on its strategic relevance and coherence with the C/4
and C/5, and where necessary the modification or removal of specific CAP
Outlines. BSP consolidates the contribution of each Sector/Corporate Service into
a single CAP and submits the CAP to the Director-General for final approval. The
Secretariat is solely accountable for the approval of the CAP.

5.11 The Director-General approves the CAP.

(a) After approval by the Director-General, DIR/BSP/CFS coordinates the publication
of the CAP brochure and all validated CAP Outlines are made available through
UNESCO'’s internet and extranet sites and SISTER.

(b)  Outlines retained within the CAP may be presented to donors and partners for
resource mobilization purposes. See AM Chapter 5 on the management of
Extrabudgetary Activities.

(c) Responsible Officers including Directors of Field Offices and ADGs are
responsible for taking all pro-active measures necessary to mobilise resources for
the CAP Outlines for which they are responsible. This should be done in close
consultation with the Division of Cooperation with Funding Sources to ensure that
resource mobilisation efforts are coordinated and funds are managed in
accordance with UNESCO'’s regulations and rules.

5.12 The CAP is a living document that is responsive to the emerging needs of Member

5.13

States, including post-conflict and post-disaster situations, and funding opportunities. As
described in Paragraph 5.5(b) above, for selected extrabudgetary projects, which were
not foreseen, or omitted in the upfront programming exercise, but for which resource
mobilisation must continue on an ongoing basis, a specific CAP Programme/project
Outline may be created at any time to give visibility for the programme vis a vis the
donor community. These CAP Outlines will become visible in the on-line version of the
CAP as soon as they are validated and approved by the DG (via the Executive Office of
the concerned Sector/Corporate Service).

In addition, there is an annual review and update of the CAP which will consist of:

(a) areview of the overall structure of the CAP by thematic area (CAP Thematic
Outlines and list of thematic areas) will be reviewed, and adjusted if necessary
and;

(b) an ex post review of the CAP Thematic Outlines and the way in which
extrabudgetary projects have been linked to them, to ensure the relevance and
coherence of the overall approach undertaken jointly by BSP and the
Sectors/Corporate Services.

5.14 At the end of a biennium, the CAP designed to reinforce a given C/5 is closed.

Unfunded, or partially funded CAP Outlines which remain relevant to the Main Lines of
Action and expected results of the ensuing C/5, and which require additional resources
during the next biennium, may be automatically carried over to the CAP of the next C/5.

6. Guidelines

6.1 UNESCO’s Extrabudgetary Activities: A practical guide

6.2 CAP Outlines and XB Projects Programming Guidelines

6.3 Help Card 2.5: The Extrabudgetary Process
Creating a CAP Outline for resource mobilization in the 35 C/5 CAP/Creating an
Extrabudgetary Project

6.4 Updated Extrabudgetary Resource Mobilization Strategic Plan (185 EX/INF.6)

7. Forms

Not applicable
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8. Additional Help

8.1 Consult the Extrabudgetary Help Desk

Published on 16-Nov-2009 Updated on 15-Sep-2011 Page 6


http://portal.unesco.org/intranet/ev.php?URL_ID=14518&URL_DO=DO_TOPIC&URL_SECTION=201&reload=1213020351
http://manual-part1.hq.int.unesco.org/#top

UNESCO Administrative Manual Item 2.7

2.7 UN Common Country Programming

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Strategic Planning (BSP),
which is responsible for this Item.

1. Overview

1.1 This Item is under drafting.
2. Definitions

Not applicable

3. Policies

Not applicable

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities
Not applicable

5. Procedures and Processes
Not applicable

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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2.8 UNESCO'S Budgetary Control Framework

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Strategic Planning (BSP),
which is responsible for this Item (Original: English).

1. Overview

11

1.2

1.3

In the context of international organizations and more specifically UNESCO, the Budget is
one of the main tools for dialogue and accountability towards Member States. The
Budget, together with the Programme, is vital to the Organization as it permits a planning
and distribution of resources for carrying out a programme of activities within a specific
period of time, as well as the monitoring and control of its implementation according to
the approved priorities, to be carried out by the Bureau of the Budget (BB) and the
Bureau of Strategic Planning (BSP).

To achieve its strategic programme objectives and programme priorities, UNESCO relies
on « core resources » in the Regular Programme Budget (C/5) approved every two
years by the General Conference and financed through assessed contributions, as well
as additional resources provided in the form of donations and grants (usually referred to
as “extrabudgetary” resources). These two sources of funding constitute the overall
budgetary resources made available to the Organization for the realization of its
programme priorities, as defined by the Member States in the C/5. This Item describes
the overall budgetary control framework covering the review, allocation, management
and reporting on these resources.

The objective of this document is to outline the financial management framework
organized around the Budget, and to present the roles of key stakeholders.

2. Definitions

2.1

Definition of budgeting and controlling framework

For both Regular Programme and extrabudgetary resources, policy guidance and
instructions are provided by BB to each Sector/Bureau, through the Administrative
Officers (AOs), with regards to the elaboration of the Draft Budget and the monitoring of
the Approved Budget.

3. Policies

3.1

3.2

The Constitution of the Organization sets out the legal framework under which the
Programme and Budget are prepared, complemented by various decisions by the
General Conference and the Executive Board (for example, the methodology to be
applied in calculating the Budget).

The C/5 translates the Medium-Term Strategy (C/4) into 2 year programmatic and
budgetary increments.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1

Article 4 of the Financial Rules (AM Appendix 3.3 A) delegates to DIR/BB the authority to
issue budget allotments, and the exercise of this responsibility requires a budgetary
control framework.
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5. Procedures and Processes

5.1 Regular Programme (RP)

(a)

(b)
(c)

(d)

(e)

()

Every two years, BB prepares preliminary Budget estimates based on specific
assumptions explained in the C/5. For example, if the notion of Zero Real Growth
(ZRG) is used as a benchmark: the Budget of the last biennium is increased by the
amounts needed to preserve the purchasing power of the Organization within the
next biennium (everything else being equal, taking into account a detailed analysis
of the inflation, statutory increases and technical adjustments).

Based on this information, the Executive Board recommends a Budget ceiling,
within which the Director-General should make detailed proposals.

Programme priorities and the overall budget envelope are established by Member
States. The Director-General produces a Draft Programme and Budget, under the
overall coordination of BSP and BB. Detailed submissions of Programme and
Budget proposals are prepared under the responsibility of the different
Sectors/Bureaux, with strategies and Main Lines of Actions (MLA) applying an
RBM approach.

The C/5 document is elaborated for a two-year period containing both
programmatic and budgetary aspects. Once the Programme and Budget are
approved by the General Conference, BB and BSP are responsible for ensuring
that all resolutions are integrated in the final C/5 version.

Then the Programme and Budget elements are translated by the Sectors/ Bureaux
into detailed work plans. BSP and BB analyse these work plans to ensure
conformity and coherence with decisions taken by the General Conference, for
example rates of decentralization, alignment of resources with strategic priorities,
ratios of staff costs/activities etc. On this basis recommendations are made to the
Director-General. As appropriate, Sectors/ Bureaux may be requested to make
changes in work plans before their approval by the Director-General.

Following Director-General’s approval, corresponding budgetary resources are
allocated by BB to all implementing units (Sectors/Bureaux/Field Offices) in order
to enable Programme implementation as from the start of the new biennium.

5.2 Extrabudgetary (XB) resources

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

In addition to the « core resources » proposed for each biennium, the C/5 also
includes for purposes of information extrabudgetary resources:

(i) Only for funds already received or firmly committed,;
(i) And for use in the next biennium.

As the level of extrabudgetary resources cannot be legislated by
intergovernmental bodies but falls within the sovereign decision of Member States,
extrabudgetary resources are not approved by the General Conference. It merely
“takes note” of them. However, the totality of extrabudgetary projects is
summarized in the comprehensive Additional Programme of extrabudgetary
projects, fully aligned with the priorities of the Regular Programme, which is
finalized once the C/5 is approved.

Although these funds are by definition linked to the execution of the Organization’s
Programme priorities, their management differs from funds made available under
the RP process, in particular with respect to:

(i) The planning cycle;

(i) The dates of availability of funds;

(iii) Specific reporting requirements by donors;

(iv) The ability of the funds to be carried forward from one financial period to the
next.

These differences require greater attention to a budgetary control framework
notably with respect to:
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(i) The rapidly growing volume of XB projects;

(i) The need to develop a more consistent approach between RP and XB
activities;

(i) The cost management and cost recovery policy;

(iv) The euro-US dollar exchange rate methodology.

(e) For both Regular Programme and extrabudgetary resources, the AOs are
responsible to assist and advise ADGs / Directors in the Sector / Bureau / Field
Office / Institute’s budget preparation, in close collaboration with BB (C/4, C/5, XB
Programmes and work plans) and provide all relevant information required

5.3 Programme and Budget execution and monitoring

(@) The conformity and the correctness of Budget execution is ensured by BB by
implementing four major budget control components: A priori controls, Budget
monitoring, Reprogramming, Reporting & Support to decision-making.

0] A priori controls
a. BB must ensure the funds are available and their use complies with the
approved Programme and Budget, notably to prevent from budgetary
overruns.

b. The global balance of permanent staff appropriations in the RP is
ensured by BB, through the development and monitoring of standard
costs per grade.

c. To ensure the funds are available, a fundamental control of all staff
related commitments (post creation, abolition or transfer, hiring,
departure or appointment of an incumbent) is performed with respect to
the approved Budget.

d. As a statutory member of the Contracts Committee, as well as the
Implementation Partners Committee (see AM ltem 7.5), which review
contracts over a defined threshold, BB has the duty to certify that the
required funds are available

(i)  Programme and Budget monitoring
a. The purpose is to make sure the implementation of the Programme and
Budget is in line with the priorities and criteria established in the
approved C/5.

b. The Budget monitoring performed by BB has three main components:
i.  Control of the availability of funds;
ii. Advice on specific expenditures requests;
iii. Analysis and studies (i.e.: staff travel monitoring).

c. While hiring and assignments of staff is initiated by Sectors/Bureaux, the
management of the staff costs budget is ensured at the corporate level
by BB.

d. As regards activity costs and corresponding activity resources are
analyzed and controlled within the Programme Sector by MLA. The
related monitoring of Programme and Budget implementation is the
responsibility of ADGs and Directors of Bureaux as well as BSP and BB.

e. In addition to their in built automatic control functionalities, the
Organization’s IT systems, such as System To Enhance Personnel
Services (STEPS), Finance and Budget System (FABS) and System of
Information on Strategies, Tasks and the Evaluation of Results
(SISTER), provide input data or reports that are valuable for the
analyses performed by BB, BSP and other stakeholders to monitor the
Programme and Budget.

f. AOs have also a key role in executing and monitoring the associated
budget. Indeed they are responsible for assisting and advising ADGs /
Directors of Bureaux on budget execution and monitoring for RP and XB
resources, in close collaboration with BB. AOs administer day-to-day
issues while ensuring budgetary control. Furthermore, they validate and
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g.

h.

process requests made to BB for allotments and fund transfers and are
in charge of providing all relevant information requested. They ensure
that the budget data are adequately and timely entered in the system,
and that budgetary transactions are in line with policy guidance and
instructions provided by BB.

As regards Field Offices under the direct responsibility of a Director,
each Major Programme Sector is responsible for the follow-up and
control of its decentralized funds implemented in the field. While BFC has
a particular role with respect to the follow up and control of field
operating costs, BB supports Programme Sectors, BFC and field offices
Directors/Heads to perform these controls by providing regular reports
by field office.

As a support to the decision-making process for the Director-General
and Programme Sectors, BB produces regular monitoring reports on RP
& XB resources with different analytical perspectives. These reports are
produced quarterly for Sectors, Bureaux and Field Offices with alerts as
appropriate. These analyses, together with IOS and the External
Auditors’ recommendations, help define corrective action plans for the
current biennial budget and / or for the next one, and to inform Member
States.

In addition, BB and ERC jointly prepare specific XB alert reporting by
Sector and project.

(i) Reprogramming

a.

BB provides ongoing analysis on Budget execution with particular
emphasis on opportunities of savings or risks of overruns. The
appropriation resolution allows the Director-General limited flexibility in
the reprogramming of RP resources to meet urgent and/or unplanned
circumstances. In the case of a request for fund transfers between
Sectors/Bureaux, the approval of the Director-General is required with
the recommendation of BSP and BB. The latter also ensures the
reprogramming entries made in the system (SISTER/FABS) are in
accordance with budgetary rules.

Regarding XB resources, the Sectors/Bureaux formulate their needs for
reprogramming according to the agreements made with donor(s). BB
verifies the compliance of the request and approves the related entry in
the system in collaboration with BOC and ERC (in charge of the liaison
with donors).

(iv) Reporting and support to decision making

a.

Regular statutory reports prepared by BB and BSP, with a view on RP &
XB resources are provided (ad hoc alerts may also be reported as
appropriate):

i. On a biennial basis to the General Conference (C/3);

ii. On a half-yearly basis to the Executive Board (EX/4);

iii. At least on a quarterly basis and on request to internal
management committees.

The consolidated reporting on XB resources and corresponding analyses
at the Organization level, including a breakdown by donor, are produced
and controlled by BB, and where appropriate, made available to Member
States. BOC is responsible for the accounting and individual donor
reporting by XB project, some of which require certification.

The implementation of UNESCQO’s RP budget is closed at the end of the
financial period with the budget closing. This process is managed by BB
in coordination with the Sectors/Bureaux and in liaison with BOC for the
closing of the accounts. The preliminary results of the closed Biennial
Budget, including information on XB resources, are produced and
analyzed by BB. Then they are integrated in the final Management Chart
that is presented to Member States during the spring Executive Board
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following the end of the biennium. The Financial Statements produced by
BOC and certified by the External Auditors are then made available to
the Member States.

(v) Conclusion

The Budgetary Control Framework is the backbone of the permanent and
rigorous implementation of budgetary rules. However as the Budget can be
used as a change-driver to anticipate the future Programmes needs,
obviously this framework is meant to evolve.

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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3.1 Introduction to Finance

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial Management,
Financial Policy and Compliance Section (BFM/FPC), which is responsible for this Item
(Original: English).

1. Overview

11

1.2

Chapter 3 “Finance” covers the implementation of the Financial Regulations and Financial
Rules (see AM Appendix 3.3A), as well as the Items relating to or, subsumed under
them, including:

(@) UNESCO’s Internal Control Policy Framework (AM Item 3.4);

(b) The provision of funds for financing appropriations, by means of the assessment of
contributions of Member States and the financing of budgetary appropriations
pending the receipt of contributions by means of a Working Capital Fund
established for this purpose (AM Items 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7);

(c) The management, receipt and disbursement of all funds of the Organization by the
Chief Financial Officer, including controlling, monitoring and approving commitments
and payments against these funds, through the system of delegation of certifying
authority to Certifying Officers (see Paragraph 1.4 (b) below), as well as
establishing and maintaining all official accounts of the Organization (AM Items 3.8
to 3.13);

(d) The records of budget appropriations and allotments, as well as follow-on control
and monitoring of these appropriations and allotments, are maintained by the
Bureau of Financial Management in accordance with Financial Rule 2.6 (see
AM Appendix 3.3A), and are detailed under a separate Item of the Administrative
Manual (AM ltem 2.8).

The Financial Requlations (see also AM Item 3.2), which govern the financial
administration of UNESCO, were adopted by the General Conference at its sixth session
and amended at subsequent sessions. Article 10.1 of these Regulations requires the
Director-General to maintain appropriate internal control systems and broadly outlines
the areas to be covered. In addition, the Financial Regulations set forth the
responsibilities of the Director-General with respect to budget preparation,
appropriations, provision of funds, custody and investment of funds. The Regulations also
deal with accounting practices and the role of the External Auditor. The roles and
responsibilities outlined in the Constitution a nd th e Financial Regulations of
UNESCO form part of a comprehensive Internal Control System. Broadly speaking, this
system is designed by UNESCO’s Governing Bodies and senior management to help
ensure that the Organization’s objectives are achieved efficiently and effectively through
the establishment of a policy framework for internal control, comprising policies,
procedures and processes which are underpinned by appropriate ethical values.

1.3 The Financial Rules (AM Appendix 3.3A) are issued by the Director-General to

implement the provisions of the Financial Regulations and to establish the financial
procedures and main delegated authorities of the Organization. As Chief Administrative
Officer of the Organization under Article VI.2 of the Constitution, the Director-General is
responsible to the General Conference for the implementation of the Financial Rules
(Article 1.4 of the Financial Rules, see AM Appendix 3.3A). Article 1.5 of the Financial
Rules gives authority to the Director-General to delegate such powers as necessary to
secure effective administration of the Financial Rules. Article 1.6 of the Financial Rules
states that the Deputy Director-General is responsible for the overall supervision of the
implementation and application of the Financial Rules.
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1.4 In practice, the Director-General, who by virtue of Article 5.1 of the Financial Rules
(see AM Appendix 3.3A) is authorized to allot the appropriations voted by the General
Conference (delegated to the Chief Financial Officer under Article 5.3 of the Financial
Rules) and to incur expenditure up to the amount of the approved appropriation,
distinguishes between:

(a) Authority to enter into commitments: The Director-General designates in writing
those officials authorized to enter into commitments (“Approving/Authorizing
Officers”) : they, in turn are responsible to the Director-General for the
commitments entered into (see Article 5.7 of the Financial Rules in
AM Appendix 3.3A). On the basis of Staff Regulations, Staff Rules and Financial
Rules of the Organization, the authority for the management of human and financial
resources is delegated by the Director-General to the Deputy Director-General,
ADGs, Directors of Corporate Services, Directors/Heads of Field Offices in the
form of the DG Notes, Administrative Circulars and Job Descriptions. These
officials may, in turn, delegate some of their authority to subordinated staff within
the Secretariat.

(b) Authority to approve commitments: The authority for prior approval of
commitments is assigned to the Chief Financial Officer, and the Chief Financial
Officer in turn delegates to “Certifying Officers” the authority to examine and
approve commitments within the limits approved and in accordance with the criteria
of such certification as set forth in Items (a) to (i) of Article 5.11 of the Financial
Rules (see AM Appendix 3.3A).

1.5 The Administrative Manual Items included under AM Chapter 3, “Finance”, as
described above provide detailed policies, procedures and guidelines to staff members
on the implementation of the provisions of the various Items covered herein. These
Items, as well as the others under the responsibility of the Bureau of Financial
Management, are updated by the Bureau as and when required.

1.6 The cornerstones of the financial and internal control structures described in the
foregoing paragraphs are the Finance and Administrative Officers (AOs), who are
responsible for providing a range of financial management support services to Sectors,
Bureaux and Institutes concerning which they report directly to the Sector ADG/Director
of Offices/Bureaux at Headquarters or Director of the Institute. However, on matters of
internal financial control, in their capacity as Certifying Officer, they have a functional
reporting line to the Chief Financial Officer. Their financial accountabilities also include:

(a) Ensuring Sector/Bureau/Institute’s financial resources are fully and properly
accounted for and that internal control systems are adequate and functioning;

(b) Monitoring and advising the sector ADG, Director of the Office/Bureau/Institute on
the financial status of projects and programmes(including funds confirmed but not
yet available for expenditure; funds available for expenditure and funds already
spent);

(c) Acting as Certifying Officer, thus ensuring that financial transactions are in
compliance with regulations, rules, policies and procedures;

(d) Inline with the Organization’s policies and procedures, setting up proper accounting
procedures and systems and internal controls, having regard to the specific
requirements of the Bureau/Sector/Institute;

(e) Suggesting changes in accounting procedures, when appropriate, and implementing
them once approved by the Corporate Services; and

() Ensuring procurement of equipment and supplies and training staff in the
procurement procedures, and ensuring that contract work is performed according
to the specifications and terms of contracts.

2. Definitions

Not applicable
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3. Policies

3.1

3.2

As stated in the above “Overview”, the policies regarding UNESCQO’s financial
management and internal controls are also embodied in the DG Notes, Administrative
Circulars, Job Descriptions, etc.

The policies emanating from the internal control system are part and parcel of the
Organization’s efforts to achieve its objectives efficiently and effectively through a
transparent and ethics-based internal control framework for financial management. This
control framework must, therefore, not be contravened under any circumstances. Staff
members are responsible for implementing UNESCO’s internal control principles and
standards as an integral part of their job functions and within the scope of their work and
responsibilities. Internal control is also part of the overall process of managing
operations. As such, it is the responsibility of managers (ADGs, directors, chiefs,
supervisors, etc) at all levels of UNESCO to:

(a) Identify and evaluate their exposure to risks related to their particular sphere of
operations;

(b) Establish policies, plans and procedures to minimize, mitigate and/or limit the risk
exposure identified;

(c) Implement practical controlling processes that require and encourage staff to carry
out their duties and responsibilities in a manner that achieves the ends of
strengthening internal financial control; and

(d) Maintain the effectiveness of the processes of internal control that they have
established and foster continuous improvement of these processes.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

Not applicable

5. Procedures and Processes

Not applicable

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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3.2 Financial Regulations

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial Management,
Financial Reporting and Accounts Section (BFM/FRA), which is responsible for this Item
(Original: English).

1. Overview

1.1 The Financial Regulations (the text of which is included in the Basic Texts) govern the
financial administration of UNESCO. They were adopted by the General Conference at
its sixth session and amended at subsequent sessions. “Additional Terms of Reference
Governing the Audit”, approved by the General Conference, constitute an Annex to the
Financial Regulations.

2. Definitions
Not applicable

3. Policies

3.1 Only the General Conference is authorized to amend or suspend a provision of the
Financial Regulations.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1 The Director-General is authorized to rule in case of doubt on the interpretation or
application of any of the Regulations. The Chief Financial Officer is responsible to the
Director-General for ensuring the implementation of the Financial Regulations.
Responsibility for the application of the Financial Regulations is shared among all the
directors of the Corporate Services.

5. Procedures and Processes
Not applicable

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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3.3 Financial Rules

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial Management,
Financial Policy and Compliance Section (BFM/FPC), which is responsible for this Item
(Original: English).

1. Overview

11

1.2

The Financial Rules (the text of which is included in AM Appendix 3.3A) are established
by the Director-General to implement the provisions of the Financial Regulations and
establish the financial procedures and main delegated authorities of the Organization.
The Financial Rules ensure effective financial administration, the exercise of economy
and safeguard the assets of the Organization.

The Financial Rules apply uniformly to all sources of funds and all financial transactions
of the Organization unless otherwise stated in the Financial Rules.

2. Definitions

Not applicable

3. Policies

3.1

The Financial Rules and any amendments thereto enter into force after approval by the
Executive Board.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

The Director-General is required to establish detailed Financial Rules in accordance with
Financial Regulation 10.1. The Director-General is responsible to the General
Conference for the implementation of the Financial Rules.

The Director-General may delegate, together with authorization for redelegation, such of
his/her powers as he/she deems necessary to secure effective administration of the
Rules.

The Deputy Director-General is responsible for the overall supervision of the
implementation and application of the Financial Rules. The Deputy Director-General
oversees the development and issuance of detailed instructions, policies and procedures
manuals for the implementation of the Rules on behalf of the Director-General.

Specific responsibility for the application of the Financial Rules is detailed within the text
of the Rules.

5. Procedures and Processes

Not applicable

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms
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Not applicable

8. Additional Help

185 EX/Decision 26
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3.3A Financial Rules

ARTICLE 1: General Provisions
Purpose and Applicability

1.1 Purpose. The Financial Rules implement the provisions of the Financial Regulations and
establish the financial procedures and main delegated authorities of the Organization.
The Financial Rules ensure effective financial administration, the exercise of economy
and safeguard the assets of the Organization.

1.2 Applicability. The Financial Rules apply uniformly to all sources of funds and all financial
transactions of the Organization unless otherwise stated in these Financial Rules.

Authority and Responsibility

1.3 Authority. The Director-General is required to establish detailed Financial Rules in
accordance with Financial Regulation 10.1.

1.4 Responsibility. The Director-General, by virtue of the authority vested in him/her as the
chief administrative officer of the Organization, is responsible to the General Conference
for the implementation of the Financial Rules.

1.5 Delegation of Authority. The Director-General may delegate, together with
authorization for redelegation, such of his/her powers as he/she deems necessary to
secure effective administration of these Rules.

1.6 The Deputy Director-General is responsible for the overall supervision of the
implementation and application of the Financial Rules. The Deputy Director-General
oversees the development and issuance of detailed instructions, policies and procedures
manuals for the implementation of these rules on behalf of the Director-General.

Effective Date and Interpretation

1.7 Effective date. The Financial Rules established by the Director-General, and any
amendments thereto, shall enter into force after approval by the Executive Board.

1.8 Interpretation. In case of doubt as to the meaning of any of the Financial Rules, the
Director-General shall rule thereon.

ARTICLE 2: Resource Planning
The Regular Programme and Budget

2.1 Regular programme and budget proposals, and supplementary proposals if appropriate,
reflecting all sources of funds in such manner and at such times as may be required,
shall be drawn up and submitted by designated officials to the Director-General.

2.2 The Director-General shall prepare the programme content and resource allocation of
the proposed biennial regular programme and budget (C/5 document) to be submitted
for examination by the Executive Board, which forwards it to the General Conference for
consideration and approval.

Extrabudgetary Activities

2.3 All Sectors, field offices and institutes, under the overall policy guidance and supervision
of the Director-General and the concerned Assistant Directors-General and senior
officials, are responsible for the programming, implementation and monitoring of
extrabudgetary programmes and projects which must be in line with the regular
programme priorities.

2.4 The Bureau of Financial Management is responsible for the budgetary management of
extrabudgetary programmes and projects, in close cooperation with the Bureau of
Strategic Planning.

Budget Records

2.5 Records of budget appropriations and allotments are maintained by the Bureau of
Financial Management. The budget records are prepared on the modified cash basis.
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2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

Budget records shall be maintained by the Bureau of Financial Management concerning:

(a) the appropriations voted by the General Conference and the adjustments made
subsequently in these appropriations;

(b) the total allotments made against such appropriations;

(c) the unallotted balance of the appropriation.

The Bureau of Financial Management will maintain records concerning:

(a) the original allotments and any adjustments;

(b) the amount of commitments entered into and commitments liquidated;
(c) the amount of expenditures;

(d) the uncommitted balance of allotments; and

(e) statements showing the budgetary situation on all allotment codes.

Commitments and expenditures shall be reported in accordance with the budgetary
structure established by the Director-General.

The Bureau of Financial Management shall prepare a statement showing budget and
actual expenditure for inclusion in the annual financial statements of UNESCO prepared
in accordance with IPSAS. This statement shall compare the final approved regular
budget to actual expenditure expressed on the same basis as the corresponding
budgetary amounts.

The Bureau of Financial Management shall prepare a reconciliation between the actual
amounts included in the statement of comparison of budget and actual expenditure (see
Financial Rule 2.9 above) and the actual amounts presented in the primary financial
statements, for inclusion in the notes to the annual financial statements of UNESCO
prepared in accordance with IPSAS.

Modified Cash Basis

2.11

2.12

2.13

2.14

UNESCO budget records shall be prepared on the modified cash basis, which combines
both the cash and accrual basis depending on the nature of the transaction.

Commitments shall be recorded in the budget records of the budget period in which they
are entered into. Income shall be credited to the budget records of the budget period to
which it relates.

Expenditures shall be charged to the budget records of the budget period to which they
relate.

The cost of all property acquired, other than real property, shall be charged as an
expenditure out of the budget for the year in which the commitment for its acquisition is
entered into.

ARTICLE 3: Financial Resources
Assessed Contributions

3.1

3.2

3.3

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the collection of assessed contributions due
by Member States.

Payment of assessed contributions shall be in the United States dollar or the Euro as
specified in Financial Reqgulation 5.6. The Chief Financial Officer shall determine the
acceptability of payment of assessed contributions in other currencies subject to annual
approval on a case-by-case basis. The approvals will stipulate any terms and conditions
that the Chief Financial Officer considers necessary to protect the Organization, including
any limit to the amount authorized to be paid in national currency and the fixed time limit
for making the payment.

Where payment of assessed contributions is made in currencies other than those
specified in Financial Regulation 5.6 (United States dollars or Euros) and has not
received prior approval from the Chief Financial Officer, or does not comply with the
specific terms of any approval given by the Chief Financial Officer, the Chief Financial
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Officer may immediately sell the received payment against the United States dollar if
there is a market for the currency. The resulting credit will be given to the Member State
for the proceeds of the sale. The Chief Financial Officer may also return the payment to
the relevant Member State if there is no foreseeable need for that currency in the
remaining months of the calendar year, and the assessed contribution concerned shall
continue to be due and payable.

Voluntary Contributions

3.4 Voluntary contributions, other than those from individuals, will be accepted on the basis
of an agreement or other appropriate document with the donor, which shall specify the
amount and purpose of the funds to be received and, where applicable, shall include
such other provisions which in the opinion of the Director-General are acceptable and
consistent with the Financial Regulations and Rules, and applicable policies, aims and
activities of UNESCO.

3.5 Voluntary contributions from individuals may be accepted, with or without an agreement,
where in the opinion of the Director-General these are acceptable and consistent with
the Financial Regulations and Rules, and applicable policies, aims, priorities and activities
of UNESCO.

Other Financial Resources

3.6  UNESCO may solicit and receive private-sector funding provided that:

(a) such activities are consistent with the mandate, policies, aims, priorities and
activities of UNESCO;

(b) the general principles of integrity, transparency and accountability are fully
observed as well as the principles of the UN global compact; and

(c) all private sector funding agreements as well as public-private sector agreements
receive the clearance of the Assistant Director-General for Strategic Planning.

ARTICLE 4: Funds and Reserves

Applicability

4.1 The Financial Rules are also applicable to the General and Working Capital Funds, all
trust funds and special accounts that may be established outside the regular programme,
and Reserves of the Organization. The purpose and limits of each Fund and Reserve
established shall be defined by the General Conference, Executive Board or Director-
General as appropriate. Such Funds and Reserves shall be administered in accordance

with these Financial Rules unless otherwise provided by the General Conference or
Executive Board.

Working Capital Fund

4.2 Advances from the Working Capital Fund may be made only for the purposes and within
the terms and conditions prescribed by the General Conference.

4.3 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the collection of advances due by Member
States to the Working Capital Fund.

Trust Funds and Special Accounts

4.4 The Director-General shall issue guidelines for the establishment and administration of
trust funds and special accounts. To ensure cost-effective administration, the Director-
General may determine a minimum contribution level below which he/she may refuse the
establishment of a trust fund or special account.

Reserves

4.5 The Director-General may establish operating and other reserves for clearly defined and
specified purposes consistent with the policies, aims and activities of UNESCO. The
Director-General shall also establish the level, separate accounting records, utilization
and reporting requirements as required of each reserve.

ARTICLE 5: Utilization of Resources
Appropriations
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51

5.2

The appropriations voted by the General Conference constitute authorization to the
Director-General to issue allotments and incur expenditure up to the amount of the
approved appropriation.

The Director-General may determine the maximum amount of the appropriations that it
would be prudent to make available for allotment, taking into account the status of
approved Work Plans, the prospects for payment of assessed contributions and the
availability of both the Working Capital Fund and internal borrowing.

Allotment of Regular Budget Funds

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

Under the authority of the Director-General, the Chief Financial Officer issues allotments,
within the limits of the appropriation voted by the General Conference, to Assistant
Directors-General and Bureau or office directors in accordance with the approved Work
Plans.

The Director-General may, as necessary, make subsequent changes of the allotments
within an appropriation line.

Assistant Directors-General and Bureau or office directors, as appropriate, may enter
into commitments for the purpose covered by the allotments up to the amount so
allotted.

Transfers between appropriation lines may only be made by the Director-General with
the prior approval of the Executive Board within the limitations set forth in the
appropriation resolution. Within each appropriation line, transfers between funds
earmarked for main lines of action may be made by the Director-General.

Financial Commitments

5.7

Only those officials designated in writing by the Director-General (or their delegated
authorities) are authorized to enter into commitments. Every person entering into a
commitment is responsible to the Director-General for the commitment entered into.

5.8 Commitments may be entered into only during the financial period concerned, for delivery

5.9

in that financial period or the subsequent calendar year, and only if they comply with:

(a) the Financial Regulations and Rules, and in particular only if they are certified as
being in accordance with the approved Work Plans;

(b) such instructions complementing the Financial Regulations and Rules as are laid
down by the Director-General,

(c) other applicable regulations and rules.

Except as provided in Rules 5.10, 5.11, 5.12 and 5.15, all proposed commitments shall
be submitted for the prior approval of the Chief Financial Officer.

5.10 The Chief Financial Officer (or his/her delegated authority) may delegate to officers

designated for this purpose and known as “certifying officers” the authority to examine
and approve commitments within limits approved from time to time by the Director-
General.

5.11 The Chief Financial Officer or certifying officers shall be responsible for examining the

proposed commitments to ensure that:

(a) they are certified to be in accordance with the approved Work Plans;
(b) funds are available under the particular code;

(c) the terms and currency of payment are acceptable;

(d) they are in accordance with the Financial Regulations and Rules and the Staff
Regulations and Staff Rules;

(e) they conform to existing policies and procedures;

(f)  the amount to be paid is reasonable;

(g) contracts are drawn up in such a manner as to form sound financial transactions;
(h) the interests of the Organization have been fully protected;
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5.12

5.13

5.14

5.15

(i) the amount relating to accruals where goods or services have been delivered is
identified.

The Chief Financial Officer or the certifying officer after examining each proposed
commitment shall signify his/her approval in writing on each commitment document.
Revisions to a commitment shall require the same treatment as the original commitment.

The appropriate internal procedures applicable to each category of commitment shall be
followed in every case.

Any official authorizing or entering into commitments shall be personally responsible for
actions or decisions taken in disregard of these Rules and for failure to follow the
appropriate procedure.

The prior approval of the Chief Financial Officer shall not be required for commitments
entered into by engaging staff members. The control over this is primarily exercised by
the Director-General and the Director of the Bureau of Human Resources Management
through the authorized staffing table.

ARTICLE 6: Administration of Resources
Authority and General Principle

6.1

6.2

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the management, receipt and disbursement
of all funds of the Organization.

Payment from funds of the Organization shall be made only for services rendered or
goods delivered, except under special circumstances provided in these Rules where
advance payments are authorized.

Management of Resources

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

Funds of the Organization shall be deposited only in banks or institutions which the
Director-General, or the officials duly authorized by him/her, shall designate.

The Treasurer shall administer all banking accounts operated by the Organization
including those opened for trust and other special purposes, maintaining separate
accounts for each bank or cash account in which all receipts and payments shall be
accounted for.

Cheques drawn and transfer orders made on all such accounts shall be signed by two
persons from the panels of signatories which the Treasurer, or officials duly authorized
by him/her, shall establish.

If, in the Treasurer’s opinion, exceptional local conditions prevent the application of the
double signature principle, cheques drawn and transfer orders shall be signed in
accordance with instructions issued by the Treasurer, with one signature being sufficient.
These instructions shall stipulate a maximum limit for payments with single signature.

No interest shall be payable on sums deposited with the Organization. Should any
interest accrue on investments made on behalf of a second party, the amount of such
interest shall be repaid to the same second party subject to the deduction, if necessary,
of a commission, the amount of which shall be determined by the Director-General.

Investments

6.8

(@) The authority to make and manage investments under Financial Regulations 9.1
and 9.2 is delegated to the Chief Financial Officer;

(b) The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring the sound investment of all
monies received by the Organization;

(c) The Chief Financial Officer shall establish an Investment Committee to render
advice on investment matters. The Investment Committee shall review and advise
on the Investment Policy of the Organization;

(d) The Chief Financial Officer shall ensure, including by consultations with the
Investment Committee and by establishing appropriate Investment Policy, that
funds are invested in such a way as to place primary emphasis on minimizing the
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risk to principal funds while ensuring the cash flow needs of UNESCO. In addition
to these criteria, investments shall be selected on the basis of achieving the
highest reasonable rate of return;

(e) All investments shall be made through and maintained by recognized financial
institutions in accordance with the Investment Policy;

(f) The Chief Financial Officer shall designate officers that are authorized to conclude
investments.

Borrowing Authority

6.9 Within the terms and conditions prescribed by the General Conference, the Chief
Financial Officer may negotiate and contract external short-term loans when necessary
to enable the Organization to meet its financial commitments.

Control of Expenditure

6.10 Payments shall not be effected unless the request and supporting documents indicate the
account to be charged and are certified by the appropriate officers to indicate:

(a) that the goods have been delivered or the services rendered in accordance with
the terms of the contract;

(b)  that the amount to be paid is correct and in accordance with the terms of
payment;

(c) that payment has not previously been made.

6.11 The Chief Financial Officer or the certifying officer shall be responsible for ensuring that
all proposed payments are properly chargeable to the account indicated and, when
applicable, against the commitment documents approved by him/her or by finance
officers.

6.12 Should the Chief Financial Officer feel for any reason that payment of any claim should
be withheld, such claims shall be referred to the Deputy Director-General who shall, in
writing, direct the action to be taken.

6.13 Payment vouchers and all supporting documents shall be retained in appropriate files as
an integral part of the official accounting records of the Organization.

6.14 The Chief Financial Officer shall be informed by the Bureau of Human Resources
Management of all personnel actions and all changes in salary scales in order that
he/she may give effect to such changes in establishing the payroll.

6.15 Indirect costs incurred by organizations of the United Nations system and non-
governmental organizations in the execution or implementation of UNESCO programme
activities shall be paid from project resources as specified in the agreement/s between
the parties involved.

Advance Payments

6.16 Advance payments may be made under contracts up to an established percentage
threshold of the total contract value, where contractual arrangements may require
advance payments and it is considered that these are in the financial interests of the
Organization. Arrangements should be made to ensure the necessary safeguards are in
place and are clearly stated in the contractual document.

6.17 Travel expense advance payments may be made to officials to whom travel
authorizations have been issued. Such advance payments are to be used in accordance
with the provisions of the relevant Financial Rules and Regulations.

6.18 Salary advance payments may be made to staff members under the circumstances set
forth in the Staff Rules.

Management of Property

6.19 The Director-General is responsible for the management of property of UNESCO,
including its receipt, recording, utilization, safekeeping, maintenance, disposal, sale or
transfer. The Director-General may delegate authority for such management of property.

6.20 Property shall be categorized as follows for the purposes of management of property:
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6.21

6.22

6.23

6.24

6.25

(a) expendable property;
(b)  non-expendable property;
(c) small attractive items.

Non-expendable property and small attractive items together constitute the Property,
Plant and Equipment of UNESCO, and shall be recognized as such in the financial
statements in accordance with Financial Rule 7.10.

(a) The Director-General shall establish Property Survey Boards to render advice with
respect to the management of the property of UNESCO. The Director-General
shall establish the composition and terms of reference of such Boards.

(b) Where the advice of a Property Survey Board is required no final action in respect
of UNESCO property loss, damage or other discrepancy may be taken before
such advice is received. In cases where the Director-General decides not to
accept the advice of such a Board, he or she shall record in writing the reasons for
that decision.

(c) Supplies, equipment or other property declared surplus, unserviceable or obsolete,
following a recommendation by a Property Survey Board shall be disposed of,
transferred or sold after competitive bidding, unless competitive bidding is not
necessary as outlined in the UNESCO guidelines.

Records shall be maintained of all Property, Plant and Equipment, however acquired and
from whatever source, containing full details. Recording of Property, Plant and
Equipment acquisition into the asset register is the responsibility of Finance Officers and
the Procurement Division. The Procurement Division shall maintain the asset register for
UNESCO Head Office.

Finance Officers are responsible for ensuring that physical Property, Plant and
Equipment held by their bureau/office/institute corresponds to the records. Periodic
physical inventories shall be taken of all Property, Plant and Equipment.

At the end of each financial period the Chief Financial Officer shall provide a statement to
the External Auditor showing all Property, Plant and Equipment belonging to the
Organization as at 31 December.

Surplus property shall be sold for the best possible return to the Organization except
when the exchange of surplus property in partial payment for the new articles will afford
an advantage to the Organization over the sale of surplus property and separate
purchase of new articles.

Write-Off of Losses

6.26

6.27

6.28

The writing off of losses concerns the charging of an asset amount to expense or loss in
order to reduce the value of the asset. The writing off of losses may be authorized by
the Director-General or another delegated authority.

(@) Inthe case of loss or damage to property as defined in Financial Rule 6.20, the
details and explanation of the loss or damage and the reasons for the proposed
writing off shall be submitted to the Property Survey Board,;

(b) The Property Survey Board may, after full investigation, advise the writing off of
losses of UNESCO property.

(@) Inthe case of other losses of cash and assets not covered by Financial Rule 6.27
above, a full explanation of attempts to recover the amount concerned and of the
reasons for the proposed writing off is prepared by the appropriate Section Chief
and forwarded to the Chief Financial Officer;

(b) If the amount of the loss is greater than the established monetary threshold, the
Chief Financial Officer shall forward the full explanation of the case to the Deputy
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Director-General, who shall take the decision to authorize the write-off of the loss.
If the amount of the loss is less than or equal to the established monetary
threshold, the Chief Financial Officer may authorize the decision to write off the
loss.

Procurement of Goods, Works and Services

6.29 The Assistant Director-General for Administration is responsible and accountable for
carrying out the procurement functions of UNESCO consistent with his/her mandate and
shall establish the necessary controls to protect the integrity of the procurement process
and the interests of UNESCO.

6.30 The following general principles shall be given due consideration when exercising the
procurement functions of UNESCO:

(a) best value for money;

(b) fairness, integrity and transparency;
(c) effective competition;

(d) the interests of UNESCO.

6.31 Consistent with the general provisions contained in Financial Rule 6.30 above,
procurement contracts shall be awarded on the basis of effective competition. This
requirement shall not apply to contracts and agreements addressed by Financial
Rule 6.34 below, which are entered into in accordance with applicable requirements.

6.32 The requirement for competitive bidding for a particular procurement may be waived
under specific established conditions and by the corresponding established authority.

6.33 Each determination or decision required of an authorized purchasing or contracting
official by the provisions of these Rules shall be supported by the written findings of such
official. The written findings shall be placed in the appropriate contract file.

Not-for-Profit Organizations

6.34 Where applicable under UNESCO’s mission and mandate, the Director-General may
implement activities or designate an organization or entity other than the Member State
government where the programme is implemented to implement activities approved by
UNESCO. For this purpose, the Director-General may also contract for the services of
other agencies and non-governmental organizations.

Contracts with institutions which are in principle “not-for-profit” organizations and for
which no specific deliverable of a tangible or intangible character is to be obtained for the
benefit of UNESCO are not subject to procurement rules.

6.35 The Director-General has the authority to select, subject to any agreements providing
otherwise, implementing partners and the responsibility to oversee their performance.

Ex Gratia Payments

6.36 The Director-General may make ex gratia payments when there is no obligation or
liability requiring the payment if it is in the interest of the Organization, and provided that,
in the opinion of the Office of International Standards and Legal Affairs, there is no legal
constraint to the ex gratia payment.

6.37
(a) The Deputy Director-General is responsible for authorizing ex gratia payments
greater than or equal to the established monetary threshold,;

(b) The Director of the Bureau of Human Resources Management is responsible for
authorizing ex gratia payments below the established monetary threshold
concerning a staff member or other employee of the Organization;

(c) For all other ex gratia payments below the established monetary threshold not
covered by subparagraph (b) of this Rule, the Chief Financial Officer is responsible
for authorizing payment.

Conflict and Disaster Activities
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6.38 Specific administrative procedures will come into effect during clearly defined conflict and

disaster situations, declared as such by the Director-General. Such procedures will
apply for up to twelve months from the date a crisis situation is declared, and are
detailed in the Administrative Manual. They will only apply to activities and projects
directly related to specific conflict and disaster situations, declared as such by the
Director-General, based upon the recommendation of the Intersectoral Platform on
Support to Countries in Post-Conflict and Post-Disaster Situations.

ARTICLE 7: Accounts and Financial Statements
Accounting Records

7.1

7.2

7.3

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for establishing and maintaining all official
accounting records of the Organization.

The accounting records register all financial transactions of the Organization. The
purpose of these records is to enable appraisal of the current financial position and
performance of the Organization. The structure of the accounting records is defined by
the chart of accounts, which is established and maintained by the Bureau of Financial
Management. The accounting records are used to establish the annual financial
statements.

All accounting records shall be supported by documentation to be retained in appropriate
files as integral parts of the official accounts of the Organization.

Financial Statements

7.4

7.5

7.6

1.7

The annual financial statements shall be prepared in accordance with International Public
Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS).

The Chief Financial Officer shall certify that the annual financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IPSAS.

The annual financial statements include the following information:
(a) a statement of financial position;

(b) a statement of financial performance;

(c) astatement of changes in net assets/equity;

(d) acash flow statement;

(e) a statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts;

(f) notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

Subparagraphs (a) to (d) shall be considered to constitute the primary financial
statements.

The annual financial statements shall be submitted by the Director-General to the
External Auditor not later than 31 March following the end of the year to which they
relate.

Accrual Basis Accounting

7.8

7.9

The primary financial statements shall be prepared and presented under the accrual
basis of accounting, in accordance with IPSAS. Under this basis of accounting, the
effects of transactions and other events are recognized when they occur (and not only
when cash or its equivalent is received or paid). Therefore, the transactions and events
are recorded in the accounting records and reported in the financial statements of the
financial periods to which they relate. The elements recognized under accrual accounting
are assets, liabilities, net assets/equity, revenue and expenses.

Expenses included in the statement of financial performance are decreases in economic
benefits or service potential during the year in the form of outflows or consumption of
assets or incurrence of liabilities that result in decreases in net assets/equity.

Revenue included in the statement of financial performance is the gross inflow of
economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows
result in an increase in net assets/equity.
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7.10 The acquisition of all non-expendable property and small attractive items shall be
capitalized in the statement of financial position under the heading “Property, Plant and
Equipment”, in accordance with IPSAS. The acquisition of expendable property shall be
treated as an expense in accordance with Financial Rule 7.9 above.

7.11 The gain or loss from the de-recognition of Property, Plant and Equipment shall be
included in the surplus or deficit in the statement of financial performance.

Other Financial Reporting

7.12 The accounting records are used to establish other financial reports including:
(a) members’ contributions assessed, received and unpaid;
(b) Working Capital Fund deposits assessed, received and unpaid;
(c) general accounts including all subsidiary records;

(d) treasury accounts showing all receipts and disbursements and records of
investments;

(e) such other accounts as are necessary to prepare periodic statements showing the
financial situation of the Organization;

(f)  the accounts relating to trust funds, reserves and special accounts.
7.13 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for furnishing:
(a) such other periodic financial statements required by the Financial Regulations;

(b) any other financial statements required by the Director-General, the Executive
Board or the General Conference;

(c) thefinal and any interim statements of accounts for all funds.
ARTICLE 8: Internal Control and Oversight
Internal Control
8.1 The Director-General shall establish and maintain internal controls to ensure that:

(a) Appropriate procedures exist to delegate the authority of the Director-General to
officials to enter into commitments, authorize payments or undertake
disbursements on behalf of UNESCO;

(b)  Transactions and activities are properly authorized, and supported by proper
records;

(c) Duties are adequately segregated, including the separation of financial functions;

(d) Financial systems and procedures promote the efficient, effective and economical
use of all the available resources, and safeguard financial propriety;

(e) Property is adequately safeguarded and is used appropriately.

8.2 Each Assistant Director-General and Director of bureau/office/institute is responsible for
effective and efficient application of the Organization’s internal control system, and shall
provide written attestation to that effect to the Chief Financial Officer. These attestations
shall form the basis for the Director-General’s annual statement on internal control in the
audited financial statements.

Internal Oversight Service

8.3 The Office of Internal Oversight Services (I0S) provides a consolidated oversight
mechanism which includes internal audit, evaluation and investigation. Within the financial
control framework, 10S is responsible for the review and evaluation of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Organization’s overall systems of internal control as part of the
Organization’s control monitoring. For this purpose, all systems, processes, operations,
functions and activities within the Organization may be subject to such review and
evaluation.

8.4 The Director-General shall appoint a Director of I0S, and may consult with the Oversight
Advisory Committee on the required qualifications of the candidates.
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8.5

8.6

9.1

IOS shall function in accordance with the following provisions:

(a)
(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

the Director of IOS reports to and is accountable directly to the Director-General;

IOS operates independently from other parts of the UNESCO Secretariat. Apart
from providing advice, 10S is not included in the management of any programmes,
operations or functions;

I0S shall have complete and unrestricted access to all records, documents,
personnel and physical assets it deems necessary in carrying out its
responsibilities at Headquarters and in UNESCO institutes, centres and other
offices;

IOS shall have the right to communicate directly with all levels of staff and
management, and the right to request any staff member to furnish all information
and explanations that IOS deems necessary;

IOS shall report the results of its work and make recommendations to the
responsible UNESCO management officials for action. UNESCO management
officials are responsible for considering 10S reports issued to them, providing
timely responses to 10S, and implementing agreed action plans. Where
management officials and IOS are unable to agree on action plans in response to
IOS reports, the matter will be communicated within the Secretariat hierarchy for
resolution;

An annual report is prepared by the Director of I0S for the Director-General and
shared with the Oversight Advisory Committee summarizing significant oversight
activities, conclusions, recommendations and action taken in response. This annual
report is presented by the Director-General to the Executive Board. In addition, a
summary report is submitted to the Executive Board on external evaluations
completed.

IOS is responsible for monitoring the implementation status of its recommendations and
periodically reporting the status to the Director-General, with particular attention to timely
communication of conditions resulting in high risk exposure.

ARTICLE 9: External Audit

The Chief Financial Officer shall arrange for the External Auditor to have access at all
convenient times during the year to all accounting records and information relevant

thereto which he/she may require. Requests for information classified as confidential

shall be made to the Director-General and, in making his/her report, direct quotations

from such documents shall be avoided by the External Auditor.
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3.4 Internal Control Policy Framework

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial Management,
Financial Policy and Compliance Section (BFM/FPC), which is responsible for this Item. This
Item applies at Headquarters and Field Offices (Original: English).

1. Overview

1.1 The objective of this internal control framework (the Framework) is to provide all staff
members with a clear and shared understanding of what internal control is and how it
should function in UNESCO. The Framework:

is structured in accordance with the best practice principles of the COSO
internal control integrated framework;

assigns accountability to all UNESCO staff members for implementing internal
controls and divides responsibilities between member using the “three lines of
defence” model, further explained in paragraph 4.4 and

sets out how the effectiveness of internal control system will be evaluated and
reported upon annually.

The Framework aims to support risks management to achieving three categories of
objectives:

Operations: objectives for effective and efficient operations.

Reporting: objectives for timely, relevant and reliable internal and external
reporting.

Compliance: objectives for compliance with applicable policies and procedures,
laws and regulations.

1.2 Internal control is a tool to manage risks to the achievement of UNESCQO'’s objectives.
This means that:

objectives must be clearly specified; so that
risks to those objectives can be identified; and

internal controls can be selected to manage those risks.

Intemnal controls manage risks to UNESCO achieving its objectives

UNESCO UNESCO

objectives Internal controls
set

objectives
achieved

1.3 As such the internal control framework forms part of a wider accountability system
alongside strategic objectives and risk management framework. All of which must be
functioning together effectively for UNESCO to have a reasonable likelihood of meeting
its objectives.
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1.4 Internal control is not just policies and procedures, manuals, and forms. The Internal
Control Framework serves no purpose unless it is effective. Thus everyone in the
Organization has a role to play in ensuring the effectiveness of the internal control
system, including the high quality implementation of programme: UNESCOQO’s Governing
Bodies, the Director-General, senior management and staff members are all a part of
the internal control system

2. Definitions

2.1 Internal controly: may be defined as a process, enforced by the Governing Bodies, the
Director-General and senior management and other staff member, and designed to
provide reasonable assurance on the achievement of objectives under the following:

(a) Effectiveness and efficiency of operations: this category addresses the
Organization’s basic “business” objectives, including performance goals and
safeguarding of assets;

(b) Reliability of financial reporting: the preparation of reliable published Financial
Statements, including interim accounts and other financial data;

(c) Compliance with applicable policies and procedures, laws and regulations.

2.2 Risks: A potential event that, if it materialises, may have a positive or negative impact on
the achievement of UNESCOQO's objectives. Risk is as much a potential threat as a missed
opportunity. A risk can have consequences beyond failure to deliver on results. It may
negatively impact on reputation, integrity, credibility and trust from donors and
stakeholders. A risk has a cause and effecty,.

2.3 Control Environment: Influenced by the “tone at the top”, the control environment
describes the way in which people conduct their activities and carry out their control
responsibilities. It serves as a foundation for other components of the internal control
system. Control environment factors include integrity, ethical values and competence of
the Organization’s staff members; management’s philosophy and operating style; the way
management assigns authority and responsibility and organizes and develops its staff
members; and the level of attention and direction provided by the Governing Bodies.

2.4 Risk Assessment: UNESCO, like many other organizations, faces a variety of risks
from internal and external sources. A precondition to risk assessment is the
establishment of objectives, linked at different levels and internally consistent. Risk
assessment is the identification and analysis of risks relevant to the achievement of the
objectives, forming a basis for determining how the risks should be managed. The
approach taken by the Organization towards risk management is further described in the
Risk Management Resources of UNESCO.

2.5 Control Activities: These are policies and procedures, which are established and
implemented to ensure that action is taken effectively to mitigate risks in achieving the
Organization’s objectives (for example, yearly work plan reviews). These will include
activities such as approvals, authorizations, verifications, reconciliations, and reviews of
operating performance, security of assets and segregation of duties.

2.6 Information and Communication: These are systems which enable staff members to
capture and exchange information to conduct, manage and control operations. These
systems form part of the books and records of the Organization, the basis used by the
External Auditor to express their opinion on the financial statements.

2.7 Monitoring Activities: The internal control system must be monitored by senior
management and staff members, and modifications made as and when necessary. This is
accomplished through ongoing monitoring, separate evaluations or a combination of the
two. This is the framework element that is usually associated with the financial and
internal audit functions in any Organization, as well as other monitoring processes through
general management activities (for example, follow up of programme implementation
levels) and supervisory activities (for example, upon signature of contracts with third
parties). Itis important that internal control deficiencies are reported upstream and that
those serious deficiencies are reported to top management for remedial action. In this
way, the internal control systems can react dynamically, changing as conditions warrant.
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2.8 Preventive Controls: are designed to discourage errors or irregularities from
occurring.

2.9 Detective Controls: are designed to find errors or irregularities after they have
occurred.

2.10 Accountability: Demonstrates dependability in all aspects of own work and takes
responsibility for own words and actions and can be relied upon consistently: takes
ownership for actions and decisions; fulfils all commitments made to colleagues and
partners; operates in compliance with UNESCQO’s policies and procedures, laws and
regulations: is transparent and honest in all actions and decisionsy;..

This is facilitated through inter-alia, the publication of administrative and human resources
manual items which define roles, responsibilities and accountabilities as well as a set of
policies to promote accountability such as for instance policies related to human resources
and to the prevention of fraud and corrupt practices, etc.

2.11 Staff membery: Staff member means a person engaged by the Director-General other
than a consultant, supernumerary, holder of a fee contract, a person engaged specifically
for a conference or meeting, for auxiliary duties in the UNESCO Commissary, or for
maintenance duties in offices away from Headquarters, or a casual labourer.

[1] UNESCO Competency Framework

[2] HR Manual Staff Regulations and Rules, Rule 100.2 Definitions

1z Based on the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO)
Internal Control — Integrated Framework, May 1994

[4] Based on the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO) Internal Control — Integrated Framework, May 2013

3. Policies

Components and principles of internal control

3.1. UNESCO'’s internal control framework consists of five f f ;ﬁf
interrelated components, linked together, forming an :
integrated system that can react dynamically to changing
conditions. The internal control system is intertwined with
the Organization’s operating activities, and is the most
effective when controls are built into the infrastructure.
These are referred to as process internal controls. each
underpinned with key supporting principles, which must all
be functioning together to effectively support UNESCO N vouneos e cxccne summonyons poserf e
achieving its objectives. i ——

3.2. The first component, Control Environment, provides the basis for internal control
throughout UNESCO and serves as the foundation for the other components:

Integrity & Ethics  Standards are in place and enforced

of and lines are

clearly defined and adhered to_

Staff with the appropriate skills to deliver UNESCO's objectives are

Ci and ir Poor is
effectiveby

Accountabality ‘Staff are held accountable for their internal control responsibilities.

The Board it i ight of the
and performance of internal control.
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3.3.

3.4.

3.5.

3.6.

Once UNESCO’s objectives have been clearly specified, and an effective control
environment has been established, it is necessary to identify and analyse the risks that
will be faced in trying to achieve those objectives.

The Risk Assessment component involves identifying the risks to achieving
UNESCO’s objectives and determining what internal controls are needed to manage
them:

UNESCO's objectives are specific enough that related risks can be identified
and assessed.

Risks to achievi jectives are i i and to determine how
they should be managed.

Fraud Due consideration is given to the potential for and impact from fraud.

‘Changes which could impact the system of internal control are identified and

Gl assessed.

Once risks to UNESCO'’s objectives have been identified, appropriate policies and
procedures must be designed in response, and UNESCO staff members need to take
actions to put these into practice and manage the risks. The Control Activities
component, in essence, involves determining what needs to be done to manage risks and
doing it. Routine actions such as planning, training, authorising, reviewing and monitoring
are all internal control activities which collectively help to manage risks.

Through the preceding three components (control environment, risk assessment and
control activities) of internal control a strong control environment is established, risks to
objectives are identified and assessed, and internal control activities are selected to
manage those risks. The Information & Communication component involves gathering and
communicating quality information, both within UNESCO and with external parties, to
support control activities, inform decision making and fulfil reporting requirements.

Published on 16-Nov-2009 Updated on 07-Apr-2017 Page 4


http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0022/002269/226924e.pdf#page=102

UNESCO Administrative Manual Item 3.4

. Relevant, complete, refiable and timely information is obtained or

Quality Information generated and used to support the functioning of internal control.
Internal Information needed to support internal control, including objectives and

Communication iities, is icated ively within UNESCO.

External Information regarding internal control is communicated to and received
Communication from external parties effectively and as required.

3.7. The final component is Monitoring Activities. The internal control framework needs to
be continuously reviewed and revised if it is to remain fit for purpose as and when
UNESCO's objectives, and the risks that it faces, change.

On-geing and/or separate reviews are undertaken to ascertain
Evaluation whether the compenents of internal control are present and
functioning.

ldentified deficiencies in internal control are assessed and reported
to those responsible for taking corrective action, senior management
and the Executive Board as appropriate.

Tools and guidelines for implementation, inter alia: Oversight reports,
management evaluations, internal control self-assessment and Statement on
Internal Control.

Reporting
Deficiencies

Effectiveness of Internal Control

(a) Determining whether a system of internal control is effective is a judgment resulting from
the assessment of whether the five components are present and functioning effectively as
described in Paragraph 3.1 above, thus providing Governing Bodies and senior
management with reasonable assurance of the achievement of the three internal control
objectives:

(i)  Programme objectives are being achieved efficiently;
(i) Published and other financial information produced are being prepared reliably;
(i) Applicable policies and procedures, laws and regulations are being complied with.

(b)  Although the objectives of all five components must be satisfied, this does not
necessarily mean that each component must function identically or even at the same
level. Trade-offs exist between components. For example, controls in one component
may serve the purpose of controls that would normally be present in another component.
Controls may also differ in the degree to which they address a particular risk, so that
complementary controls, each with limited effect, can be satisfactory
together.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1. Article 10 of the Financial Regulations requires the Director-General to maintain
appropriate internal control systems and broadly outlines the areas to be covered. In
addition, the Financial Regulations set forth the Director-General’s responsibilities with
respect to budget preparation, appropriations, provision of funds, custody and
investment of funds. These Regulations also deal with accounting practices and the role
of the External Auditor.

4.2. Financial Rules 8.1 and 8.2 further describe the responsibility for internal control and

Published on 16-Nov-2009 Updated on 07-Apr-2017 Page 5


http://manual-part1.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/Chap3/Pages/Item3.4.aspx#paragraph35
http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0022/002269/226924e.pdf#page=102
http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0022/002269/226924e.pdf#page=97
http://manual-part1.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/Chap3/Pages/App.3.3A.aspx#Article8
http://manual-part1.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/Chap3/Pages/Item3.4.aspx#top

UNESCO Administrative Manual Item 3.4

4.3.

4.4,

in particular rule 8.2 states that “each Assistant Director-General and Director of
bureau/office/institute is responsible for effective and efficient application of the
Organisation’s internal control system, and shall provide written attestation to that effect
to the Chief Financial Officer. These attestations shall form the basis for the Director-
General’'s annual statement on internal control in the audited financial statements”

The roles and responsibilities outlined above by the Constitution, the Financial
Regulations, Financial Rules, Staff Regulations and Staff Rules of UNESCO and the
Standards of Conduct for the International Civil Service form part of a comprehensive
Internal Control System. To implement the Internal Control Framework, UNESCO uses
the “three lines of defence” model.

All staff members share responsibility for implementing internal control.

5. Procedures and Processes

Driving the effectiveness of internal control

The Director-General's Statement on Internal Control

5.1.

5.2.

Each year the Director-General issues a Statement on Internal Control (SIC) to
accompany UNESCO'’s financial statements. Through the SIC the Director-General:

Acknowledges her/his accountability for maintaining a sound system of internal
control which supports the:

o0 accomplishment of established objectives and goals for operations;
o economical use of resources;
o reliability and integrity of information;

o compliance with policies, plans, financial regulations, procedures, rules and
regulations; and

o safeguarding of assets.

Provides details of any significant internal control issues arising during the year
and actions taken in response.

The SIC is supported by the Director-General’s review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system. In conducting her/his review the Director-General relies inter alia
feedback from the senior management team, governing bodies and across the three lines
of defence. In addition, she/he is also informed by : the Internal Oversight Service
(reports of internal audits, evaluations and advisory services), the Oversight Advisory
Committee, the Ethics Advisor, the Risk Management Committee, the Joint Inspection
Unit, the External Auditor and the Governing Bodies’ observations.

Senior management accountability for achieving UNESCO's objectives and delivering

5.3.

value for money

Upon taking up their post new members of the senior management team at
Headquarters as well as all Directors and Heads of Established Offices and Category |
Institutes away from Headquarters provide the Chief Financial Officer with a signed
acknowledgement of their accountability for:

achieving the objectives which have been set for them and the functions of
UNESCO under their control;

using resources economically, efficiently and effectively;

maintaining reliable financial and performance information;
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complying with policies, plans, financial regulations procedures, rules and
regulations;

safeguarding UNESCO'’s assets; and

maintaining an effective system of internal control and identifying, reporting and
addressing control weaknesses

Senior management Attestation on Internal Control

54.

5.5.

5.6.

Each member of the senior management team at Headquarters as well as all
Directors and Heads of Established Offices and Institutes away from Headquarters
provides the Director-General with a signed annual attestation on the effectiveness of
internal controls within their purview. These attestations acknowledge their
accountability for:

maintaining a sound system of internal control; and
identifying, reporting and addressing internal control weaknesses.

The attestations are supported by a self-assessment questionnaire through which
managers evaluate the operation of internal controls within their purview, identify control
weaknesses and establish actions for improvement. In completing the evaluation it is
recommended that senior managers seek input from the operational managers and staff
members who are the first line of UNESCO’s internal control defence, and own and
manage internal controls and risk

The methodology and templates for completing the attestations and evaluations are
included in Paragraph 6 Guidelines.

Oversight Service's reports on Internal Control

5.7.

5.8.

5.9.

UNESCO’s oversight bodies also review the effectiveness of internal control:

Internal Oversight Service (10S): within the 3rd line defence, 10S prepares an
annual report based on the results of its internal audits, investigations and evaluations
throughout the year. 10S carries out the “internal audit” function, and is responsible for
ascertaining that the ongoing processes for controlling operations throughout
UNESCO are adequately designed and are functioning in an effective manner. 10S is
also responsible for reporting to the Governing Bodies and the Director-General on
the adequacy and effectiveness of internal control, and for proposing ideas, counsel
and recommendations to improve these systems to them

External Auditor: responsible for expressing an opinion on the truth and fairness
of UNESO'’s financial statements. The External Auditor will inform the Director-General
and Governing Bodies of any weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
controls found during its audit.

Oversight Advisory Committee: provides advice to the Director-General on the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control.

Joint Inspection Unit (JIU): conducts independent system-wide inspections,
evaluations and investigations.

The Director-General will also draw on any relevant feedback from the Governing
Bodies, the Ethics Advisor, the Risk Management Committee and the external
evaluators.

These bodies provide important observations and recommendations to improve
internal control and risk management. They are not formally considered to be among
UNESCO'’s three lines of defence, however, for while such bodies make valuable
contributions the responsibility for managing UNESCO'’s risks lies squarely with UNESCO
itself.
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Proactive review
5.10. Internal controls are proactively reviewed throughout the year to address new risks

that arise from evolving business processes and changes in operating environments,
activities and geographical areas of operation. Methods of reviewing and updating
internal controls throughout the year include:

regular review of the corporate risk register;

escalation to the Bureau of Strategic Planning, Section for Budget and Risk
Management of events that may generate risks from country offices, Regional Offices,
Headquarters Units and Category | Institutes;

reacting to the reports and recommendations of the Internal Oversight Service,
External Auditor, Joint Inspection Unit and external evaluators;

reacting to observations and recommendations from the Governing Bodies and the
Oversight Advisory Committee; and

management reviews of policies and procedures, strategies, programmes, and
related interventions.

6. Guidelines

Internal control self-assessment Methodology B

Internal control self-assessment Questionnaire — Headquarters &1

Internal control self-assessment Questionnaire — Field Office &1

Internal control self-assessment Questionnaire — Institutes &l

Headquarters Financial Accountability letter for achieving UNESCQO'’s objectives and

delivering value for money

Field Offices Financial Accountability letter for achieving UNESCOQO'’s objectives and

delivering value for money

Institute Financial Accountability letter for achieving UNESCOQO'’s objectives and delivering

value for money

Attestation on Internal Control - Headgquarters®i

Attestation on Internal Control - Field Office®]

Attestation on Internal Control - Institutes®]

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

COSO - « Internal Control — Integrated Framework » (May 1994).
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3.5 Assessed Contributions

Primary Author Updated on 01-Oct-2015

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial
Management, Finance and Accounting Section (BFM/FAS/AR), which is responsible for this
Item (Original: English).

1. Overview

1.1 The purpose of this Item is to provide the definition and the application in regards to
assessed contributions to the Regular Budget.

2. Definitions

2.1 Assessed contributions are the apportionment of financial responsibility among the
Member States of the Organization of the appropriation approved by the General
Conference at each ordinary session in accordance with Article IX of the Constitution.

2.2 Assessed contributions may also finance supplementary appropriations as defined by
Article 5.2 of the Financial Regulations.

3. Policies

3.1 Ceiling of assessment: Articles 5.1 and 5.2 of the Financial Regulations
Article 5.1:
“The appropriations, subject to the adjustments effected in accordance with the
provisions of Regulation 5.2, shall be financed by contributions from Member States,
according to the scale of assessments determined by the General Conference.”
Article 5.2:
“In the assessment of the contributions of Member States adjustments shall be made to

the amount of the appropriations approved by the General Conference for the following
financial period in respect of:

(a) Supplementary appropriations for which contributions have not previously been
assessed on the Member States;

(b) Any apportionment of the surplus/deficit account approved by the General
Conference for distribution to the Member States.”

3.2 Currency of assessment and payment: Article 5.6 of the Financial Regulations

“Contributions to the budget shall be assessed partly in United States dollars and partly
in Euros in a proportion to be determined by the General Conference and shall be paid in
these or other currencies as decided by the General Conference.”

3.3 Timing of assessment: Articles 5.3 and 5.4 of the Financial Regulations
Article 5.3: Assessment for the first year of the Biennium

“After the General Conference has adopted the budget and determined the amount of
the Working Capital Fund, the Director-General shall:

(a) transmit the relevant documents to Member States;

(b) inform the Member States of their commitments in respect of contributions to the
budget...;

(c) request them to remit one half of their contributions for the two-year financial
period...”.

Article 5.4: Assessment for the second year of the Biennium
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3.4

3.5

3.6

“At the end of first calendar year of the two-year financial period, the Director-General
shall request Member States to remit the other half of their contributions for that financial
period.”

Due date of contributions: Article 5.5 of the Financial Regulations
“Contributions...shall be considered as due and payable in full within 30 days” of the
receipt by a Member State of the communications of the Director-General...or as of the
first day of the year to which they relate whichever is later.”

Assignment of payments from Member States: Article 5.7 of the Financial
Regulations

“Payments made by a Member State shall be credited first to the Working Capital Fund
and then to contributions due, in the order in which the Member was assessed”
Assessment of new Members: Article 5.9 of the Financial Regulations

“New Members shall be required to make a contribution for the financial period in which
they become Members...at rates to be determined by the General Conference”.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1

4.2

Collection of contributions

(@) The Chief Financial Officer is responsible to the Director-General for the collection
of contributions.

(b) BFM/TRS prepares the scale of contributions in accordance with General
Conference resolutions and calculates the amount due from each Member State
and Associate Member.

(c) BFM informs Member States and Associate Members of the amounts due and
issues periodical reminders to those who are in arrear with their contributions.

(d) Correspondence with Member States on questions of contributions is signed by
the Chief Financial Officer.

Reporting

(a) In accordance with Article 5.8 of the Financial Regulations that stipulates that “the
Director-General shall submit to the ordinary session of the General Conference a
report on the collection of contributions”, the Chief Financial Officer reports on the
collection of contributions.

(b)  The Chief Financial Officer reports to the Executive Board according to resolutions
of the General Conference and decisions of the Executive Board.

5. Procedures and Processes

5.1

5.2

Assessment of contributions

The Member States are assessed according to the scale of assessment of UNESCO.
This scale is based on the most recent scale of assessment adopted by the UN General
Assembly and adjusted for the difference of membership between the two Organizations
in order to reach 100%. The UN scale is presently adopted for a three year period, but it
may be revised by the United Nations within a shorter period.

Reminders on unpaid contributions

(a) Inthe spring following the General Conference are sent:
0] Reminders to Member States who have been granted a new payment plan;
(i) Reminders to Member States that have outstanding installments from
payment plans;
(i) Reminders to Member States that have any outstanding contributions.

(b)  Atleast 6 months before the commencement of the General Conference as
required by Rule 82, Item 3 of the Rules and Procedures of the General
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Conference reminders are sent to Member States at risk of losing the right to vote.

5.3 Standard reports to the Executive Board and the General Conference

(a) Executive Board

(i)

The document on the collection of contributions with the status as of 30 June
of each year. The document is updated through addenda up to the
commencement of the Executive Board and is submitted to each Fall
session.

(b) General Conference

(i)

(ii)
(iii)

The document on the collection of contributions with the status as of 30 June
of the second year of the financial period. The document is updated through
addenda up to the commencement of the General Conference.

The document on the assessment scale for the following financial period.
The document on Member States at risk of losing the right to vote at the
General Conference with the status as of 30 June of the second year. The
document is updated through addenda up to the commencement of the
General Conference.

5.4 Conversion in USD of outstanding contributions in EUR at the end of the biennium
At the end of the biennium, unpaid contributions in EUR are converted into USD following
the resolutions adopted by the General Conference. There are two possible cases:

(@) When the Member State has submitted a payment plan which has been
approved by the General Conference the EUR portion of outstanding
contributions due by that Member State is converted into USD at the constant rate.

(b) In all other cases the EUR portion of outstanding contributions are converted into
USD at the most favorable rate for the Organization among the following options:

(i)
(ii)
(i)

(iv)

6. Guidelines

the constant rate,
the average rate of the biennium,

the rate of December of the second year of the biennium,
the rate of 31 December of the second year of the biennium.

TRS Manual maintained by BFM/TRS.

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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3.6 Working Capital Fund

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial Management,
Treasury Section (BFM/TRS), which is responsible for this Item (Original: English).

1. Overview

11

The purpose of this Item is to provide the definition and the application in regards to the
Working Capital Fund.

2. Definitions

2.1 The Working Capital Fund is a fund constituted in accordance with the Financial
Regulations to provide advances for financing budgetary appropriations pending the
receipt of assessed contributions to the regular budget.

2.2 The level, the currency and the use of the Fund is determined by the General Conference
at each session for the following financial period.

3. Policies

3.1 Establishment of the Fund: Article 6.2 of the Financial Regulations

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

“There shall be established a Working Capital Fund in an amount and for purposes to be
determined from time to time by the General Conference. The source of moneys of the
Working Capital Fund shall be advances from Member States, and these advances
made in accordance with the scale of assessments as determined by the General
Conference for the apportionment of the expenses of UNESCO shall be carried to the
credit of the Member States which have made such advances. If a Member State
withdraws from the Organization, any credit it may have in the Working Capital Fund
shall be used towards liquidation of any financial obligation such Member State may have
to the Organization. Any residual balance shall be refunded to the Member State
withdrawing.”

Reimbursement of advances from the Fund: Article 6.3 of the Financial
Regulations
“Advances made from the Working Capital Fund to finance budgetary appropriations

during a financial period shall be reimbursed to the Fund as soon as and to the extent
that revenue is available for that purpose.”

Currency of assessment and payment to the Fund: Article 5.6 of the Financial
Requlations

“Advances to the Working Capital Fund shall be assessed and paid in a currency or
currencies to be determined by the General Conference.”

Timing of assessment: Articles 5.3 of the Financial Regulations

“After the General Conference has...determined the amount of the Working Capital
Fund, the Director-General shall:

(a) transmit the relevant documents to Member States;

(b)  inform the Member States of their commitments in respect of...advances to the
Working Capital;

(c) request them to remit...their advances to the Working Capital Fund.”
Due date: Article 5.5 of the Financial Requlations
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3.6

3.7

3.8

“...advances shall be considered as due and payable in full within 30 days of the receipt
by a Member State of the communications of the Director-General...or as of the first day
of the year to which they relate, whichever is later.”

Assignment of payments from Member States: Article 5.7 of the Financial
Regulations

“Payments made by a Member State shall be credited first to the Working Capital Fund
and then to contributions due, in the order in which the Member was assessed.”

Assessment of new Members: Article 5.9 of the Financial Regulations

“New Members shall be required...to provide their proportion of the total advances to the
Working Capital Fund at rates to be determined by the General Conference.”

Use of the Fund
There are two possible kinds of use of the Fund:

(a) finance budgetary appropriations pending the receipt of contributions;

(b) finance, within limits determined by the General Conference, self-liquidating
expenditures including those arising in connection with Trust Funds and Special
Accounts. 35 C/Resolution 90.1 stipulates that “the Director-General is authorized
to advance during 2010-2011 sums not exceeding in total $500,000 at any one
time, to finance self-liquidating expenditures, including those arising in connection
with Trust Funds and Special Accounts; these sums are advanced pending
availability of sufficient receipts from Trust Funds and Special Accounts,
international bodies and other extra-budgetary sources; sums so advanced shall be
reimbursed as rapidly as possible.”

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1

4.2

Collection of advances to the Working Capital Fund

(a) The Chief Financial Officer is responsible to the Director-General for the collection
of advances to the Working Capital Fund.

(b) BFM/TRS prepares the scale of contributions in accordance with General
Conference resolutions and calculates the amount due from each Member State.

(c) BFM/TRS informs Member States of the amounts due and issues periodical
reminders to those who are in arrear.

(d) Correspondence with Member States on questions of advances to the Working
Capital Fund is signed by the Chief Financial Officer.

Reporting

(a) Inaccordance with Article 5.8 of the Financial Regulations that stipulates that “the
Director-General shall submit to the ordinary session of the General Conference a
report on the collection of advances to the Working Capital Fund”, the Chief
Financial Officer reports on the collection of advances to the Working Capital Fund.

(b) The Chief Financial Officer reports to the Executive Board according to resolutions
of the General Conference and decisions of the Executive Board.

5. Procedures and Processes

51

5.2

Assessment of the Working Capital Fund

The Member States are assessed according to the scale of assessment of UNESCO.
This scale is based on the most recent scale of assessment adopted by the UN General
Assembly and adjusted for the difference of membership between the two Organizations
in order to reach 100%. The UN scale is presently adopted for a three year period, but it
may be revised by the United Nations within a shorter period.

Reminders on unpaid advances to the Working Capital Fund
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Reminders on unpaid advances to the Working Capital Fund are sent at the same time
as reminders on unpaid contributions (see AM Item 3.5 for further details).

5.3 Standard reports to the Executive Board and the General Conference
(a) Executive Board

The collection of advances to the Working Capital Fund is reported in the
document “Collection of contributions” with the status as of 30 June of each year.
The document is updated through addenda up to the commencement of the
Executive Board and is submitted to each Fall session.

(b) General Conference

The reporting on the Working Capital Fund to the General Conference is submitted
in two documents: “Collection of contributions” and “Working Capital Fund: level
and administration”. In the second document, the level and the use of the Fund for
the following financial period is proposed for adoption by the General Conference.

6. Guidelines

TRS Manual maintained by BFM/TRS.
7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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3.7 Cash Management

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial Management,
Treasury Section (BFM/TRS), which is responsible for this Iltem. (Original: English).

1. Overview

11

1.2

The purpose of this Item is to give guidelines in regards to the cash management
operations of the Organization related to:

(a) Bank accounts;

(b)  Incoming payments;
(c) Investments;

(d)  Foreign exchange;
(e) Outgoing payments;
0 Bank reconciliation;
(g)  Utilization of cash.

Except where expressly stated to the contrary, the provisions and explanations set out in
this Item apply equally at UNESCO Headquarters, Field Offices, Category | Institutes,
UNESCO Staff Loans and Savings Service (USLS) and auxiliary services.

2. Definitions

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

In this Administrative Manual Item, the term cash management refers to the operations
of the Organization involving movements of cash.

Bank account holding entity refers to any UNESCO entity such as Bureau, Field
Office, Category | Institute or other entities (e.g. USLS, UNESCOQO’s auxiliary services
etc.) that has been authorised by the Treasurer to hold a bank account.

Petty cash is a small amount of discretionary funds in the form of cash used for
expenditures where it is not feasible to make the disbursement by a bank transfer or a
cheque.

FABS stands for the Finance and Budget System (SAP) of UNESCO.

3. Policies

3.1

3.2

Basic texts — Financial Regulations

In accordance with Article 8.1 (Custody of funds), the Director-General shall designate
the bank or banks in which the funds of the Organization shall be kept. According to
Article 9.1 — 9.2 (Investment of funds), the Director-General shall make short-term
investments of money not needed for immediate requirements and shall include in the
annual accounts of the Organization information on the investments held. The Director-
General may make long-term investments of money standing to the credit of Trust
Funds, Reserve and Special Accounts, as may be provided by the appropriate authority
in respect of each such fund or account.

Investment Committee Charter and Investment policy

The Charter of the Investment Committee and the Investment policy of the Organization,
as amended from time to time, are available at BFM/TRS.
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4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1

4.2

4.3

Overall day-to-day responsibility

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible to the Director-General for the implementation
of the Financial Regulations and Rules whereas overall day-to-day responsibility for cash
management operations rests with the Treasurer at Headquarters and with respective
Directors at other bank account holding entities.

Bank accounts, payments and petty cash
(@) In accordance with the Delegation of Power by the Director-General,
the Treasurer shall designate:
(i)  The banks with which the Organisation shall handle its financial operations
and,

(i)  The officers authorised to draw on the funds deposited with these banks in
the name of the Organisation.

(b)  The Directors of bank account holding entities shall designate officers that should
have access to petty cash or other cash equivalent instruments such as blank
cheques.

Investments, foreign exchange and borrowing

(&) The authority to make and manage investments under Financial Regulations 9.1
and 9.2 is delegated to the Chief Financial Officer.

(b) The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for ensuring the sound investment of all
monies received by the Organization.

(c) The Chief Financial Officer shall establish an Investment Committee to render
advice on investment matters. The Investment Committee shall review and advise
on the Investment Policy of the Organization.

(d) The Chief Financial Officer shall ensure, including by consultations with the
Investment Committee and by establishing appropriate Investment Policy, that
funds are invested in such a way as to place primary emphasis on minimizing the
risk to principal funds while ensuring the cash flow needs of UNESCO. In addition
to these criteria, investments shall be selected on the basis of achieving the
highest reasonable rate of return.

(e) All investments shall be made through and maintained by recognized financial
institutions in accordance with the Investment Policy.

() Within the terms and conditions prescribed by the General Conference, the Chief
Financial Officer may negotiate and contract external short-term loans when
necessary to enable the Organization to meet its financial commitments.

() The Chief Financial Officer shall designate officers that are authorized to conclude
investment, foreign exchange and borrowing transactions.

5. Procedures and Processes

5.1

Bank accounts

(&) Only the Treasurer is authorized by the Director-General to open, transfer or close
bank accounts in the name of UNESCO, to designate sighatories on each account
and agree on the conditions (including any kind of electronic banking facilities)
under which such accounts shall operate.

(b) The bank accounts of the entities outside headquarters are opened in the local

currency of each bank account holding entity. A bank account can also be opened in
USD if the USD payments of the entity cannot be made through the Headquarters.

(c) Treasurer can designate any UNESCO staff member as a bank signatory based
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(d

on the proposal made by the Director (or OIC) through the Role Management tool
in Duo. Administrative Officers can be designated as bank signatories by the
Treasurer without any proposal of the Director.

) Bank signatory rights can be limited up to a certain amount and the limit is decided
by the Treasurer on the basis of the proposal by the Director of the respective
bank account holding entity. The maximum limits (per payment) generally applied
for the staff categories are as follows:

0] International professional: unlimited,;

(i)  National professional: USD 20,000;

(i)  General staff at Headquarters: USD 50,000

(iv) General staff outside Headquarters: USD 10,000

(e) The double signature principle is applied in respect of all payments made from the

()

bank accounts of the Organization unless, in the Treasurer’s opinion, exceptional
local conditions prevent its application. Only in the cases when an account holding
entity employs less than three UNESCO staff members, the Treasurer can grant a
single signatory right. In such cases, the bank signatory right is limited to
USD 10,000 per payment. Payments exceeding the limit are to be made either via
UNESCO Headquarters, other UNESCO Field Offices with appropriate limits or via
the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP).

The bank signatories are authorized to operate relevant bank accounts only within
the limits of available funds excluding any loan or overdraft.

(g) The Director of each account holding entity is in charge of notifying the Treasurer

(h)

(i)

immediately of any changes to be made in the bank signatory panel of the entity.
The instructions concerning the changes in the bank signatory panel are addressed
directly to the banks by the Treasurer. The bank account holding entities are
provided with a copy of such instructions and it is the responsibility of the
Administrative Officers at Field Offices/ Institutes or relevant staff at Headquarters
to ensure that the banks duly record the requested maodifications in their books.

All issues related to the bank account documentation with banks should be
addressed to the attention of the Treasurer. If the account holding entities receive
guestions or documentation requirements from their bank concerning their bank
account or related agreements, they should ask the bank to address these issues
directly to the Treasurer.

Replenishments to the bank accounts of the Field Offices

(i) Field Offices’ local currency accounts are replenished automatically by
BFM/TRS at the beginning of each month. If local currency replenishments are not
possible because of the respective countries’ foreign exchange regulations or due
to technical reasons, replenishments are made in USD (or EUR) as described
below under item (iii).

(i)  The automatic replenishment amount in local currency is estimated by BFM/TRS
on the basis of the Offices’ payment pattern in that currency. However, the local
Administrative Officers should follow up their Offices cash receipt and expenditure
patterns and request BFM/TRS to adjust the replenishment amount immediately in
case there are changes that would have an impact on the the Office’s local
currency cash position.

(i) In case the automatic monthly replenishment amount is not sufficient to cover the
Offices monthly needs or if local currency replenishments are not possible, Field
Offices can request replenishments in USD (or EUR) through FABS.

(iv) Upon receipt of any replenishment request, BFM/TRS will review the request
before validation. Validation criteria should include, but are not limited to, whether
the bank reconciliation is up-to-date, whether the requested replenishment amount
is in line with the office’s expenditure level etc.

(v) Once validated, the USD (or EUR) funds are then transferred onto the Offices’
local USD (or EUR) account from where the Office can make transfers onto their
local currency account as and when needed. Transfers from the Offices’ local
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currency accounts back to their USD accounts are not authorised without the prior
agreement of BFM/TRS.

(vi) The Administrative Officer of each Office should ensure that at any moment the
cash balances of the Office are as low as possible and in line with the instructions
of BFM/TRS. S/he should also ensure that the Office’s all USD (and EUR)
payments are made directly from the Headquarters’ bank accounts.

5.2 Incoming payments

(@) All regular programme and extrabudgetary contributions to UNESCO should be
made by a bank transfer onto the USD account of the Headquarters except for EUR
contributions that should be made onto the EUR account of the Headquarters.
Category | Institutes are authorized to receive contributions also onto their own bank
accounts.

(b) As an exception to the principle defined above, the Director of Field Office is
authorized to approve reception of voluntary contributions in the Office’s local currency
onto the Office’s local currency account as long as the following conditions are met:

(i)  The donor has confirmed that they cannot make their payment in USD or in
EUR.

(i)  The contribution in local currency is limited to an amount that can be used by the
Office in its local currency activities within the maximum of three months (including
the cash balance on the local currency account before the payment of the
contribution) from the date of the reception of the funds. Therefore, the cash
balance of the local currency account should never exceed the amount
corresponding to the Office’s local currency expenditure of three months. It should
be also noted that transfers from the Office’s local currency account to the
Office’s USD account are not authorized.

(i) The Administrative Officer of the Office keeps an up to date record on all
contributions that have been agreed to be received in local currency and requests
BFM/TRS to suspend or adjust the monthly local currency replenishment amount
accordingly in order to ensure that the cash balance of the local currency account
will be kept within the limit defined above at any time.

(iv) If the cash balance on the local currency account is expected to be higher than
the equivalent of USD 100.000 for a period longer than one month, the
Administrative Office informs BFM/TRS that can then investigate whether
BFM/TRS could invest these funds.

(v) The Administrative Officer liaises with BFM/FAS/AR in respect of a customer
account to be credited by the Field Office.

If proposed local currency contribution is higher than what the office could spend in its
local currency activities as described above, BFM/TRS should be contacted.

(c) UNESCO bank account details (that are subject to change from time to time) are
provided by BFM/FAS/AR upon request.

(d) All payment instructions communicated by UNESCO to donors or other payors
should always include a request to add a reference (such as a budget code) in the
payment order so as to facilitate the identification of incoming payments at BFM.

(e) For security reasons, UNESCOQO’s bank account details should not be publicly
communicated for fundraising purposes e.g. through websites or the press. BSP/CFS
can be contacted for fundraising possibilities through UNESCO’s on-line donation
platform.

()  Upon request, BFM/FAS/AR can issue an acknowledgement of receipt but only after
the funds have been effectively credited into the Organization’s bank account.

(g) Personal funds or funds from unauthorized sources should never be deposited into
the official bank accounts of UNESCO.

(h) At Headquarters, any return of cash should be deposited directly onto the
Headquarters’ EUR bank account with the house bank situated at UNESCO
Headquarters. Thereafter, the respective AO which should send BFM/FAS/AP a
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5.3

5.4

memo (with a bank deposit receipt) stating the Finance and Budget System (FABS)
vendor account number and the budget code to be credited.

Investments

(a)

(b)

(c)

In order to ensure the availability of funds for operational requirements,
investments should be made in light of the Organisation’s cash requirements for
operational purposes. When this requirement has been met, remaining funds may
be invested.

BFM/TRS is responsible for the investment of surplus and other funds of the
Organization in accordance with the Investment Policy. Other bank account holding
entities are not authorized to make any investments or give any related
instructions, unless otherwise agreed by the CFO.

USLS manages its investments in accordance with the Investment Policy of
UNESCO and its Rules and Regulations.

Foreign exchange

(a)
(b)

(c)

Foreign exchange transactions can only be concluded by the duly authorized
officers in accordance with the guidelines set up by the Treasurer.

At Field Offices and Institutes, the bank signatories are authorized to make
transfers from the entities’ USD accounts to local currency accounts but respective
AOs should ensure that the cash balances in the local currency accounts should be
kept as low as possible and in line with the instructions of BFM/TRS.

USLS manages its foreign exchange operations in accordance with its Rules and

Regulations.

5.5 Outgoing payments

(a)

Payment instructions

0] After an invoice or other payable has been validated and recorded in the
books of the Organization by officers duly authorized by the Chief Financial
Officer in accordance with the AM Item 3.8, the corresponding payment
instruction (bank transfer or cheque) can be issued. All payment instructions
should be signed by two authorized bank signatories unless the Treasurer
has granted another type of signatory right.

(i) The same officer cannot act both as a Certifying Officer and a bank
signatory in respect of the same payment. When a staff member, having
both Certifying Officer and bank signatory rights, certifies a payment, she/he
cannot sign the payment instrument related to the same payment and vice
versa. Furthermore, a bank signatory should not sign any payment instruction
in favour of himself/herself. In cases when the above mentioned principles
cannot be applied due to a temporary lack of staff, a written, dated and
signed note detailing the situation needs to be kept in the payment file.

(i) Before any payment instruction is signed, bank signatories should ensure that
corresponding invoices or other payables have been recorded in the books
of the Organization and validated by duly authorized officers and that the
concerned bank accounts have sufficient balance to cover the payments.

(iv) After the signing of the payment instruction, relevant staff at BFM at the
Headquarters or at Administrative units of Field Offices and Institutes should
ensure that:

a. Payment instructions are duly delivered to the relevant banks for
payment, or to the final beneficiaries in the case of cheque payments;

b. In case a payment cannot be processed by the bank, the payment
instructions should be clarified as requested by the bank and any
modification of payment instructions needs to be signed by two
authorized bank signatories;

c. In case a payment is returned to UNESCO by the paying bank,
respective accounting postings are made in the books of the
Organization and relevant entities are promptly informed of the return of
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funds (including the reason why, if available) for further action.

5.6 Payment instruments

(a)
(i)
(ii)

(b)

(c)

Bank transfers

All outgoing payments by the Organization should be made by bank transfers.
For security reasons and to the extent it is possible, electronic bank transfers
should be used instead of paper based transfer orders.

UNESCO pays its own bank fees related to bank transfers whereas possible
intermediary bank fees concerning international transfers are for the account of
payment beneficiaries. It is only in the case of payments to UNESCO staff
members when UNESCO also pays possible intermediary bank fees.

Cheques

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

At the Headquarters, cheques can only be issued for paying meeting and
conference participants when bank transfers are not possible. In the Field
Offices or Institutes in cases when bank transfers are not possible,
payments may be made by cheques.

Cheques should be dated, made out in the name of the supplier or
beneficiary appearing on the disbursement voucher and/or invoice, and
crossed or otherwise completed to obviate the possibility of being cashed in
by a third party. The Director of the account holding entity should consult
their bank on the application of local laws and banking practice in this
respect. In countries where crossed cheques are not used, receipts must be
received from payees for each payment. Cheques must not be made out to
“bearer” or “cash” and they should be hand delivered or sent by registered
courier to beneficiaries.

If a cheque has been issued but needs to be cancelled, the original cheque
should be invalidated by marking clearly “cancelled” on the cheque, and
respective accounting postings should be made in the books of the
Organization. At Headquarters in regards to payments recorded in FABS,
any original cheque to be cancelled should be returned to BFM/FAS/AP
along with the Form AM 3-10 "Cheque Cancellation Request". Cancelled or
misprinted cheques should be duly recorded and they should be stored in the
same manner as blank cheques for a period of three years, after which they
can be destroyed.

To the extent possible, blank cheques should be kept in a safe. If no safe is
available, they should be stored in a lockable safe place. Access to blank
cheques should be strictly limited to staff members involved in cheque
payments and designated for this purpose by the Director of the account
holding entity. If the cheques are not pre-numbered, a serial numbering
sequence should be marked on all cheques in the cheque books or series of
letter cheques. A record of blank cheques delivered to the account holding
entity should be kept separately from the cheque stock. The cheque record
should be controlled against the cheque stock at least once a year and a
signed control record should be established accordingly.

Cheques that are no longer needed for any reason should be destroyed in the

presence of two staff members. A written, dated and signed statement on
the destruction action, indicating relevant cheque details should be
established and kept for the record.

In the case of theft or other loss of blank cheques, in order to prevent fraud,
a stop order should be placed on all cheques at the bank where the account
is maintained. Furthermore, the Director of the account holding entity should
submit to BFM a detailed report as soon as possible providing information on
the security arrangements existing at the time of the occurrence, the steps
taken to prevent recurrence of such incidents, together with the name and
designation of the petty cash custodian, where appropriate, and also a copy
of the declaration made to the police or other competent authorities.

Credit and prepaid cards
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(i)  As ageneral rule, the Organization does not use credit cards. The use of credit
cards for a specific purpose is subject to the prior authorization of the Treasurer.

(i) Prepaid cards can be used in order to replace the use of cash. The
implementation of prepaid card set-up is subject to the prior authorization of the
Treasurer.

(d) Cash payments

0] All payments by the Organization should be made by bank transfers but, for
practical reasons, when a payment by bank transfer or cheque is not
possible, minor items of expenditure such as postage, mail delivery charges
or messenger services may be paid for in cash. However, individual petty
cash payments should not exceed the equivalent of USD 50.

(i)  Exceptionally, travel advances can also be paid in USD cash for mission
travel and for meetings and conferences in countries where necessary
banking facilities are not readily available in accordance with
AM Appendix 15.2D, or if no other alternatives are available. Any costs
related to cash payments should be covered by the budget for the
corresponding meeting or conference.

(i) Travel advances in cash can be requested using Form AM 15-4 and to
ensure the availability of sufficient amount of cash, the minimum advance
notice for the request should be verified well in advance with BFM/FAS/AP at
Headquarters or with Administrative Officers at Field Offices and Institutes.
In countries where local foreign exchange control prevents local UNESCO
staff from withdrawing convertible foreign currency from their personal bank
account, travel advance can also be paid in cash. Cash advances are the
personal responsibility of the staff member requesting them and, failing
completion of the Travel Record within prescribed deadlines may be
deducted from the monies due to the traveller.

5.7 Bank reconciliation

(a) Integration of bank statements

0] All UNESCO'’s banks should send their bank statements electronically via
SWIFT (message type MT940) to a bank designated by the Treasurer.

(i) Bank statements received electronically should be duly integrated into FABS by
BFM/FAS/AR on a daily basis.

(i)  When banks are not able to send electronic MT940 bank statements, the
relevant bank account holding entity should integrate its bank statements
manually in FABS. The Administrative Officer should ensure that the
balances in FABS match with the bank statement balances.

(b) Bank reconciliation process
(i)  Bank reconciliation should be performed on a daily basis.

(i)  After the integration of the electronic bank statements into FABS, BFM/TRS
launches automatic reconciliation for the account holding entities having the FABS
company code “UNES” which should then ensure that the assignment of bank
items matches with that of accounting postings and do a manual adjustment if
necessary.

(iii) All open items in the reconciliation should be analysed and an appropriate action
should be taken to clear these items as soon as possible but latest by the monthly
financial closing.

(iv) The bank account holding entitities should prepare a monthly bank reconciliation
statement with a written justification on on any open items. The statement should
be signed/validated within 3 working days after each month end by the
Administrative Officer and the Director, or by the relevant staff at the
Headquarters.

(iv)  The original bank reconciliation statements (or corresponding validation e-mails
at the Headquarters) should be kept in a file at the bank account holding entity.
Copies of the statements should be sent to UNESCO'’s auditors or to BFM as and
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when specifically requested.

5.8 Utilization of cash

General provisions concerning the utilisation of cash

(a)

Cash payments are expensive, time consuming and possibly dangerous and,
consequently, should be avoided. The utilisation of cash is only allowed in situations
described under Paragraph.5.6 (d) when there is no other alternative available and the
exigency for the service requires the utilisation of cash.

(b)
(i)

(ii)

(i)

Petty cash

To open (or close) a Petty cash G/L account, the Director of the account holding
entity should address a request to BFM/TRS.

The Director of each UNESCO entity holding petty cash should:
Nominate the custodian staff members that can have access to cash;
Ensure that the petty cash is stored in a safe place (see Item c below);

Ensure that the same person does not act as a custodian and account for
cash transactions in the petty cash G/L account;

Ensure that the balance on the Petty cash account does not exceed USD 500
at any time, unless otherwise agreed in writing with BFM/TRS.

Ensure that a separate cash book is maintained, showing on the debit side all
sums of money received and on the credit side all payments made. The entries
on both sides must always be made on the date of the transaction. The entries
should consist of the date of the transaction, the name of the payee or remitter
(for receipts), a brief description of the type of transaction, and the amount
expressed in the currency of payment. The cash book should be recorded in
FABS at least as at the end of each month before the monthly closing date.

A list (e.g. FABS printout) on all cash transactions showing the nature of
payments and the fact that they have been accounted in the books should be
prepared by the Administrative Officer for the the Director’s signature on a
monthly basis.

By the closing of the financial year, each entity holding a petty cash account
should perform a petty cash inventory by completing and signing a cash count
form (Form AM 3-23).

A copy of the signed year end cash count form should be sent to BFM/TRS
within three days after the financial closing date. In case of a discrepancy
between the counted petty cash in hand and the Petty cash G/L account balance
in FABS, the form needs to include an explanation on the discrepancy and a
proposal for corrective action.

In case of petty cash has been stolen, the Director of the petty cash holding
entity should submit to BFM a detailed report as soon as possible providing
information on the security arrangements existing at the time of the occurrence,
the steps taken to prevent recurrence of such incidents, together with the name
and designation of the petty cash custodian, where appropriate, and also a copy
of the declaration made to the police or other competent authorities. The lost
cash must be accounted into FABS. BFM/FRA should be contacted in regards to
the related accounting entries.

The Director of each UNESCO entity holding petty cash is personally responsible

for any loss of cash. She/he or other staff members officially designated by

him/her should conduct an unannounced check from time to time, but at least once
a year in addition to the year-end control, and ensure that the petty cash amount
recorded in the G/L account corresponds with the petty cash amount at hand. A

written signed and dated statement should be established of this operation for the

record.

(c) Storage of cash

(i)

Cash amounts not exceeding the limit for petty cash could be kept in a steel
cash box with the facility to lock. This box has to be kept in a secure place and,
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wherever a safe is available should be locked therein outside official working
hours. The duplicate key for the box must be kept in a sealed envelope in the
office safe. If there is no safe available, after working hours the cash box has to
be locked in a solid piece of furniture with a secure lock. If possible this piece of
furniture should be built into the wall. The duplicate key for the box must be kept in
a sealed envelope in a safe place in an office other than that where the cash box
is kept.

(i)  Inregards to safes, the UN specifications of safes should be followed i.e. a safe
should be too heavy to be moved without equipment such as a rolling cart. If the
safe weighs 350 kilograms or less, then it should be bolted to the ground or built
into the wall. Ideally, it should be a reinforced steel safe with a built-in
combination, key lock. A safe should also offer protection against fire.

(d) Transportation of cash than petty cash

(i) If possible, the transportation of cash should be done by a bank or other cash
facilitators such as cash brokers/merchants or cash transportation services. When
using this sort of cash facilitator, it is important to ensure that the cash has been
duly delivered to the final beneficiary before the facilitator itself is paid.

(i)  The utilization of cash always creates a security risk and, therefore, the Offices
outside Headquarters should refer to the UNDSS Field Security Officer for advice
where available. The UN Security officer can give advice and information
concerning the transportation of cash, physical premises and the selection of an
appropriate security system, in co-ordination with the other UN Agencies present
in the country. Field Offices without a UN Security Officer and Antennas which
need security advice should check with their UNESCO Cluster Office.

(i) Transportation of cash at locations where a security phase has been announced
should be arranged and effected only after receiving prior written authorization by
the Designated Official for Security at that duty station. All of the regulations
relating to this security phase have to be applied for the transportation of cash at
that location.

(iv) Inlight of the risk involved in transporting cash, staff members should only be
asked to transport cash as a last resort. In any case staff members should not
carry cash in excess of USD 10.000 or the equivalent in any other currency,
irrespective of the number of staff members involved in the transportation of the
cash for a meeting or conference.

(v) If staff members transport cash on behalf of UNESCO they are personally
responsible for the cash which they have to acknowledge with a signature upon
receiving the cash.

(vi) Each movement of cash should be carefully planned from start to finish and
information regarding the movement of cash must be restricted to the persons
directly involved in the operation. There should not be any discussions with
persons not involved with the movement of the cash. All knowledge of the
transportation of cash should be on a "need to know" basis only.

(vii) If possible, every staff member involved in cash transportation should be
equipped with a mobile phone.

(viii) Communication of information regarding cash movements should be coded i.e.
the usage of special phrases when talking about cash movements. The usage of
facsimiles, email, the telephone or insecure radio frequencies to convey
information about the movement of cash should be avoided as much as possible.

(ix) The timing of cash movements should be as unpredictable as possible. Ground
routes should also avoid known trouble spots as much as possible and there
should not be any stops during the transportation.

(x) Cash in transfer should always be held by the staff member responsible for
carrying the cash. The cash could be carried in hand luggage which should be
under close supervision by the staff member responsible for carrying the cash.
Under no circumstance should the cash be handed over to another person even if
it is in the luggage, e.g. in the case of air travel the cash should not be kept in the
bag luggage which is handed over at the airline counter. Cash must not be stored
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in airport safes, hotel rooms, unsecured offices, railway terminals and the like.
When cash is received it should be transported to its destination immediately, if
such is not possible arrangements should be made to place the cash either in a
bank vault overnight or in a secure United Nations office with an appropriate safe
or vault.

(xi) If, despite due diligence, staff members are confronted with a robbery attempt,
the cash should be surrendered immediately without resistance. Designhated staff
members carrying cash should be volunteers and need to be informed of the risks
involved and trained in the procedures for such undertaking.

(xii) Instead of moving a large cash amount once, smaller cash amounts should be
transported more often if possible.

6. Guidelines

Non applicable.

7. Forms

7.1 Form AM 3-23: Petty cash count
7.2 Form AM 3-10: Cheque Cancellation Request
7.3 Form AM 15-4: Request for Travel Advance

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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3.8 Commitments and Payments

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial Management,
Financial Policy and Compliance Section (BFM/FPC), which is responsible for this Item. This
Item applies to Headquarters and Field Offices (Original: English).

1. Overview

1.1

1.2

1.3

Every commitment of funds must correspond to a legal obligation. Every legal
obligation must correspond to a commitment of funds of an equivalent amount.

Every legal obligation of the Organization towards a third party, whether an
individual or a legal entity, shall be accompanied by a budget reserve to meet it,
recorded in a computerized document at the time when the legal obligation is
contracted. This reserve is considered to be provisional as long as the third party has
not formally accepted the legal obligation of the Organization towards it.

Commitments of funds should not be made prematurely (in other words, where there are
no funds allocated under the corresponding budget code, or no legal obligation), and
must be liquidated as soon as the obligation to the third party is ended. A funds
commitment document is not normally drawn up for the payment of staff salaries and
allowances.

2. Definitions

2.1

2.2

2.3

Legal obligation

A legal obligation is a legal relationship created by operation of law or by the will of the
party or parties entering into a commitment to supply or take delivery of goods or
services. The legal obligation may take the form of contract. A contract is a document
signed by at least two parties that gives rise to rights and/or obligations between them.
It is legally binding on the signatories. In a services contract, for example, the contractor
undertakes primarily to provide the service while the purchaser undertakes to pay the
price and take delivery of the goods or services he/she has purchased.

Commitments

A commitment of funds is a part of the budget that is reserved, and corresponds to the
amount of the legal obligation. The liquidation of a commitment of funds is its reduction or
termination as the result of the payment or cancellation of the commitment in whole or in
part. The balance of a commitment of funds, after it has been liquidated only in part, is
called the "unliquidated balance".

IPSAS Principles

(a) As part of the global trend in the public sector towards more efficient utilization of
resources, public sector organizations such as those in the United Nations system
are putting in place new processes drawing on best practices in the private sector.

(b) The main impact of the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS)
on this Item of the Administrative Manual is the accounting treatment of expenses
based on accrual accounting: transactions are recorded at the time they occur and
not at the time of payment. The application of the IPSAS principles to UNESCO
means that expenses are distinguished from items charged to the budget. Under
IPSAS, an expense is entered in the accounts when goods or services are
received, not when the payment is sent to the contractor. In the Finance and
Budget System (FABS), the validation of the SES (Service Entry Sheet serving as
acceptance of the goods or services) is identified as the time when the accounting
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entry is made for the expense. It is therefore of cardinal importance for the
validation to take place as close as possible to the date the goods or services are
physically received, and in all cases before the closing of the month in question.

(c) The corollary of the principle of attaching expenses to the financial period in which
they occur is the distinction between the notions of a legal obligation and an
economic obligation. The legal obligation is created when a commitment exists to a
third party, while the obligation to pay only comes into being after receipt and
acceptance of the goods and services stipulated in the commitment. The
reservation of funds is therefore a budgetary process and a legal obligation, but
does not fall under the definition of expense under the IPSAS accounting principles.

3. Policies

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

Appropriations

Appropriations are available for commitment through allotment during the two-year
financial period to which they relate for Regular Programme.

Validity of commitments

(@) Under the Regular Programme (including the Participation Programme),
commitments may be incurred only during the financial period to which they relate
for delivery in that financial period or the subsequent calendar year, in accordance
with the provisions of Financial Regulation 4.2 and Article 5, Rule 5.8 of the
Financial Rules (see AM Appendix 3.3A).

(b)  Appropriations shall remain available for twelve months following the end of the
financial period to which they relate to the extent that they are required to
discharge commitments in respect of goods supplied and services rendered in the
financial period and to liquidate any other outstanding legal obligations of the
financial period. Commitments of funds are therefore valid until they are
discharged, or — where they are not liquidated earlier — at the most, until the end of
the twelve-month period following the closing of the financial period during which
they were contracted.

(c) For liguidation periods for funds committed under other programmes, please refer
to AM Chapter 5.
Payments

Except where the Financial Regulations provide otherwise, no payments to a third party
shall be made until the services have been rendered and accepted and the goods
delivered in accordance with Article 6, Rule 6.2 of the Financial Rules (AM Appendix
3.3A). Payments for travel by staff members and reimbursements of accommodation
expenses are dealt with more specifically in AM Items 15.2 and 3.10 respectively. There
is no form for requesting payment of staff salaries and allowances: see HR Manual

Chapter 4.
Other determining factors

(a) Contractual framework

The types of contracts the Organization enters into are the following categories:
contracts with for-profit organizations are dealt with in AM Item 7.2, contracts with
not-for-profit organizations are dealt with in AM Item 7.3 (Financing Activities
Contracts), AM Item 7.5 (Implementation Partners) and AM Item 7.6
(Intergovernmental Body Allocation Contracts), while contracts with individuals are
dealt with in HR Manual Chapter 13.

(b)  Validity of legal obligations

As stated in AM Item 7.2, paragraph 3.9 (e), the duration of a contract shall be
limited to a maximum period of 12 months in a given biennium where it is funded
from the Regular Programme. The services, goods and works must be committed
and delivered before the end of the biennium, in accordance with the guidelines
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(c)

below and with the exception of the cases mentioned in paragraph 5.4.

Roles, authorities and accountabilities

AM lItem 7.2, paragraph 5.2 sets out in detail the roles and actions from the point

the need is identified to the final review of the commitments, in the case of
contracts both with for-profit organizations and with not-for-profit organizations.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1 Steps and associated responsibilities in committing funds

Identifies a
need

(a)

(b)

Creates the
Purchase
Requisition

Validates the
Purchase
Requisition

Signs the
legal
obligation

Examines &
validates the
commitment

Selects the

type of
commitment

Legend

—
v Requestor (Programme specialist or Corporate Services specialist)

TGSupervisor (Chief of Section)

Ia Certifying Officer
IE Approving Officer

Certifying Officers (generally Administrative Officers (AOs))

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Pursuant to Article 5, Rule 5.10 of the Financial Rules (AM Appendix 3.3A),
authority to examine and approve commitments is delegated by the Chief
Financial Officer, subject to what is provided below, to a limited number of
certifying officers in each Sector/Bureau or established office away from
Headquarters. These certifying officers are designated, on the
recommendation of the Sector ADG Bureau or Office concerned, by the
Chief Financial Officer using the Approvers Management tool.

Unauthorized commitments

By certifying the financial commitments, the certifying officers engage their
personal responsibility. Every official who binds the Organization financially
without complying with the Financial Rules or the principles and methods laid
down in this Administrative Manual shall be personally liable (see Staff Rule
101.2 and Article 5, Rule 5.14 of the Financial Rules reproduced in AM
Appendix 3.3A). BFM examines all such cases and decides on the
appropriate measures to take. Alleged wrongdoings will be forwarded to
DIR/IOS and HRM for their review and evaluation.
In some offices away from Headquarters, where the administrative unit is not
sufficiently resourced to provide adequate operational support, a designated
staff member may exceptionally combine the functions of certifying officer
and approving officer. In such case, the same person may not sign a
contract as approving officer and authorize the associated commitment of
funds.

The segregation of tasks as between the certifying officer and
approving officer is the basis of the internal control and, as such, it
must be strictly adhered to.

For internal control reasons, the same official may not act both as
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certifying officer and bank signatory in respect of the same payment. If
a staff member having rights as certifying officer and bank signatory is
called upon to certify a payment, he/she may not sign the instrument
of payment in relation thereto, and vice versa.

(vi) Responsibilities of Certifying Officers
a. Before certifying a commitment, and subject to the preceding

paragraph, the certifying officer ensures that (see Articles 5.5 and 5.6 of
the Financial Rules, AM Appendix 3.3A):

Vi.

Vii.
Viii.

X.

Commitments, for all programmes, are valid — by which is meant
that they correspond to a valid legal obligation, whether a contract
signed by all parties prior to the date required or any other legal
obligation that is valid vis-a-vis a third party. The validity of
commitments under the regular programme (including Participation
Programme) activities ending after the close of the financial period
shall be governed by this Item. For those under other programmes,

see AM Chapter 5;

The legal obligations to which the commitments correspond are in
conformity with the approved work plans; if not, modifications must
be approved, either by using the procedure laid down for
amendments to work plans, or by the competent ADG/Director;

Sufficient appropriations are available under the corresponding
budget code;

The budgetary and accounting information has been correctly
imputed and corresponds to the legal obligation;

The legal obligations comply with the provisions of the Financial
Regulations and Financial Rules, as well as the Staff Regulations
and Staff Rules;

The legal obligations are in compliance with the policies and
methods in force;

The amount of the legal obligations appears reasonable;

The contracts and agreements are drawn up in such a way that the
financial operation is proper;

The payment terms and the choice of currency to be used are
acceptable. In particular, funds commitments corresponding to
contracts providing for a payment upon signature may only be
authorized in exceptional circumstances, and must not exceed the
preliminary expense incurred by the contractor. Contracts with
payment upon signature or an advance payment of over 33% for all
types of contract, or over 90% for Financing Activities Contracts,
require the prior approval of the ADG of the Sector or Director of
Bureau/Office concerned;

The interests of the Organization are fully protected.

b. Once avalid commitment has been established, amendments or
cancellation are approved, if necessary, by a certifying officer for the unit
originating the request according to the rules set forth in AM Chapter 7.
Certifying officers are responsible for periodically reviewing the balances
of unliquidated commitments (and the legal obligations to which they
relate) and, if needed, taking measures to increase, decrease or cancel
those commitments.

c. After final payment, the amount remaining under a commitment of funds
must be liquidated by the certifying officer as soon as that payment has
been deducted from the commitment, and will thus constitute a saving on
liquidation.

(vi) Limitations on the authority of certifying officers
The authority to certify commitments is subject to the following limitations:
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a. The maximum amount up to which a certifying officer may exercise his or
her responsibilities is shown in the Approvers Management tool and also
on Form AM 3-4;

b. The prior approval of other Sectors/Bureaux must be obtained for certain
types of contract documents:

i.  All contracts for video or film production and contracts for the
acquisition of exploitation and intellectual property rights in
photographs must be approved by ERI/DPI;

ii. All purchases of non-standard computer or electronic material must
be approved by ADM/DIT (see AM Appendix 10.2A).

c. Commitments for amounts that exceed the amount specified in
AM Item 7.4 are subject to the prior approval of the Contracts
Committee.

(c) Contracts Committee

()  Contracts related to printing and publishing, contracts for the purchase of
goods, works and services, individual consultant and other specialist
contracts, implementation partners, financing activities contracts, non-
standard contracts and all other contractual agreements with financial
implications for amounts that exceed the amount specified in AM Item 7.4
are subject to the prior approval of the Contracts Committee.

(i)  Upwards revisions of commitments are subject to the prior approval of the
Contracts Committee where:

a. The original commitment was previously approved by that Committee
which in aggregate would have a value greater than USD 150,000;

b. The increase would bring the total amount of the commitment as
previously reviewed, up by more than 10%, requires the approval of that
Committee (an over-delivery less than 10% in money value does not
require approval).

(d) BFM/FAS/AP

0] Advises certifying officers about all funds commitments for legal obligations
that raise particular problems and may, if necessary, give additional
instructions.

(i)  Assists the Sectors/Bureaux by regularly providing them with various statements
on the status of their commitments with a view to their regularization (liquidation,
reduction, extension of date of validity, etc.), and gives instructions thereon.

(iii) Carries out spot-check on commitments by the Sectors/Bureaux to ensure that
their validity is in compliance with the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules, as
well as the Staff Regulations and Staff Rules and the associated principles and
methodologies. BFM submits reports on any irregularities to the Sector ADG/
Bureau/Director concerned.

(iv) Periodically (particularly at the end of each financial period) reviews whether
or not the certifying officers are taking appropriate measures to implement
this Item, and, if necessary, to liguidate the commitments themselves.
Reports are made to senior management on the status of unliquidated
balances whenever this is considered necessary..

4.2 Steps and associated responsibilities in effecting payments

(a) At Headgquarters, the persons involved in the payments process are those
responsible for the activity requiring the payment, i.e. the programme specialist
and the officers certifying expenses (usually the AOs) and the Bureau of Financial
Management (BFM/FAS/AP and BFM/TRS).

Regular
review of
lcommitmants

Registers
the invoice
in FABS

Payment to
contractor
is made

Accepts the
deliverables

Clearing &
controls

_ - - & = €, - A -
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(ii)

(iif)

(e)

™ W W WL

In Field Offices, the actors in payments are mainly those responsible for the

activity requiring the payment, and the officers certifying expenses (usually the
AOs).

Accepts the
deliverables

7

- “
Regular
review of

'comrﬁitments .

| pmene
ayment to
' contractor \

is made ¢

Registers
the invoice
in FABS

8 1838 38 8.8

Clearing &
controls

Legend

&
2 Requestor (Programme specialist or Corporate Services specialist)

ﬁ Certifying Officer

l’ﬁ Others (such as BFM/TRS, BFM/FAS/AP)

Role of the person responsible for the activity

(i)

The Requestor (typically a Programme Specialist) having first identified the
need for the contract, will also be responsible for the receipt of the
deliverables and any payment claim or invoice which has been submitted and
duly signed by the contractor. The Requestor must ensure that the services
or goods which have been delivered to the Organization by the contractor
comply with the terms and conditions of the contract where quality and
guantity are concerned.

After being satisfied with the deliverables, the Requestor can then proceed to

create the Service Entry Sheet/Goods Receipt (SES/GR) using the SharePoint
Contract Management financial tool.

This creation of the SES/GR attests to the fact that the person responsible for

the activity has approved the services provided or the goods delivered in
accordance with the terms of the contract, order, accepted estimate or other
supporting document. The General Payment Request form, formally entitled Form
AM 3-7, can be used as a substitute for the SES/GR in the event that the Contract
Management tool is unavailable, or for those offices which do not have access to
the FABS MM Module.

(iv) When the Requestor has received the duly signed invoice or payment claim

from the contractor, he/she must first examine and then only accept these
documents if they are in accordance with the terms of the contract, before
any payment can be made to the contractor. The payment claim is usually
submitted in lieu of an invoice by Individual Consultants or other contractors
that do not have an official invoice.(v) After the creation of the SES/GR and
having accepted the contents of the invoice/payment claim, the Requestor
should then indicate to the Administrative Officer (AO) his/her agreement to
pay the contractor by providing the AO with the related SES/GR number
along with the approved invoice/payment claim and any other relevant
documents so that the invoice may be posted and payment can be made
against this invoice in FABS. This submission of information to the AO by the
Requestor should be done within 10 days of the creation of the SES.

Role of the Certifying Officer (usually the AOs)
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(ii)

(i)

()

(ii)

(i)  The AOQ, in line the with the certifying authority which has been conferred
upon him/her by the Chief Financial Officer, will be responsible for examining
and validating financial commitments within approved limits. In support of the
segregation of duties, which is fundamental to effective internal control
procedure, the person validating a financial commitment should not be the
same person who signs the related contractual document with a third party
contractor.

When the AO has received the details of the SES/GR as well as the
invoice/payment claim which has been approved by the person responsible for the
activity, he/she (the AO) will be responsible for posting the invoice against the
appropriate FABS commitments (e.g. purchase order, fund reservation, budget
code or etc.)

The AO, prior to posting the invoice in preparation for the payment of the
contractor, should ensure that:

a. The contract has been signed by the contractor, or an estimate for the goods
has been accepted by the person responsible.

b. He/she accepts the details which have been recorded in the related SES/GR
and also the duly signed invoice/payment claim.

c. The payment has not been previously made.
d. The allotment and expense accounts to which the payment is to be charged
are correct.

Role of BFM/FAS/AP at Headquarters and the AOs in the field

(0 Following the rollout of the MM, FI and TV modules to the Sectors and Field
Offices, BFM/FAS/AP processes requests for payments by bank transfer
submitted by HQ and Field Offices (for payments in USD). All requests for
payments through UNDP are also dealt with by BFM/FAS/AP who is
responsible for sending financial authorization to UNDP and for also following
up on payments requested by Headquarters to Field Offices. Consequently,
the following roles performed by BFM/FAS/AP will only apply to those cases.

BFM/FAS/AP when acting as the party responsible for payment will perform the
necessary controls and checks for each payment request to ensure that:

a. All payments posted in FABS have been duly validated by staff members who
have been authorized to do so by the Chief Financial Officer.

b. The elements of the payment (vendor, accounting and budgetary elements) are
the same as in the funds commitment document.

c. The calculation of the invoice (including the calculation of VAT for invoices from
companies in the host country) is correct.

d. The banking rules and policies have been followed in the payment instructions,
in other words, all the necessary bank data (SWIFT code, structure of the bank
account, etc.) have been correctly shown.

e. BFM/FAS/AP, if it is deemed necessary, may request a copy of the
supporting documents - which in principle, are kept in the Sectors/Bureaux (see
AM Item 9.5) - for all payments to be made by bank transfer via Headquarters
or via UNDP.

f. If BFM/FAS/AP conclude that payment should not be made for any reason,
then the Sector/Bureau concerned shall be informed. In the event that there is a
difference of opinion between BFM/FAS/AP and a Sector/Bureau,
BFM/FAS/AP shall direct the matter to senior management for a final decision.

g. Inthe event that a payment is returned to UNESCO by the paying bank, it is
duly entered in FABS, and the Sector/Bureau that posted the payment is
notified to take the necessary action.

h. Contribute to vendor data maintenance. Follow up of all items on suppliers with
the AOs in the relevant Sector/Bureau for unpaid invoices, avoirs, pending
reimbursement of claims for staff members (staff mission travel). Correspond
with vendors and respond to inquiries excluding staff salaries, MBF and
advances, staff entitlements..
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(i) BFM/FAS/AP manages the payments such as electronic bank transfers,
cheques, traveller cheques, payments claims, credit of return of funds and all
relevant postings related to payments. In addition, BFM/FAS/AP monitors
the clearing of vendor accounts and follows up on open commitments. The
unit assists requestors, certifying officers and approvers on the payment
process. Also monitors the accounts to ensure payments are processed on
a timely manner reconciles payments including reviewing of invoices and
request of bank checks.

(iv) The unit also manages the VAT with French authorities, and monitors the
reconciliation accounts (e.g. good received not invoiced, travel agency
clearing accounts) and follow up with Administrative Officers in case of
discrepancies identified.

(90 Role of BEM/TRS at Headquarters

BFM/TRS ensures that:

(i)  Any payment proposals have been duly validated by staff members who have
been authorized to do so by the Chief Financial Officer.

(i) The relevant UNESCO bank accounts have a sufficient balance to cover the
payments.

(iii)  All payment instructions are duly sent to the banks concerned for payment.

5. Procedures and Processes

5.1 Procedures for committing funds

(@) The process required for the commitment of funds will depend on the FABS
modules which are available to the Sectors, Bureaux and Field Offices concerned.
For those offices which have access to the MM, FI, and TV modules, the two
procedures detailed below in paragraphs 5.1 (b) (i), and 5.1 (b) (ii), will be
possible. However, for those offices which do not have access to all of the
modules mentioned above, then the procedure detailed in paragraph 5.1 (ii) (b),
concerning a fund reservation, can be executed using the FM module.

(b) Further to the point immediately above, funds can be committed via:
(i) Entry in DUO tool

a. The Commitment of funds can be established by a Purchase Order (PO)
which is raised by the Administrative Officer using the Contract Management
tool after the Purchase Requisition (PR) has been created and validated by the
Requestor and the Supervisor, respectively. The creation of a purchase order
(PO) based on a purchase requisition (PR), using the Contract Management
tool, is applicable in the following cases:

i. Creation of a contract using the various electronic contract forms
(services, purchase of goods, works, consultants, financing activities,
partnership implementation agreements, and non-standard contracts);

ii. Other activities such as orders for supplies and materials;
iii. Commitments for utilities.

iv. Creation of a mission order for travel on mission by staff members (see
AM Chapter 15).

(i)  Entry in SAP: Fund Reservations

a. Where the office concerned does not have access to the MM module, a fund
reservation can be created in FABS by using the transaction code FMX1. This
can be done for other types of activities which include arranging a meeting, or
the travel on mission of an individual who is not a staff member. For all funds
reservations, it is imperative to state the date of the activity (mission, meeting,
etc.) in the title of the FABS document.
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5.2

5.3

b. For minor items of expenses (below USD 2,500) and where it is impossible to
estimate in advance the amount or even the beneficiary of the service
(reimbursement of expenses such as hospitality costs, repairs to accidental
damage to vehicles, etc.), the certifying officer may post the related invoice
against a fund reservation by using FABS transaction code FB60. Such
expenses are limited to one funds reservation (FR) per activity and per Sector
per year. No one Sector may, for instance, have more than one funds
reservation for hospitality expenses in any given year.

c. SAP automatically rejects:

(i) All commitments of funds and/or drawings that exceed the credit
allocated.

(ii) All payments for which insufficient funds have been reserved. Payments
are, however, allowed to exceed the commitment of funds amount by two
per cent or by maximum of USD 2,500 without an adjustment being
required — provided this is indicated in SAP -, if the available allocations are
sufficient, to offset fluctuations in the exchange rate and underestimations
of cost.

d. Commitments of funds are automatically reduced by the amount of the
payments made.

Operating expenses & utilities

Operating expenses at Headquarters and in Field Offices, such as rent, maintenance
and utilities charges (water, gas and electricity), communications, mail, operating costs
of official vehicles, etc. must be reserved, on an annual basis, at the start of each year,
based on a realistic estimate of expenses for which supporting documents will be
required at the end of the year. Entries in the Contract Management tool are made via a
specific purchase order (PO), the Utilities PO, which allows these expenses to be
processed through the direct input of the amount of the invoice.

Utilities which generally include day-to-day operational expenditure items such as water,
gas and electricity, are directly managed by the Administrative Officer using the
Commitment for Utilities which is available in the DUO tool. The use of this Commitment for
Utilities should be restricted to operational expenditures (similar to those previously
mentioned) for which the annual amount to be consumed cannot be accurately and
precisely determined. Consequently, the AO will estimate the total annual consumption and
then raise a utility Purchase Order for this estimate in the Contract Management tool.
When an invoice is received from the contractor for the delivery of utilities, the AO will then
debit the PO using the MIRO transaction in FABS. The AO will also be responsible for
adjusting the initially estimated PO for cases where the actual amount consumed is greater
or less than the estimate.

For those Field Offices which do not have access to the MM, FI, TV modules of FABS,
a fund reservation must be created using the transaction FMX1. In all cases where this is
feasible, an agreement must be entered into with the service provider so that the invoice
may be received as quickly as possible.

Currency

(@) Commitments of funds are raised in the currency of the legal obligation, but
converted by FABS into United States dollars, the Organization’s currency of
account.

(b)  As contracts are drawn up in the currency in which they are to be paid, the rate
used to establish the commitment is:

0] Under the regular programme (including the Participation Programme): the
rate fixed by the General Conference for the euro and the variable rate in
force at UNESCO when a commitment is made in other currencies;

(i)  Under other funds, the variable rate in force at UNESCO when the
commitment is established.

(c) The code of the currency of the contractual obligation must be clearly indicated on
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the commitment document.

5.4 Directives for the application of time criteria for the validity of commitments under
the regular programme

(a)

(b)

(c)

By definition, an outstanding commitment subsists only where it corresponds to a
valid commitment entered in the Organization’s accounts (FABS) before the close
of the financial period.

The general rule determining whether any outstanding balance on commitment is
kept in existence is that the delivery of goods or supply of services must be
completed before the end of the financial period.

There are some exceptions to this general rule (refer to AM Appendix 3.8A for the
detailed table), the application of which must be duly justified by the Administrative
Officer of the Sector or the Field Office and be subject to BFM approval.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

EXCEPTION 1

a. The delivery of goods or supply of services related to staff mission or
meeting and conferences has begun but was not completed during the
financial period, and there are no budget appropriations made in the
following financial period for the goods or services in question. This
exception does not apply to services provided on a personal basis under
employment contracts such as consulting or supernumerary contracts.

b. Among the most common cases where this exception applies, the
following examples may be given:
i. Travel: where a mission starts before 31 December, the date to be
taken into account being the actual date of departure on mission;
and

i. Meetings or conferences: where the dates of the meeting or
conference straddle the end of one financial period and the start of
the next, such as bridging December and January; to determine the
start date of the meeting or conference, this must begin before the
end of the financial period.

EXCEPTION 2

The delivery of contractual services has been completed before the end of
the financial period, however acceptance of the delivery might take place
within a maximum of three months after the end of the financial period. The
following three criteria must be satisfied:

a. There is a contract, or other form of mutual written commitment between
UNESCO and an external party, which was signed by both parties
before the end of the financial period; and

b. The goods and services represent a non-recurring cost that can
reasonably be considered as chargeable to the current financial period,
in other words as having been factored into the work plans approved for
that financial period; and

c. The acceptance of delivery on the contractual services could not take
place during the current financial period.

EXCEPTION 3

A specific commitment arising out of a decision by a governing body where
delivery of the goods or supply of the services may or may not have begun.
EXCEPTION 4

Outstanding balances on commitments relating to contracts for co-
publication or licensing agreements, contracts for printing and binding,
participation programme, grants or fellowships for study and research,
UNESCO Chairs and the university twinning programme (UNITWIN).
Year-end procedures

At the end of each year, the persons responsible for activities draw up a
written list of commitments (corresponding, for example, to a contract signed
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by both parties) which must be kept in place, in close coordination with the

certifying officer concerned, and forwarded to BFM/FAS/AP. The certifying

officer must ensure that there is documentary support for maintaining a

commitment, and, in this connection, BFM/FAS/AP carries out spot-check

verifications. During the last six months of the biennium, special attention is
given to commitments relating to activities:

a. That are due to be completed by the end of the financial period but might
be delayed or postponed, in whole or in part, beyond the end of the
financial period,;

b. The completion of which in the following financial period has been
authorized by BFM/FAS/AP but the start or state of progress of which in
the current financial period has been or might be delayed or postponed
beyond the end of that financial period.

5.5 Disposal of amounts unspent

5.6

(a)

(b)

Under the regular programme (including the Participation Programme), if the
termination takes place:

(i)

(ii)

During the financial period in which the commitment is made, the budget
code against which the commitment was charged is credited by the certifying
officer with any savings on liquidation;

During the year following the end of a financial period, the budget code to
which the commitment was charged may no longer be credited with any
savings on liquidation. At the end of that year, the savings on liquidation and
the unliquidated balance of commitments are credited to the Member
States surplus/deficit account of the General Fund pursuant to Article 7.1 of
the Financial Regulations.

For other programmes, see AM Chapter 5.

Commitments of funds drawn up by one servicing unit at the request of another

unit

(a)

Centralization of an activity in one Sector

At Headquarters, certain activities are the responsibility of a single Sector. A
servicing unit may therefore be required to establish a commitment at the request
of another unit. The procedure to be followed is set out below, depending on the

case.

(i)

(ii)

All orders for supplies, furniture or other purchases may be submitted to the
Operations Section(MSS/OPS). In this case, the request is sent to
MSS/OPS through the certifying officer of the unit from which it originates,
who will ensure that:

a. lItis consistent with the approved work plans, that funds are available,
and that the accounting and budgetary entries in SAP are correct,

b. Once the request is received, MSS/OPS examines it to ensure the
procedures have been complied with and all necessary prior approvals
and clearances have been obtained. MSS/OPS then draws up a PO in
SAP based on the request (PR).

All production contracts must be drawn up by MSS/CLD/D, all translation
contracts must be drawn up by MSS/CLD/T and all contracts for
interpretation must be drawn up by MSS/CLD/C. The costs of using
conference rooms are dealt with by MSS/CLD/C on request by another unit.
In all cases, the unit from which the request originates authorizes the use of
its budgets for the amounts appropriated, either manually or electronically.
MSS/CLD verifies that the request bears the signature of the certifying
officer of the originating unit, manually or electronically, and then draws up
the commitment document based on that request. The certifying officer of
MSS/CLD examines the authorization to ensure compliance with the
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(i)

provisions of paragraph 4.1 (b), ensures that all necessary prior clearances
and approvals (by the Contracts Committee, for instance) have been
obtained, and then draws up a commitment document in SAP. Then,
MSS/CLD sends a copy of the legal obligation concerned (signed contract or
approved PO) to the certifying officer of the originating unit.

All publication and co-publication contracts and all production contracts for
paying publications must be drawn up by ERI/DPI/PBM In all cases, the unit
from which the request originates authorizes the use of its budgets for the
amounts appropriated, manually or electronically. ERI/DPI verifies that the
request bears the signature of the certifying officer of the originating unit,
manually or electronically, and then draws up the commitment document
based on that request. The certifying officer of ERI/DPI examines the
authorization to ensure compliance with the provisions of paragraph 4.1 (b),
ensures that all necessary prior clearances and approvals (by the Contracts
Committee, for instance) have been obtained, and then draws up a
commitment document in SAP. Then, ERI/DPI sends a copy of the legal
obligation concerned (signed contract or approved PO) to the certifying
officer of the originating unit.

(b) Decentralization

Decentralization is the process by which the funds of one unit, A, are made available
to another unit, B, (including by Headquarters to a Field Office, or by one Field Office
to another) in order to implement a specified activity. The request is sent to the
servicing unit (B) through the certifying officer of the unit from which it originates (A),
who ensures that:

It is consistent with the approved work plans, and that funds are available, and
that the accounting and budgetary entries in SAP are correct;

All the required clearances have been obtained, then certifies the document
manually (in the form of a memorandum or email) and sends it to the servicing unit
for action.

Upon receipt of the memorandum, the servicing unit (B) draws up the
commitment document in the SharePoint Contract Management tool and then
sends a copy of the legal obligation concerned (signed contract or approved PO)
to the certifying officer of the originating unit from which it originated (A).

(i)
(ii)

5.7 Procedures for payments

(a)

(b)

These vary depending on the nature of the operation, and instructions are to be
found in the various Items in the Administrative Manual describing the various
operations. The currency of payment is the one stated in the contract or PO.

Payments in advance

(i)

(ii)

(i)

Article 6 of the Financial Rules (AM Appendix 3.3A) stipulates, where
advance payments are concerned, that, “Except where otherwise provided in
these Rules payment shall be made only for services rendered or goods
delivered”.

Although payments are made only when the work has been performed or the
goods delivered, the ADG/Director or Chief (or person with delegated
authority) may nonetheless approve advance payments where justified by
particular circumstances, and in accordance with the rules applicable
depending on the types of commitment. This decision must be documented
and precautionary measures (such as the setting up of a provision for
reimbursement in case delivery does not take place, or other actions such as
bank guarantees) must be taken to reduce the risk incurred, in order to
safeguard the interests of the Organization. These guarantees must be
clearly stated in the legal obligation.

An advance payment must correspond to a due date under the legal
obligation, and may therefore be authorized only after acceptance of an
activity, for example, or an activity report. Thus, where a given activity is
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broken down into several distinct phases, the advance payment must be
made at the start of each phase and not all at once for the whole contract.

6. Guidelines
Not applicable

7. Forms

7.1 Form AM 3-3: Designation of Approving Officers at Headquarters and at Established
Offices away from Headquarters

7.2 Form AM 3-4: Designation of Certifying Officers at Headquarters and at Established
Offices away from Headquarters

7.3 Form AM 3-7: General Payment Request (if FABS is used, the request is printed
automatically)

7.4 Form AM 7-1: Contract for Small Works

7.5 Form AM 7-2: Contract for Goods and Related Services
7.6 Form AM 7-3: Purchase Order

7.7 Form AM 7-4: Contract for Services

7.8 Form AM 7-5: Contract for Services (Video and Film)
7.9 Form AM 7-6 : Contract for Services (Author)

7.10 Form AM 7-7: Contract for Services (Photographs)
7.11 Form AM 7-8: Financing Activities Contract
7.12 Form AM 7-10: Implementation Partnership Agreement

7.13 Form AM 7-16: Intergovernmental Body Allocation Contract
7.14 Form HR 13-2: Contract for Individual Consultants

7.15 DMS Application: Request for work to CLD/D and CLD/T

8. Additional Help

BFM/FAS/AP maintains a hotline for backstopping and support services to Administrative
Units: bfm.ap@unesco.org. A list of Frequently Asked Questions which covers a range
operational and financial procedures is also maintained on the Intranet: FAQs
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Appendix 3.8A

3.8A Directives for the application of time criteria for the validity of

commitments under the regular programme

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial Management,
Accounts Payable unit (BFM/FAS/AP), which is responsible for this Appendix. This Appendix
applies to Headquarters and Field Offices. (Original: English)

1.

Overview

(a) By definition, an outstanding commitment subsists only where it corresponds to a valid
commitment entered in the Organization’s accounts (FABS) before the close of the

financial period.

(b) The general rule determining whether any outstanding balance on commitment is kept
in existence is that the delivery of goods or supply of services must be completed
before the end of the financial period.

(c) There are some exceptions to this general rule depending on the nature of the
commitment (see table below), and the application of which must be duly justified by
the Administrative Officer of the Sector or the Field Office and be subject to BFM

approval.

Nature of commitment

Criteria for validity

Principal
text
concerned

in the
Manual

1. CONTRACTUAL SERVICES

(a)

All contractual
services except for
those covered by
paragraphs b and ¢
below and paragraphs
6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11
below.

The works or services
described in the
contract must be
completed before the
end of the financial
period. However,
acceptance of delivery
may take place within a
maximum of three
months after the end of
the financial period.

>
<

Chapter 7

(b)

Contracts made for
the Organization by an
outside body (indirect
method) for the
statutory meeting or
conference

The statutory meeting
or conference as well
a s n o n-statutory
meetings/conferences,
must start before the
end of the financial
period. However,
acceptance of delivery
may take place within a
maximum of three
months after the end of
the financial period.

A M ltem
11.5
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Nature of commitment

Criteria for validity

Principal
text
concerned

in the
Manual

(c) Contracts for printing
and binding with outside
firms.

The final version of the
completed manuscript
must be delivered to the
contractor (for copy
preparation,
typesetting, illustration
and printing, as the
case may be) before
the end of the financial
period and the work
must be completed
within 10 months
following the end of the
financial period.

A M Item
13.5

(d) Co-publication
contracts and licensing
agreements.

The final, entirely
revised and corrected
version of the
manuscript must be
delivered to ERI/DPI
before 1 July of the
second year of the
biennial period. The
work must be published
within 10 months
following the end of the
financial period.

2. CONFERENCES AND MEETINGS ORGANIZED BY UNESCO
ALONE OR JOINTLY WITH ANOTHER BODY

Travel of the main
participants and
interpreters, translators,
secretaries and other
technical assistance,
temporary or
supernumerary; all other
related expenses (but see

paragraph 12 below for
staff travel).

For statutory meeting
or conference as well
a s n o n-statutory
meetings/conferences,
the actual event must
start before the end of
the financial period.

ltem

= >

oz

3. FELLOWSHIPS FOR
STUDY TRAVEL AND
RESEARCH GRANTS

The fellowship or grant
for study travel or
research work must be
granted and accepted,
the beneficiary named
and the course of
studies commenced
before the end of the
financial period. Studies

A M lItems

14.1 and
14.2
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must be completed 10
months following the
end of the financial
period.

4. UNESCO AND UNITWIN
CHAIRS

Works described in the
contract must begin
before the end of the
financial period and to
be completed within a
maximum of ten months
after the end of the
financial period.

5. GRANTS TO
PARTICIPANTS IN
SEMINARS AND
OTHER
FORMS OF GROUP
TRAINING

The preparatory work
for the seminar or
group training must be
completed before the
end of the financial
period.

6. FINANCING ACTIVITY
CONTRACTS

The activity to which the
contract relates must
be completed by the
end of the financial
period. However,
acceptance of delivery
may take place within a
maximum of three
months after the end of
the financial period.

7. CONTRACTS WITH
IMPLEMENTING
PARTNERS

The activity to which the
contract relates must
be completed by the
end of the financial
period. However,
acceptance of delivery
may take place within a
maximum of three
months after the end of
the financial period.

AM Item
4.5
AM ltem
14.1
AM ltem
7.3
AM ltem
7.5
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8. INTERGOVERNMENTAL | The activity to which the | AM _Item
BODY ALLOCATION contract relates must 7.6
CONTRACTS be complete_d by t_he

end of the financial
period. However,
acceptance of delivery
may take place within a
maximum of three
months after the end of
the financial period.

9. SUPPLIES AND |A PO or equivalent |AM Item
EQUIPMENT document must be sent | 10.1

to the supplier before
(Contract for Goods, |the end of the financial
Purchase Orders and | period and the articles
Commodities Orders) must be delivered by
the end of the financial
period.

10. GENERAL OPERATING EXPENSES

Rental and maintenance of |[Services to be |AM

premises, furniture, |provided, hospitality to | Iltem 3.8

equipment and vehicles; |be offered, utilities

utilities charges; |charges and insurance
communications; freight; | premiums falling due by

hospitality; insurance. the end of the financial
period.

11. CONSULTANTS Services described in | HR Manual
the contract must be | ltem 13.11
completed by the end
of the financial period.

12. STAFF TRAVEL ON Start of travel |[AM Item

MISSION * 1 (departure date) must | 15.2
N be before the end of
the financial period.
13. PARTICIPATION PROGRAMME
(@) Financial | Works described must | AM Item
contributions begin before the end of | 4.6

the financial period and
to be completed within
a maximum of four
months after the end of
the financial period.

(b)  Services, publishing
and consultancy
contract; organization
of conferences,
meetings, etc.;

See the relevant
headings above.

Published on 21-Aug-2013

Page 4


http://manual-part1.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/Chap7/Item7.6.aspx
http://manual-part1.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/Chap10/Pages/Item10.1.aspx
http://manual-part1.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/Chap3/Pages/Item3.8.aspx
http://manual-part2.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/ch13/Pages/item11.aspx
http://manual-part1-test.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/Chap3/Pages/Item3.8.aspx#footnote*
http://manual-part1-test.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/Chap3/Pages/Item3.8.aspx#footnote11
http://manual-part1.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/Chap15/Pages/Item15.2.aspx
http://manual-part1.hq.int.unesco.org/EN/Chap4/Pages/Item4.6.aspx

UNESCO Administrative Manual Appendix 3.8A

fellowships; purchase
of equipment; travel;
etc.

*  Except for staff travel to conferences and meeting organized by UNESCO itself or jointly
with another body.

1 The cost of travel entitlements under the Staff Rules, including cost of the transportation of
personal effects and the removal of household goods, shall be chargeable to the budget of
the financial period during which payment is made.

2. Additional Help

BFM/FAS/AP maintains a hotline for backstopping and support services to Administrative
Units: bfm.ap@unesco.org . A list of Frequently Asked Questions which covers a range
operational and financial procedures is also maintained on the Intranet: FAQs.
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3.9 Financial Accounts

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial Management,
Financial Reporting and Accounts Section (BFM/FRA), which is responsible for this Item
(Original: English).

1. Overview

11

1.2

1.3

The purpose of this Item is to present the general structure and organisation of
UNESCO'’s financial accounts, and to identify the controls and responsibilities concerning
their maintenance and preparation.

The financial accounts of UNESCO are generated from the accounting records, and are
used to establish the Organization’s Financial Statements, which include financial position
and performance. The Financial Statements for each financial period are submitted to
the External Auditor for certification.

The accounting records are managed under the integrated Finance and Budget System
(FABS), and are established and maintained by the Chief Financial Officer. The structure
of the accounting records is defined by the chart of accounts, which is established and
maintained by BFM/FRA.

2. Definitions

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

The financial accounts are represented by the accounting records that register all
financial transactions. The purpose of these records is to enable anyone to appraise the
Organization's current financial position and performance with reasonable accuracy.
UNESCO presents its financial accounts in the Financial Statements for each financial
period.

Financial Statements are prepared for each financial period, and are submitted to the
External Auditor for certification. Financial Statements include the following information:

(a) A statement of financial position;

(b) A statement of financial performance;

(c) A statement of changes in net assets/equity;
(d) A cash flow statement;

(e) A comparison of budget and actual amounts either as a separate additional
financial statement or as a budget column in the financial statement; and

0 Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

The chart of accounts is the numerical listing of all identified account lines used by the
Organization to record transactions. It is used by all UNESCO structures, for every
operation independently of the funding sources (business areas or segments).

Transactions are recorded and can be sub-divided based on the four main business
areas or segments as follows:

(@) General Fund (GEF) includes both the General and Working Capital Funds set up
in accordance with Financial Regulations 6.1 and 6.2. This segment has been
established for the purpose of accounting for the expenditure of the Regular
Programme appropriation voted by the General Conference of UNESCO for a
given financial period.

(b) Other Proprietary Funds (OPF) include revenue-generating activities, programme
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(c)

(d)

support costs for special accounts and trust funds, the Staff Compensation Fund,
the Terminal Payments Fund, and Headquarters-related special accounts. This
segment carries out the programmes, or groups other authorized expenditure, of
UNESCO. The residual right of ownership of all of the funds in this segment is
ultimately vested in Member States. The funds have been established in
accordance with Financial Regulation 6.5 and normally have individual special
financial regulations.

Programme Fiduciary Funds (PFF) includes institutes, special accounts and trust
funds set up in accordance with Financial Regulation 6.5. This segment carries out
extra budgetary programme activities in accordance with the respective
agreements signed between UNESCO and donors or other legal authority. The
resources of each fund in this segment can only be used for the purposes for
which the respective fund has been established.

Staff Fiduciary Funds (SFF) is the segment that has been established for the
benefit of UNESCO'’s staff members, namely through the Medical Benefits Fund,
the UNESCO Commissary Fund (UCF), the UNESCO Restaurant Service (URS)
and the UNESCO Day Nursery and Children’s Club (UNC), with the residual right of
ownership totally or partially vested in staff or retired staff members. The
resources of each fund in this segment can only be used for the purposes for
which the respective fund has been established.

2.5 Account lines within the chart of accounts include the following items:

(a)

(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
()
(9)
(h)
(i)
()
(k)
()
(m)
(n)
(0)
(p)
(a)
)
(s)
®

(u)

3. Policies

Cash and cash equivalents: bank accounts (they are maintained in local currency
and in USD and are reconciled by BFM/TRS with statements received from the
Banks);

Investments;
Inventories;
Accounts receivable (from non-exchange and exchange transactions);
Advance payments;
Other current assets;
Property, plant and equipment;
Work-in-progress;
Intangible assets;
Other non-current assets;
Accounts payable;
Employee benefits;
Transfers payable;
Conditions on voluntary contributions;
Advance receipts;
Borrowings;
Other current liabilities;
Other non-current liabilities;
Net assets/equity accounts;

Revenue accounts: assessed contributions, voluntary contributions, other revenue
producing activities, other/miscellaneous revenue, finance revenue;

Expense accounts.

3.1 The official accounting records of UNESCO are defined in Financial Regulation 11 and
are established and maintained in accordance with the provisions of Financial Rule 7
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(see AM Appendix 3.3A).

3.2 The Financial Statements for each financial period are submitted to the External Auditor
for certification.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1 Bureau of the Financial Managemet

(a)

(b)

(c)
(d)
(e)

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for establishing and maintaining the
accounting records of UNESCO which are managed under the integrated Finance
and Budget System (FABS).

Access rights for consultation to finance and budget information available online is
approved by the Financial Officer to the users of FABS based on pre-determined
criteria.

BFM is responsible for establishing and maintaining records concerning allotments
as laid down in Financial Rule 2.7 (see AM Appendix 3.3A).

The chart of accounts of the Organization is established, maintained, revised and
updated by BFM/FRA.

The list of official bank accounts of the Organization is established and maintained
by the Treasury Section (BFM/TRS). The Chief Financial Officer is the sole person
authorized by the Director-General to open, operate and close bank accounts in
the name of the Organization.

4.2 Accounts at UNESCO Offices away from Headquarters. These accounts are
established and maintained under the responsibility of the Director of each office in strict
accordance with instructions provided by BFM, unless otherwise specifically instructed
under the FABS roll-out time schedule.

5. Procedures and Processes

5.1 The transactions recorded in the accounting records of the Organization are processed
online from direct inputs as follows:

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

Goods and services delivered not invoiced:;
Vendor’s invoice;

Customer invoice;

Payments;

Receipt of funds;

Journal vouchers for all off-line transactions (imprests, 10Vs, general ledger
adjustments).

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

7.1 See SAP Forms, including:

(a)
(b)

Form AM 3-11 — Request for GL Account Creation / Modification

Forms AM 3-14, AM 3-15, AM 3-16, AM 3-17, AM 3-18, AM 9-10, AM 9-11, AM
9-12 — concerning FABS access rights

8. Additional Help
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8.1 The Bureau of Financial Management website — Reporting & Accounts, IPSAS Reform
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3.10 Hospitality and Courtesy Expenses

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial Management,
Financial Policy and Compliance Section (BFM/FPC), which is responsible for this Item
(Original: English).

1. Overview

11

The present Item defines hospitality and courtesy expenses, and describes under which
circumstances these expenses may be incurred.

2. Definitions

2.1

2.2

For the purpose of the present Item, hospitality is defined as expenses incurred for the
provision of meals, receptions and beverages and provided/extended to guests in the
interests of UNESCO. Hospitality is distinct from the Representation Allowance provided
to certain senior staff members that is covered in HR Manual Item 4.5, paragraphs 240
to 241 and 243 to 244 and from courtesy expenses (see Paragraph 2.2 below)

Expenses may also be incurred for the provision of food and beverages during other
activities such as internal meetings and working lunches. This category of expenses is
referred to as courtesy expenses, to distinguish it from hospitality as defined as in

Paragraph 2.1 above.

3. Policies

3.1

3.2

3.3

Authorized use of hospitality funds. Funds earmarked for hospitality in the approved
work plans may be used for extending hospitality to:
(@) Individuals, outside the home;

(b)  Groups of 10 or more people, inside or outside the home;
(c) Cases where reciprocity is deemed necessary.

Limitations in the use of hospitality funds. The use of hospitality funds is subject to
the following limitations:

(a) Staff participation. The cost of staff participation must be kept to a minimum. In
general, hospitality costs are not met if UNESCO staff or supernumeraries
outnumber outside guests. The latter are persons external to UNESCO. For the
purposes of these rules, UNESCO officials who are not assigned to the same duty
station as the host will be considered “outside guests”. Exceptionally, however,
where it is considered to be in the interests of the Organization, reimbursement will
be made when there is a greater number of UNESCO staff or supernumeraries. In
these cases, a memorandum signed by the ADG or Office Director explaining the
exceptional circumstances should be attached to the supporting payment claim
documentation. Catering related expenditure of training/staff development
programmes are exempted from this procedure;

(b) Family members. Family of a member of staff are not considered as either guests
or hosts. Accordingly, the costs of participation of a host's family are not borne by
UNESCO and should not be met from hospitality funds.

Authorized use of courtesy funds. Funds earmarked for courtesy costs in the
approved work plans may be used for extending courtesy to:

(a) Participants at a meeting (see AM Appendix 11.5A), staff or supernumeraries at
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internal meetings;

(b) Groups of persons, external and or staff members or supernumeraries attending a
working lunch.

3.4 Limitations in the use of courtesy funds. Use of courtesy funds is subject to the

following limitations:

(a) Staff participation. Such costs are normally incurred where an event includes staff
or supernumeraries and outside guests. There may however, be occasions when
it is appropriate for the Organization to incur such costs at events which principally
include staff members or supernumeraries. In such cases, justification must be
provided with the claim in the form of a memorandum signed by the ADG or
Director of Bureau/Office explaining the circumstances;

(b) Family members. Family of a member of staff are not considered as either guests
or hosts. Accordingly, the costs of participation of a host's family are not borne by
UNESCO and should not be met from courtesy funds;

(c) Costlimit. The total cost of the courtesy for an event must not exceed US$250.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1

4.2

ADGs and Directors or Heads of Bureaux/Offices. Hospitality/courtesy expenses may
only be incurred with the prior authorization of an ADG or Director of Bureau/Office (or
his/her designated official) who shall satisfy himself/herself that the planned expenditure
is in the interest of UNESCO. ADGs and Directors or Heads of Bureaux/Offices are
responsible for ensuring that cost is kept within reasonable limits and that the cost of
staff participation is kept to a minimum.

Certifying Officers should ensure that amounts committed to cover hospitality/courtesy
expenditure do not exceed the funds approved for this purpose in the relevant work
plans. The amounts and use of hospitality/courtesy funds must be carefully and
systematically monitored so that the responsible ADG or Director of Bureau/Office may
know at any time the balance available under each budget code for the remainder of the
financial period. To this end, a budgetary control record must be maintained for each
executing unit. When processing hospitality/courtesy expense claims, certifying officers
must check that all expenditures incurred are documented, and that the principles and
conditions laid down in this Item are strictly adhered to.

5. Procedures and Processes

5.1

5.2

Approved hospitality/courtesy expense budgets. Executing units are responsible for
operating within the limits of their allocation for hospitality/courtesy expenses. Under
normal circumstances, savings under another item of expenditure may not offset
overspending on hospitality/courtesy expenses unless the responsible ADG or Director of
Bureau/Office has granted prior authorization. In this case, a work plan amendment
should be prepared giving full justification and, if the proposed adjustment affects the
allotment issued by BFM/BMR, the budget code from which the excess will be met. All
such work plan amendments require the prior approval of the responsible ADG or
Director of Bureau/Office and must be sent to BFM/BMR for information and, if need be,
action.

Monitoring of hospitality and courtesy expenses

(a) Identifying hospitality/courtesy expenses. It is essential for monitoring purposes
but also for the preparation of expenditure forecasts to ensure that
hospitality/courtesy expenditure is attributed to the correct General Ledger code.
Hospitality during travel on mission is included in the Official Travel Order and is
charged to the appropriate General Ledger (GL) for hospitality.

(b) Advance commitment of funds is required at the beginning of each year of the
biennium to cover the entire hospitality/courtesy expenditure foreseen by each
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Sector/Bureau/Office in its approved work plan. The amount committed should not
exceed the funds earmarked for this purpose in the work plans.

5.3 Reimbursement and Payment Procedures

(a) Hospitality Expense Claim Form (Form AM 3-8). All claims for reimbursement or
payment of hospitality/courtesy expenses are submitted on Form AM 3-8, except
for hospitality during travel on mission (see Paragraph 5.2 (a) above) when the
claim is included on the Travel Record. Irrespective of the form on which the claim
is submitted, supporting receipts or bills and other written substantiation of the
hospitality/courtesy expenditure incurred, including the list of guests with their
position and affiliation must be attached. Where this is not possible, reasons
should be stated on the form. Claims for items not representing hospitality or
courtesy expenses will be disallowed by BFM.

0] For authorized hospitality/courtesy offered in the UNESCO restaurant at
Headquarters, a staff member should pay the bill him/herself and claim
reimbursement unless alternative arrangements have been made and agreed
upon with the UNESCO Restaurant Services (URS) in advance;

(i) At Headquarters, Form AM 3-8 is countersigned by the AO;

(i)  Away from Headquarters, the original is given to the Director or Head of the
field unit for approval.

5.4 Hospitality extended by the Executive Board or the General Conference
Hospitality extended by the Executive Board or the General Conference is arranged on
instructions from appropriate officers of those bodies by SCX and SCG in accordance
with the foregoing conditions and procedures.

6. Guidelines
Not applicable

7. Forms

7.1 Form AM 3-8: Hospitality Expense Claim

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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3.11 Writing off of Losses

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial Management,
Financial Reporting and Accounts Section (BFM/FRA), which is responsible for this
Item (Original: English).

1. Overview

1.1 The writing off of assets can be authorized by the Director-General or another delegated
authority, subject to certain procedures and provided that a statement of written off
amounts is submitted to the External Auditor with the Financial Statements.

2. Definitions

2.1 Write-off: The charging of an asset amount to expense or loss, in order to reduce the
value of that asset.

3. Policies

3.1 The writing off of losses of cash, stores and other assets may be authorized by the
Director-General, after a full investigation, provided that a statement of all amounts
written off is submitted to the External Auditor with the Financial Statements (see
Financial Regulation 10.4 in the Basic Texts). No amounts may be written off unless
authority has been granted in accordance with the provisions of this Iltem.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1 Responsibility for authorizing the write off of losses is delegated, subject to the
observance of the related Administrative Manual provisions, as follows:

(a) To the Deputy Director-General for amounts of more than USD 10,000 (or the
equivalent in other currencies);

(b) To the Chief Financial Officer, for amounts of USD 10,000 or less (or the equivalent
in other currencies) in respect of loss of cash and other assets except those
specified in Paragraph 4.1 (c) below;

(c) To the Director of the Division of Public Information (ERI/DPI), for amounts of
USD 3,000 or less (or the equivalent in other currencies) in respect of losses
arising from the non-payment of sums owed on sales of publications (except for
UNESCO periodicals and the UNESCO courier).

4.2 This authority may not be delegated by the Directors concerned but, in their absence, it
may be exercised by Acting Directors.

5. Procedures and Processes

5.1 Authorities

(@) The following procedures govern requests and authorizations in respect of the
writing off of losses of cash and other assets, except for losses of supplies,
equipment or other property of the Organization (see Paragraph 5.1 (b) below):

(i) Losses under the UNESCO Restaurant Services Fund (URS): see
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5.2

5.3

AM ltem 12.7.

(i) Other losses of cash and assets. In each case, a full explanation of attempts
to recover the amount concerned and of the reasons for the proposed writing
off is prepared by the appropriate Section Chief in the Bureau of Financial
Management and forwarded to the Chief Financial Officer. If the amount is
USD 10,000 or less (or the equivalent in other currencies), the Chief
Financial Officer takes a decision. If the amount is higher, the Chief Financial
Officer forwards the full explanation of the case to the DDG for decision.

(b) The following procedures govern requests and authorizations in respect of the
writing off of amounts relating to the loss of, or damage to, movable and
immovable property:

(i)  Of the Organization, as defined in AM Item 10.1;

(i)  Acquired under the UNESCO Restaurant Services Fund (URS): see
AM Item 12.7.

Central register

A central register of losses of cash, stores and other assets that have been written off is
maintained by the Financial Reporting and Accounts Section (BFM/FRA) to facilitate the
preparation of Annual Statements on the subject. The competent units or officials
throughout the Organization are responsible for reporting to BFM/FRA all amounts
requiring to be written off.

Annual Statements of amounts written off

Annual Statements of amounts written off are prepared by BFM on the basis of the
central register of amounts written off mentioned above, in accordance with Financial
Regulation 10.4 of the Organization, AM Appendix 12.7B “Financial Regulations of the
UNESCO Restaurant Services Fund”, paragraph 11 and AM Appendix 12.6B “Financial
Regulations of the UNESCO Commissary Fund”, paragraph 11.

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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3.12 Ex Gratia Payments

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, contact the Bureau of Financial Management, Financial
Reporting and Accounts Section (BFM/FRA), which is responsible for this Item (Original:
English).

1. Overview

1.1 Ex gratia payments made by the Director-General are subject to authorization
procedures, and are required to be reported to the General Conference with the financial
statements.

2. Definitions

2.1 An ex gratia payment is money paid when there is no obligation or liability requiring the
payment.

3. Policies

3.1 An ex gratia payment may be made by the Director-General when he/she deems it to be
in the interest of the Organization, provided that a statement of all such payments is
submitted to the General Conference with the financial statements of the Organization
(Financial Regulation 10.3).

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1 The Office of International Standards and Legal Affairs (LA) is responsible for
determining, in each case, whether there is any legal constraint to an ex gratia payment
or whether such a payment would be likely to create legal difficulties for the Organization
and, where appropriate, for fixing the legal terms under which such payment could be
made.

4.2 The Deputy Director-General is responsible for authorizing an ex gratia payment for an
amount of USD 500 or more.

4.3 The Director of the Bureau of Human Resource Management (DIR/HRM) is responsible
for authorizing an ex gratia payment for an amount of less than USD 500 in the case of a
staff member or any other employee of the Organization.

4.4 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for authorizing an ex gratia payment for an
amount less than USD 500 in the case of a person not covered by Paragraph 4.3 above.

4.5 The Administrative Officer of HRM (HRM/AOQ) is responsible for establishing the
necessary obligation and payment documents.

5. Procedures and Processes

5.1 Procedure
HRM refers the case to LA for advice and then consults any other interested units. HRM
also consults the Budget Monitoring and Reporting Section (BFM/BMR), for payments
chargeable to either extra budgetary funds or Regular Programme Budget. After
approval by the responsible official, HRM/AO prepares the necessary obligation and
payment documents, and processes them, sending a copy at the same time to the
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Financial Reporting and Accounts Section (BFM/FRA).
5.2 Annual Statement

The annual statement of ex gratia payments called for under Financial Regulation 10.3 is
prepared by BFM, on the basis of a central register of such payments that is maintained
by BFM/FRA.

6. Guidelines

Not applicable

7. Forms

Not applicable

8. Additional Help

Not applicable
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3.13 Field Office Financial Management

Primary Author

For any information or suggestions, please contact the Bureau of Financial Management, Field
Operations Support Section (BFM/FOS), which is responsible for this Item. This Item applies
to Field Offices. (Original: English).

1. Overview

11

1.2

1.3

1.4

The purpose of this item is to provide guidance in connection with procedures for
financial and budgetary management of UNESCO Field offices in accordance to the
financial rules see AM Appendix 3.3A.

The UNESCO Field Offices, also referred to as UNESCO'’s field network, are
decentralized organizational units that an integral part of the UNESCO Secretariat and as
such serve the same objectives and function as units based at Headquarters.

The below guidelines are applicable to Multisectoral Regional Offices and National
Offices in Africa and to Cluster Offices, National Offices and Regional Bureaux in the
other regions. These guidelines are not applicable to antenna and project offices which
are established under the authority of Multisectoral Regional; Offices in Africa and
Cluster Offices. The list of UNESCO Field Offices is provided in AM Appendix 1.7A and
the coverage of Multisectoral Regional Offices and Cluster Offices appears in AM

Appendix 1.7B.

The financial management of the Field Offices falls under responsibility of the Bureau of
Financial Management.

2. Definitions

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

The Financial and Budgetary System (FABS) is used to record financial transactions,
maintain accounts and provide data for budgetary and financial reporting. The Field
Office access to the information system varies and is limited to the modules available to
process transactions which impact reporting and thus defines the procedures followed by
each Office. The Field Office has full FABS access to record financial transactions:

Full FABS access is the complete information system including the following modules
Material Management (MM), Travel (TV), Funds Management (FM) and Financial
Accounting (FI). The commitments of funds are carried out in the relevant modules
applicable to the type of expenditure incurred through DUO, Travel Management,
Contract Management and STEPS for Service Contracts

The Approving Officer has the authority to enter into commitments (see articles 5.5 and
5.7 in Einancial Rules). This role is appointed to the Director/Head of Office as
authorized by the Director-General to incur commitments i.e. to commit the Organization
legally and financially vis-a-vis third parties by signing contracts. The Director/Head of
Office may delegate this authority to other officers in the Field Office to act as approving
officers (i.e. validate and sign contracts). In view of the nature of this delegation, only
staff members should be designated as approving officers.

The Certifying Officer has the authority to examine and approve commitments (articles
5.9 to 5.15 in Financial Rules) as delegated by the Chief Financial Officer. As a general
rule, certifying officers are administrative staff. In offices where the administrative unit is
not adequately staffed to ensure proper programme support and an adequate level of
segregation of duties, BFM should be consulted for advice.

The Officer in Charge (OIC) may be designated by the Director/Head of Office as a
temporary replacement in his/her absence from the duty station. In the event of the
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2.5

2.6
2.7

retirement or permanent absence of a Director/Head of Office the OIC will be appointed
by the Director-General pending the recruitment of the Director/Head of Office.

Property (as outlined in AM Item 10.1 (Paragraph 2.1)) includes land and buildings,
motor vehicles, various types of machinery, information technology equipment, office
furniture and equipment, heritage assets and etc. for which UNESCO is responsible,
whether acquired by purchase, rental, loan, donation or any other means. There are two
types of UNESCO property which are non-expendable and expendable. The categories
and list of non-expendable property is provided in AM Item 10.1 (Paragraph 2.1(i) (ii)

Project Assets (as outlined in AM Item 10.1 (Paragraph 2.2)) are equipment, motor
vehicles, furniture, materials and supplies acquired through extra-budgetary resources.
Such assets are devoted exclusively to the execution of a project in accordance with
donor agreement. All controlled project assets with a value of more than $1,000 or $300
in the case of Small Attractive Items must be maintained in the Asset Management
Module (AMM) of FABS and shall remain the property of UNESCO.

Insurance coverage is the amount and extent of risk covered by an insurer.

Official vehicles (as outlined in AM Item 10.5) are provided to UNESCO’s established
Offices away from Headquarters and to UNESCO field projects funded by the Regular
Programme and/or extra budgetary funds, to serve the overall needs of the effective
implementation of the Organization’s programmes.

3. Policies

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

3.7

The Financial Rules (refer to AM Appendix 3.3A) are established by the Director-General
to implement the provisions of the Financial Regulations and establish the financial
procedures and main delegated authorities of the Organization. The Financial Rules
ensure effective financial administration, the exercise of economy and safeguard the
assets of the Organization. The Financial Rules apply uniformly to all sources of funds
and all financial transaction of the Organization unless otherwise stated in the Financial
Rules.

Financial responsibility in case of mismanagement of funds, by any staff member who
has committed the Organization without respecting fully the Financial rules (AM Appendix
3.3A) and the related Administrative or HR Manual provisions shall be personally liable
and financially responsible for the consequences of such action (Staff Rule 101.2).

The Cash Management policy for the Organization is applicable to all Field Offices. The
main emphasis related to a Field Office is the bank account of the holding entity, the
bank reconciliation, petty cash, foreign exchange, the incoming payments and outgoing
payments (see AM Item 3.7 including the Cash Utilization Policy).

The general provisions concerning Travel on missions are dealt with more specifically in
AM Item 15.2 and Item 3.10 hospitality and courtesy expenses respectively.

The types of contracts the Organization enters into fall into three main categories:
contract with-for-profit organizations are dealt with in AM ltem 7.2, contracts with not-
for-profit organizations are dealt with in AM Item 7.3 (Financing Activities Contracts) and
AM Item 7.5 (Implementation Partner Agreements), while contracts with individuals are
dealt with in HR Manual Chapter 13. For more information on Cooperation with UN
Entities at Field level refer to AM Item 7.9 and the use of Intergovernmental Body
Allocation contracts is dealt with in AM Item 7.6. Contracts for amounts that exceed the
amount specified in AM Item 7.4 are subject to the prior approval of the Contracts
Committee.

Property and procurement actions are in strict compliance with the provisions of
AM ltem 10.2 “Procurement of goods, works and services” and of AM Appendix 10.2A
“Procurement Guide”.

In accordance with the Standards of Conduct for the International Civil Service, all staff
members engaged in procurement and contracting operations shall maintain an
uncompromising standard of integrity in all their business relationships both inside and
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outside the Organization. They shall never use their authority or office for personal gain
and shall seek to uphold and enhance the standing of the Organization (AM Item 10.2).

3.8 The security management structure and security measures applicable at UNESCO
offices away from Headquarters are dealt with in the HR Manual Chapter 17.

4. Roles, Authorities and Accountabilities

4.1 “Everyone has responsibility for internal control” (AM Item 3.4 paragraph 4.1).
Individual accountability in the implementation of the above concept is reinforced through
the establishment of Approving Officer registers (Form AM 3-3) to complement the
Certifying Officer registers (Form AM 3-4). The two financial authorities are detailed in
paragraphs below. The registers have been instituted to foster an open and transparent
contracting process whose actors assume their duties in strict compliance not only with the
Financial rules (AM Appendix 3.3A) and Financial Regulations of UNESCO, but also the
ethical standards set forth in the “Standards of Conduct for the International Civil Service”.

4.2 This individual accountability is based on two sources of financial delegation:

(@)

(b)

Authority to enter into commitments

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

The Director-General designates in writing those officials authorized to enter
into commitments (Approving Officers). They may in turn redelegate this
authority to Staff Members under their supervision. This redelegation should be
documented using Form AM 3-3. However the ultimate responsibility of the
Sector/Office/Bureau rests with the Director in line with the delegation from the
Director-General (see Article 5.7 of the Financial Rules AM Appendix 3.3A). In his
or her absence, the Director or Head of Office will appoint the most senior staff
member as officer-in charge (OIC).

Managers (Chiefs of Sections and Directors) who as Approving Officers are
granted signature authority must ensure, before formally committing the
Organization to a contractual arrangement, that the commitment and expenditures
are incurred in strict conformity with the provisions set forth in the Financial Rules
AM Appendix 3.3A and the relevant provisions under AM Item 3.8.

The authority to enter into commitments includes the authority to disengage
from an obligation through the cancellation of a contract, Legal Affairs should be
consulted if the cancellation may lead to legal disputes.

Authority to certify commitments

(i)

v)

The authority for prior certification of commitments is assignhed to the Chief
Financial Officer. He/she delegates in turn to “Certifying Officers” the authority
to examine and approve commitments within the limits approved and in
accordance with the criteria of such certification as set out in Items (a) to (i) of
Articles 5.11 and 6 of the Financial Rules (AM Appendix 3.3A).

Administrative Officers play the pivotal role of Certifying Officer to ensure that
commitments and expenditures are incurred in strict conformity with the Financial
Rules (AM Appendix 3.3A) and as detailed in AM Item 3.8.

The segregation of tasks as between the certifying officer and approving officer
is the basis of the internal control and, as such, it must be strictly adhered to. The
person validating a financial commitment should not be the same person who
signs the related contractual document with a third party contractor.

In certain Field Offices or Bureaux, where administrative units are not
adequately staffed to ensure proper operational support, a designated Staff
Member may exceptionally combine both above functions, subject to prior
delegation of authority from BFM. In these circumstances, the same person
cannot sign the contract as approving officer and authorize the related
commitment.

For internal control reasons, the same official may not act both as certifying
officer and bank signatory in respect of the same payment. If a staff member
having rights as certifying officer and bank signatory is called upon to certify a
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(i)

payment, he/she may not sign the instrument of payment in relation thereto, and
vice versa. In addition, a bank signatory should never sign a payment he/she is
the beneficiary of.

Unauthorized commitments

By certifying the financial commitments, the certifying officers engage their
personal responsibility. Every official who binds the Organization financially
without complying with the Financial Rules or the principles and methods laid
down in this Administrative Manual shall be personally liable (see Staff Rule 101.2
and Article 5, Rule 5.14 of the Financial Rules reproduced in AM Appendix 3.3A).
BFM examines all such cases and decides on the appropriate measures to take.
Alleged wrongdoings will be forwarded to DIR/IOS and HRM for their review and
evaluation.

(c) Limitations on the authority of certifying officers

The authority to certify commitments is subject to the following limitations:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

The maximum amount up to which a certifying officer may exercise his or her
responsibilities is in line with the certification levels authorised by BFM and also
shown in the Approvers Management tool and on Form AM 3-4;

The prior approval of other Sectors/Bureaux must be obtained for certain types
of contract documents:

a. All contracts for video or film production and contracts for the acquisition of
exploitation and intellectual property rights in photographs must be approved
by ERI/DPI,

b. All purchases of non-standard computer or electronic material must be
approved by KMI (see AM Appendix 10.2A).

c. The use of hon-standard contract documents must be pre-approved by Legal
Affairs on the legal terms and conditions.

Commitments for amounts that exceed the amount specified in AM ltem 7.4 are
subject to the prior approval of the Contracts Committee.

4.3 In line with the above, the table below outlines specific accountabilities and
responsibilities within the financial administration process in a Field Office.

Action Authority Responsibility Accountability
Create Programme | The person responsible | Ensures that:
Request Specialist ensures that: - Activity

- There is a link between | progress report
the request and an |in SISTER
activity in the approved
work plans in SISTER.

- The appropriate budget
code (for Extra budgetary
projects, the budget line
in the project agreement)
and account assignment
(G/L, WBS element,
budget code) is used.
-The Terms of
Reference (TOR),
including payment terms
and deliverables,
technical specifications
(for supplies/ equipment)
are clear and complete,
prepared in accordance
with established rules and
procedures and entered
in FABS as approved by
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the Contracts Committee
and/or Senior
Management.

-The choice of the
contractor is determined
in accordance with the
TOR after discussion with
his/her supervisor and in
compliance with all
applicable rules for the
selection of contractors.

- The contract proposal
has been reviewed by the
Contracts Committee if
the contract value is
equal to or greater than
the amount specified in
AM ltem 7.4

- The request is prepared
in a timely manner to
allow adequate time for
the subsequent steps,
including obtaining the
signature of the
contractor on the hard
copy of the purchase
order/contract prior to
commencement of the
work.

Authorize
request

Supervisor
of
Programme
Specialist

Responsibility:

- The request is in line
with work plans and is
needed to achieve
programme/operational
objectives and that
contracting is the most
appropriate mechanism
for implementing the
tasks specified in the
TOR (e.g. because there
are no staff
resources/capacity to
perform the tasks).

- The request has been
submitted by the
appropriate individual,
and that the correct
budget code has been
used.

- The request has been
prepared according to
established rules and
procedures.

Ensures that:

- Activity
progress report
in SISTER

- Activity/ project
progress report
submitted to
Director/ADG/
donor

- Approved
signed hard copy
of request, or
request approval
in form of e-malil
clearly explains
achievement of
the mission vis a
Vis its purpose.

Certify
request/Earmark
funds

(Certify to
reserve

Certifying
Officers

The responsibility to:
- Ensure that the
commitment is in line with
the Administrative
Manual, and financial
rules and regulations.

Ensures that:

- Appropriate
module is used in
FABS to create
the commitment.
-Budget and
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funds in the
appropriate
module in
FABS)

- Sufficient funds are
available under the
correct budget code.

- The fund is reserved for
the correct amount, as
specified in the draft
contract or purchase
order.

- Details are entered
completely and
accurately in FABS
against the correct G/L
code and that the
information recorded in
FABS is identical to the
information provided to
the officer who approved
the selection or request.

- The commitment
amount is within the
certifying limit as
authorized by the CFO
and in the Approvers
management tool.

expenditure
report from AO
to Head of Field
Office (FO)

Sign legal
commitment

Director /
Head of
Field Office
or
designated
Officer
(Approving
Officers)

The responsibility to:
-The contractual
commitment is valid,
taking into account the
programme and
operational objectives of
the office.

- The contract request
has been properly
reviewed, approved and
certified at the
appropriate level.

- The reservation of funds
has been established in
the appropriate module in
FABS.

- The hard copy of the
contract/purchase order
has been properly signed
and dated prior to
commencement of work.

Ensures that:

- Signed contract
-Optimum
utilization of
budget

Other possible
accountability
mechanisms:

- Achievement of
expected results
as part of the
Performance
Report of the
Field Office

- Utilization of
budget by the
Field Office to
achieve expected
results

Accept
deliverables
(Create
Service
Entry Sheet
(SES) or
payment
request or
Goods Entry

Programme
Specialist

The responsibility to:

- The amount requested
for payment matches the
payment terms in the
contract or purchase
order and is submitted
with appropriate
supporting
documentation.

-The deliverables
indicated in the contract
have been received and
correspond with the
quality and quantity

Ensures that:

- Signed approval
in the payment
request stating
that deliverables
are satisfactory
as per the
specification in
the contract and
the purchase
order and
evaluation
completed if
applicable.
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specified in the contract.

Record
Invoice

Certifying
Officer

The responsibility to:

- The payment requested
agrees with the payment
terms of the contract.
-The payment
request/invoice is certified
at the level authorized by
BFM.

-The account
assighment, payee,
amount and other
payment instructions are
correct.

Validates the
invoice posting

Payment
Process :
Posting of
payment in
FABS

AO/Certifying
Officer

The responsibility to
ensure:

- The payment request is
prepared and signed by
the appropriate individual,
who confirms the
satisfactory acceptance
of deliverables as
specified in the contract
or purchase order.

- The correct G/L and
bank account codes are
used in posting the
payment.

Payment posted
in FABS

Sign
payment
instrument
(Manual
process, not
in FABS)

2 bank
signatories;
AO/another
designated
signatory
and Head
of Field
Office (duly
authorized
by
BFM/TRS)

The responsibility to:

- There are adequate
funds in the bank to cover
the payment.

- All bank rules are
followed (including local
policy).

- The payment method is
as stated in the Outgoing
document in FABS.
-The presented
background
documentation is
complete and in
accordance with foreseen
payments.

- Bank signature and
certification are not
carried out by the same
person.

Head of Office ensures
that:

- The verification and
certification of payment
requests have been
undertaken by the
individuals delegated by
the Head of Office and
authorized under
Approvers Management.

- Bank statement
and bank
reconciliation

- Cheque or bank
transfer
instruction is
sighed

Release

AO

The responsibility to:

- For cash
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payment - The transfer/payment | payment:
(Manual order and cheque have | beneficiary’s
process not been signed signature on the
in FABS) - cheques must be | Disbursement

crossed. Voucher stating
- Timely notice is sent to [that he or she
the payee. has received the
- When handing over of | cash
cheque and/or cash itis |- For cheque
registered (if payment is | payment: bank
in cash only for payments [statement or
under $50 and that the | beneficiary’s
payee has signed a |sighature on the
receipt). Disbursement
- When cash and/or |Voucher to be
cheque is handed over to | filed by the office
the payee or a person |in its imprest file.
authorized in writing to
collect the cheque/cash
on behalf of the payee.
Bank AO The responsibility to:
reconciliation - The book bank balance
Process : from previous month is
Prepare used.
statement of - The book cash balance
imprest equals the actual cash
accounts balance.
- Authorized petty cash
limits are not exceeded.
- Disbursement and
receipt related to cash
movements are checked
off and verified against
the booking of cash.
Prepare and AO The responsibility to: - Certified bank
certify bank - The bank statement | reconciliation
reconciliation received is correct
(Manual or (concerns the correct
FABS accounts and relevant
process) period).
- The reconciliation is
accurate, complete and
prepared according to
established procedures.
Sign bank Head of | The responsibility to: - Approved bank
reconciliation Field Office |- All account balances | reconciliation
and petty and all supporting |- 10S internal
cash documentation are |audit
statement attached and correct. - BFM
compliance
review
Produce AO
disbursement Review on a timely basis
report all disbursements made
against funds entrusted to
the Directors/Head’s
management
Review and AO The responsibility to: FABS reports
monitor - Commitments are
Published on 16-Nov-2009 Updated on 01-Oct-2014 Page 8



UNESCO Administrative Manual Item 3.13

commitments reviewed on a regular

basis.

- Unused commitments
are liguidated according
to established policies
and procedures.

- Advances are reclaimed
where appropriate.

4.4 Therole of BFM

(@)

(b)

BEM/FOS

The Field Operations Support Section (BFM/FOS) will provide support and guidance
to Field Finance and Administrative Officers (AOs), as well as to Directors/Head of
Offices, on financial management issues in particular related to the budget and
handling of the field office’s running costs.

BEM/FAS/AP

In committing funds:

()  Advises certifying officers about all funds commitments for legal obligations that
raise particular problems and may, if necessary, give additional instructions.

(i)  Assists the Sectors/Bureaux by regularly providing them with various statements
on the status of their commitments with a view to their regularization (liquidation,
reduction, extension of date of validity, etc.), and gives instructions thereon.

(i)  Carries out compliance checks of commitments by the Sectors/Bureaux to
ensure that their validity is in compliance with the Financial Regulations, Financial
Rules, Staff Requlations, Staff Rules as well as the associated principles and
methodologies. BFM/FAS/AP submits reports on any irregularities to the Sector
ADG/Bureau/Director concerned.

(iv) Periodically and in particular at the end of each financial period reviews whether
or not the certifying officers are taking appropriate measures to review valid
commitments, and, if necessary, to liqguidate commitments no longer valid.
Reports are made to senior management on the status of unliquidated balances
whenever this is considered necessary.

(v) Provide regular reviews on discrepancies and anomalies identified on
reconciliation accounts such as travel agencies, goods receipt not invoiced,
pending items on vendor accounts.

(vi)  All requests for payments through UNDP are also dealt with by BFM/FAS/AP
who is responsible for sending financial authorization to UNDP and for also
following up on payments requested by Headquarters to Field Offices.

(vii)  Process payments in USD and EUR on behalf of Field Offices.

(vii) BFM/FAS/AP when acting as the party responsible for payment will perform the
necessary controls and checks for each payment request to ensure that:

a. The proposed payment to a third party is properly chargeable against the
commitment created in FABS and has been established in the form of a
contract, purchase order, accepted estimate or other document.

b. The proposed payment corresponds to the funds commitment shown, and
the related legal obligation has been drawn up using the appropriate
procedures and criteria (review of the contractual rates, exchange rate used,
validity of the contract dates, etc.).

c. The elements of the payment (vendor, accounting and budgetary elements)
are the same as in the funds commitment document.

d. The amount of the payment, in terms of the service provided or goods
delivered shown in the payment claim/invoice is consistent with the amount of
the SES, or the goods receipt.

e. The calculation of the invoice (including the calculation of VAT where
applicable) is correct.

f. BFM/FAS/AP, if it is deemed necessary, may request a copy of the
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(c)

supporting documents - which in principle, are kept in the Field Offices (see
AM Item 9.7 "Records Management" ) - for all payments to be made by bank
transfer via Headquarters or via UNDP.
g. If BEM/FAS/AP concludes that payment should not be made for any reason,
then the Field Offices concerned shall be informed and advised accordingly.
(ix) Post-facto control: BFM shall regularly undertake post-facto control reviews of
various financial and administrative operations in order to assess the level of
compliance with the Financial Regulations and Financial Rules of the Organization
as well as the guidelines presented in the Administrative Manual. Where
deviations are identified, solutions and recommendations to enforce best
practices will be communicated to Administrative Units and senior management.

Role of BFM/TRS at Headquarters

BFEM/TRS ensures that:

(1) All payments posted in FABS have been duly validated by staff members who
have been authorized to do so by the Chief Financial Officer.

(i)  Banking rules and policies have been followed in the payment instructions, in
other words, all the necessary bank data (SWIFT code, structure of the bank
account, etc.) have been correctly shown.

@ii)  All payments are charged to the correct UNESCO bank account and the said
accounts have a sufficient balance to cover the payments.

(iv)  All payment instructions are duly sent to the banks concerned for payment.

(v) Inthe event that a payment is returned to UNESCO by the paying bank, it is
duly entered in FABS, and the unit that posted the payment is notified to take the
necessary action.

5. Procedures and Processes

5.1 Operating expenses and utilities

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The operating expenses in Field Offices, such as rent, maintenance and utilities
charges (water, gas and electricity), communications, mail, operating costs of official
vehicles, etc. must be reserved, on an annual basis, at the start of each year, based
on a realistic estimate of expenses for which supporting documents will be required at
the end of the year.

Utilities which generally include day-to-day operational expenditure items such as
water, gas and electricity, are directly managed by the Administrative Officer using the
Utilities PO which is available in the Contract Management tool. The use of this Utilities
PO should be restricted to operational expenditures above for which the annual
amount to be consumed cannot be accurately and precisely determined.
Consequently, the AO will estimate the total annual consumption and then raise a
Utilities PO for this estimate in the Contract Management tool. When an invoice is
received from the contractor for the delivery of utilities, the AO will then debit the PO
using the MIRO transaction in FABS. The AO will also be responsible for adjusting the
initially estimated PO for cases where the actual amount consumed is greater or less
than the estimate.

The rental of premises may be used from the operating costs to pay the cost of
rental in the amount authorized in the approved work plan. The lease agreement of the
field office premise should be submitted for review to BFM/FOS and Legal Affairs
(LA), before the Director/Head of Office signs the agreement. Once approved by HQ,
the costs relating to the operation are chargeable to the budget of the established field
office and reflected in the monthly bank statement.

Postal charges, in the case of large offices, a franking machine should be used. For
smaller offices, details of stamps purchased and used should be recorded in a
postage book. A float system, fixing a ceiling to be spent on stamps, should be put in
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(e)

operation; the amount of the float should be reasonable having regard to the level of
expenditure. The Administrative Officer or the delegated assistant is responsible for
examining the postage book periodically and for the reconstitution of the float ceiling.

If a staff member makes a private international telephone call from the office, the
cost must be refunded and the refund shown on a separate receipt voucher. Private
telephone calls from the office should be kept to a minimum and be made only in
exceptional circumstances.

5.2 Contracts

(a)

(b)

(c)

The policy on contracting are specifically detailed in Chapter 7 including the
appropriate procedures to follow are outlined, depending on the type of contract the
Field Office may enter into: contract with-for-profit organizations are dealt with in
AM ltem 7.2, contracts with not-for-profit organizations are dealt with in AM Item 7.3
(Financing Activities Contracts) and AMIltem 7.5 (Implementation Partner
Agreements), while contracts with individuals are dealt with in HR Manual Chapter 13.
For more information on Cooperation with UN Entities at Field level refer to
AM ltem 7.9 and the use of Intergovernmental Body Allocation contracts see AM Item
7.6. Contracts for amounts that exceed the amount specified in AM Item 7.4 are
subject to the prior approval of the Contracts Committee.

The establishment of a Regional Contracts Committees (RCC) away from
Headquarters may be requested by the Director/Head of Office at the location and
after receiving the written advice of the Contracts Committee for the approval of the
Deputy Director-General (DDG). Such RCC would normally be set up where there is
sufficient professional staff locally to ensure adequate and objective expertise.
Officers from other organizations of the UN system with comparable responsibilities
may be designated from time to time to serve on the UNESCO Contracts Committee.
The provisions applying to the Headquarters Committee, with the exception of the
review thresholds and membership, will apply mutatis mutandis to the Regional
Contracts Committee for their specific location.

The process required for the commitment of funds for a contract is through entry into
SharePoint Contract Management tool.

5.3 Procurement

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

The Directors and Head of Office of established Field Offices away from
Headquarters are responsible for ensuring the requisitions only after ascertaining the
need and the suitability of supplies and equipment. Upon receiving supplies, ensure
that they are used economically and the surplus supplies are returned. When goods
are delivered that for any reasons are unaccountable or defective, reports the
circumstances without delay to the AO in the Field Office for local procurement of
office supplies and equipment, to decide upon appropriate action. In addition, they are
also responsible for the recording, maintenance and disposal of office equipment
(refer to AM Chapter 10).

The Organization has established a procurement guide (defined in
AM Appendix 10.2A) to implement procurement activities. Such delegations are
intended to reduce administrative bottlenecks and provide increased responsiveness
by locating the decision-making authority nearer to the activity.

Upon delivery of goods, the AO or designated person will accomplish the following
tasks:

a. Physical checking of the conformity of the delivered material against the
purchase order, or the relevant gift certificate or correspondence;

b.  Tagging all received material with a bar code;
C. Deliver the material to the requisitioning staff as specified in the purchase order
(Asset Owner).

At reception of the material the Asset Owner/Stockholder shall:
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a.
b.

Check conformity with the purchase order and conditions of deliveries;
Validate the appropriate Service Entry Sheet in Contract Management for Field

Offices with full FABS access and the payment request is submitted to the AO for
those Field Offices with partial FABS access;

C.
d.

Arrange for the delivery to the designated Custodian;
Assure that the Asset Issuance Procedures are strictly applied.

5.4 Property management

(@) Management of property at Headquarters and UNESCO entities away from
Headquarters includes creating, maintaining and updating property records, labelling
property, monitoring the movement of property, recommending the disposal of excess,
obsolete and unserviceable property and conducting periodic physical inventories.

(b)  The Asset Management Module (AMM) of FABS is used for recording and tracking
all UNESCO property. The system also generates all the reports required by UNESCO
management in support of documented decision-making and the reporting of non-
expendable assets and small attractive items. The mandatory reports concerning
UNESCOQO’s property are also obtained from the AMM.

(c) The detailed policies and process for property management are included in
AM ltems 10.2 and 10.1 respectively.

(d)  Field Offices shall have the following functions:

(i)

a.

b.

(ii)

a.

b.

Directors/Heads of Field Offices:

Ensure that an annual physical inventory is carried out and sign-off the
inventory list at the end of the exercise;

Be responsible for overall monitoring, coordination and oversight of the
functioning of the property management system relating to and including:

i. Maintenance and repair of assets;

ii. Disposal of assets that are not yet fully depreciated;

iii. Write-off of assets lost or damaged due to force majeure, negligence or
other reasons, while ensuring that the interests of UNESCO are fully
protected in all cases;

iv.  Authorize all disposals with an acquisition value of up US$ 50,000;

v. Analyse all planned disposal of US$50,000 and above and make
appropriate recommendations to the Contracts Committee. Submission to
the Contracts Committee shall be made through MSS/OPS/HPU.

AOs of Field Offices:

Ensuring that assets are distributed to Custodians against receipt of a
signature using Form AM 10-2;

Be responsible for the initial recording, maintenance and updating of
information for all assets in AMM ;

Ensure that all project assets that qualify as FA and SAl are recorded and
maintained in AMM under their respective project codes;

Be responsible for monitoring movement of its property, supervise periodic
stock take and manage queries relating to property management in response
to audit observations; Ensuring that proper procedures are followed when
certifying the request and need for the redeployment, retirement or disposal
of assets;

Ensure that all authorized disposal requests (Form AM 10-4) with a value
less than US$50,000 are forwarded to BFM for removal from AMM:;

Ensure all planned disposal of a combined acquisition value of US$50,000
and above are submitted to the Contracts Committee through
MSS/OPS/HPU;

Ensure that lost/damaged fixed assets are reported to Directors/Heads of
Field Offices or Institutes in a timely manner with supporting documentations,
reports, declaration and recommendations for decision on the course of
action;

Request KMI clearance regarding compliance with the technical and
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(e)

(f)

5.5 Travel

(@)

security standards for the disposal of ICT property;

J- Ensure that all necessary legal clearance from the tax authorities is
obtained before the sale of assets.
K. Project Officers are responsible for the recording, control and use of extra-

budgetary programme project assets in line with the donor agreement

l. For the efficient application of the policy, it is of utmost importance that the
designated staff members acquire a thorough understanding of the rules and
procedures to ensure appropriate utilization of the property for effective
implementation of the Organization’s programmes and/or projects.

Official Vehicles

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(v)
(Vi)

The costs relating to the operation, maintenance, repair and insurance of official
vehicles are chargeable to the budget of the established office or field project and
reflected in the monthly disbursement report.

The Director/Head of Office is responsible for ensuring that the use of official
vehicles is limited to official journeys, and that appropriate controls through log
books regarding the costs of operation, maintenance and repair are established
and maintained in accordance with AM Item 10.5 related to Official Vehicles at
UNESCO Established Offices and Field Projects.

The authorization for the purchase of official vehicles is included in approved
work plans for established offices and in project documents for field projects. The
purchase is done in accordance with the provisions of AM Item 10.2 and the
special guidelines established by MSS/OPS for the use of UN-wide long-term
agreements for motor vehicles.

Official vehicles should be replaced after five years or 60,000 miles/100,000
kilometres. A vehicle may nevertheless be replaced earlier or later, depending on
local conditions, state of repair, availability of spare parts and local market
conditions. The replacement of vehicles at established offices and field projects is
authorized by the parent Sector/Bureau at Headquarters and, in the case of UN
financed projects, also after consultation with the UNDP Resident Representative.

The procedures for the disposal of a vehicle are included in AM Item 10.1.

The Administrative Officer or assistant should ensure, where necessary, that all
petrol invoices paid from the operating budget are included in the periodic petrol
duty refund claims before submission of the latter to the competent government
department, if applicable.

Insurance

(i)

(ii)

(i)

The Directors/Head of Office, UNESCO Representatives, and senior UNESCO
officials at field projects are responsible for insurance against damage to real
property and damage to or loss of non-expendable property for premises,
equipment, furnishings and petty cash at their offices or projects. In particular,
they are responsible for: placing, reviewing and renewing insurance coverage;
declaring to and negotiating with the insurers the settlement of all claims; and
receiving monies paid by insurers in the settlement of claims.

In the event of an accident on office premises, the damage, loss or involving civil
responsibility of the Organization, it is notified immediately to the Director/Head of
office who declares the incident to the insurers with a view to the settlement of
the claim (refer to AM Item 10.3).

The premiums for the insurance coverage are charged to the office operating
expenses budget code, unless it is related to a field project.

The official travel undertaken by staff and non-staff members at the total or partial

expenses of the Organization (or exceptionally at no cost), directly related to
programme/projects planning and implementation are duly authorized in approved
travel plans and budgeted in work plans. It is the responsibility of the Director/Head of
Office to ensure that the relevant provisions of Chapter 15 on travel are respected.
Excess baggage and other charges should comply with the arising from the mission
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(b)

(c)

(d)

are foreseen whenever possible on the travel order. Their costs are claimed for
reimbursement on the staff member's travel record, which should be attached with
supporting documents e.g. the excess baggage paid receipts, etc.

All UNESCO staff, consultants or any individual on official travel mission on behalf of
the Organization shall satisfactorily complete the following mandatory security training
courses regardless of security level: Basic Security in the Field Il (BSTIF I1I),
Advanced Security in the Field (ASTIF) and the UNESCO Field Security Awareness
Training. The staff member will be requested, as required, to undergo the re-
certification of the above mentioned security trainings which will be required for official
travel on mission.

Security clearance is required for all official or statutory travel (including home
leave, family visit or reverse education grant travel) to any location regardless of the
Security Level (see AM Item 15.2). The duty station where the UNESCO Field Office
is located may also require in-country clearance before a mission may be embarked
upon by a staff member. The security clearance procedure applies to all personnel
and eligible family members who are undertaking official or statutory travel (see also
HR Manual Item 17.4). The individual must submit a security clearance request in
Travel Request Information Process (TRIP) available on the UNDSS website
(https://dss.un.org/dssweb/).

Travel by car for official mission purposes by the Field Office is required to comply
with the security protocol established within the duty station where the UNESCO Field
Office is located may also require in-country clearance before a mission may be
embarked upon by a staff member. The security clearance procedure applies to all
personnel and eligible family members who are undertaking official or statutory travel
(see also HR Manual Iltem 17.4). The individual must submit a security clearance
request in TRIP.

5.6 Cash management

(a)

The cash management operations of the Organization are clearly detailed in AM
Iltem 3.7 with particular emphasis on bank accounts, incoming payments, foreign
exchange, outgoing payments, bank reconciliation and petty cash. The AM Item 3.7
equally applies to the established offices away from headquarters. The payment
instruments available to the Field Office are outlined in AM Item 3.7 paragraph 5.6 (a)
to (e).

Bank account

(b)

(c)

(d)

Only the Treasurer is authorized by the Director-General to open, transfer or close
bank accounts in the name of UNESCO, to designate signatories on each account and
agree on the conditions (including any kind of electronic banking facilities) under which
such accounts shall operate.

The Treasurer can designate any UNESCO staff member as a bank signatory based
on the proposal made by the Director/Head of Office of the respective bank account
holding UNESCO unit. Bank signatory rights can be limited up to a certain amount and
the limit is decided by the Treasurer on the basis of the proposal by the Director/Head
of Office of the respective bank account holding entity. The maximum limits (per
payment) generally applied for the staff categories are as follows:

(a) International professional: unlimited;

(b) National professional: USD 20,000;

(c) General staff at Headquarters: USD 50,000

(d) General staff outside Headquarters: USD 10,000

The double signature principle is applied in respect of all payments made from the
bank accounts of the Organization unless, in the Treasurer’s opinion, exceptional local
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conditions prevent its application. Only in the cases when an account holding entity
employs less than three UNESCO staff members, the Treasurer can grant a single
signatory right. In such cases, the bank signatory right is limited to USD 10,000 per
payment. Payments exceeding the limit are to be made either via UNESCO
Headquarters or via the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP).

(e) The bank signatories are authorized to operate relevant bank accounts only within
the limits of available funds excluding any loan or overdratft.

(f)  The Director/Head of Office of each account holding entity is in charge of notifying
the Treasurer immediately of any changes to be made in the bank signatory panel of
the entity. The instructions concerning the changes in the bank signatory panel are
addressed directly to the banks by the Treasurer. The bank account holding entities
are provided with a copy of such instructions and it is the responsibility of the
Administrative Officers or relevant Treasury staff at Headquarters to ensure that the
banks duly record the requested modifications in their books.

() Bank charges raising from the operation of the imprest bank account are to be
recorded on a separate disbursement voucher and processed through the office
imprest insofar as the bank statement indicates the charges separately.

Foreign exchange

(h) Foreign exchange transactions can only be concluded by the duly authorized officers
in accordance with the guidelines set up by the treasurer.

() At Field Offices and Institutes, the bank signatories are authorized to make transfers
from the entities’ USD accounts to local currency accounts. But relevant AOs should
ensure that the cash balances in the local currency accounts should never exceed the
average monthly expenditure of each entity.

Bank reconciliation

() Integration of bank statements.

a. Bank statements of all account holding entities using SAP as the Enterprise
Resource Planning (ERP) system should be sent electronically via SWIFT
(message type MT940) on a daily basis to a bank designated by BFM/TRS
that then integrates the statements in SAP. AOs, or other relevant Treasury
staff at account holding entities, should ensure regularly that all statements are
properly integrated and accounted in the books of the Organization and
contact BFM/TRS as soon as an error or a missing statement has been
detected. In cases when the bank cannot provide electronic balance reporting,
the account holding entity should integrate the bank statement manually in
SAP.

b. The AO or other relevant staff at the bank account holding entities using
other ERP system than SAP should ensure that bank statements get
integrated either electronically or manually into their books on a daily basis.

(k)  Bank reconciliation process

a. After the integration of the electronic bank statements, BFM/TRS launches
the automatic reconciliation for the account holding entities with SAP company
code “UNES”. Those entities should then ensure that the assignment of bank
items matches with that if accounting postings, and do a manual adjustment if
necessary.

b.  For the account holding entities that have other SAP company codes then
‘UNES” or if the bank statements are manually integrated into SAP, the
respective account holding entities should launch the bank reconciliation
themselves. The bank account holding entities using an ERP system other than
SAP should ensure that bank statements are reconciled in their books on a
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daily basis.

c. The monthly bank reconciliation statement should be signed by the AO and
the Director/Head of Office, or relevant Treasury staff duly authorized by the
Chief Financial Officer at each bank account holding entity. Any discrepancy
should be noted on the same statement. Open items in the bank reconciliation
statement should be analysed and action should be taken accordingly to clear
them. Any open item should be assigned an identified business area as soon
as possible, and at the latest by the monthly financial closing.

Petty Cash

0] Petty Cash amounts must not exceed the equivalent of USD 500 at any time, unless
otherwise agreed in writing with BFM/TRS. To the extent it is possible, petty cash
should be kept in a safe. If no safe is available, petty cash should be kept in a lockable
steel box which should be stored in a safe place

(m) The Director/Head of Office of each UNESCO holding petty cash should:
a. Nominate the custodian staff members that can have access to cash;

b. Ensure that the petty cash is stored in a safe place;

c. Ensure that the same person does not act as a custodian and account for
cash transactions in the petty cash G/L account;

d. Obtain the prior approval of BFM/TRS if the entity is keeping more than
USD 500 in petty cash;

e. In case of loss of petty cash, submit to BFM a detailed report as soon as
possible providing information on the security arrangements existing at the
time of the occurrence, the steps taken to prevent recurrence of such
incidents, together with the name and designation of the petty cash custodian,
where appropriate, and also a copy of the declaration made to the police or
other competent authorities.

(n) The Director/Head of Office of each UNESCO entity holding petty cash is personally
responsible for any loss of cash. She/he or other staff members officially designated
by him/her should conduct an unannounced check from time to time, but at least once
a year in addition to the year-end control, and ensure that the petty cash amount
recorded in the G/L account corresponds with the petty cash amount at hand. A
written signed and dated statement should be established of this operation for the
record.

(o) Handling of cash for other than petty cash operations is covered by the Cash
Utilization Policy

Payments subiject to blocking or sanctions

(p) The Organization may not be able to make payments to certain countries or
beneficiaries due to national sanction programmes restricting payments or because of
disturbances in national payment systems. In general, even though UNESCO should
only apply the payment sanctions imposed by the UN, electronic transfers made by the
Organization may still be blocked by the banks based in the countries that have
national sanction programmes in place. The guidelines for payments subject to
blocking established by BFM/ should be consulted for further information.

5.7 Security

(a) AllUNESCO staff, consultants or any individual on official travel mission on behalf of
the Organization shall satisfactorily complete the following mandatory security training
courses and obtain the necessary security clearance regardless of security level,
refer to paragraph 5.5 above.
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